CUINNUREC! /M

XEEBEEBBRAT
(REREEMAIZERAT)
(BE53185R : 00343)

CULTURECOM HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability )
( Stock Code : 00343 )

FIR
2023/2024

Annual Report



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETRBEE

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BB MR

DIRECTORS" REPORT
EEEREE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
NEEBME

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B B R

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mefmRkAMEERER

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Ra AR &

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEEREEBIERE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FERERER

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MWK

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
M E

'i!""l' i#& 2023-2024 X

12

25

52

73

82

85

88

91

95

299




CORPORATE INFORMATION

4FEH

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Kwan Kin Chung (Managing Director)

Mr. Yuen Kin (resigned on 6 May 2024)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Kon Man Jason (Chairman)

Dr. Liu Ka Ying Rebecca (Vice Chairman)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE

DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Kwan Kit

Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew
(resigned on 6 May 2024)

Mr. Mung Yat Lik

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Dr. Liu Hin Wang Leris

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Lee Yuk Ping

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
COMMITTEE

Mr. Kwan Kin Chung
Mr. Wong Kon Man Jason
Mr. Yue Chi Wing

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Wong Kwan Kit

Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew
(resigned on 6 May 2024)

Mr. Mung Yat Lik

Mr. Wong Kon Man Jason
(appointed on 6 May 2024)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Wong Kwan Kit
Mr. Mung Yat Lik
(appointed on 6 May 2024)
Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew
(resigned on 6 May 2024)
Mr. Kwan Kin Chung

HITES
BIRIA Stk (EFARATTE)
x REE(R-F-MERANABIE)

FHITES

IRNELE (ZE)
BREW L (F/£/E)

BYFHTES

(R=ZF=[YFFH AN HEHT)
R—hE%E

TR

BiTaEL

DNEWE
E=EFLL

TXEREES

BB EE
B S

EZEEE
Etb*f‘ﬁi
SeERELE
(R=BZMFFRFNHBE)
R—hr&E
IBXEE
(R= 7_——E¢_Eﬁ/\ E?t‘:/f)

FMZES
El:b*f‘ﬁi
— T
(%:%S:Hﬁ—cfﬁﬁﬂéﬁ)
SEERERL
(R=ZFZ=[9#F f o~ HEE)
EAGEER SE A&

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023-2024



CORPORATE INFORMATION

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Kwan Kin Chung
Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew
(resigned on 6 May 2024)
Mr. Wong Kwan Kit
Mr. Mung Yai Lik (appointed on 6 May 2024)

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking
Corporation Limited

SOLICITORS

Michael Li & Co.
Appleby

AUDITOR

Gary Cheng CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
12th Floor, Elite Centre,

22 Hung To Road,

Kwun Tong, Kowloon

Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

Victoria Place, 5th Floor
31 Victoria Street
Hamilton HM 10
Bermuda

PRINCIPAL OFFICE

Suite 1502, 15/F,

Far East Finance Centre,

16 Harcourt Road, Admiralty
Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL REGISTRAR

MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited
4th floor North Cedar House

41 Cedar Avenue

Hamilton HM 12

Bermuda

4AFEH

REZES
BIRER
B S
(R=F =4 E A ARE)
BENEE
2~ N RE (R=F=WFEHAAEE)

TEERERIT
BB LSELRITERAD

ik

E4:T
TEREMSBBR
Appleby

¥ BB

MEAEHEMBRFRABERAD A
BEEFHT

&8

NEBE

B BB 225K

&IER 0218

afRERE
Victoria Place, 5th Floor
31 Victoria Streef

Hamilton HM 10
Bermuda

TERER
&t
SHERE16H
EREBA D
15#1502F

FEBFEILE

MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited
4th floor North Cedar House

41 Cedar Avenue

Hamilton HM 12
Bermuda

F3g 2023-2024 XLBEEERRAF



Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited

Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wan Chai

Hong Kong

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.culturecom.com.hk

STOCK CODE
343

ERBPRBSETHRAT
&8

{7

EEKER1835E

BB 718
1712-1716%E 4

NCIE Pl

www.culfurecom.com.hk

R 424X 5%

343




CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

RESULTS

The consolidated turnover of the Company
and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31
March 2024 amounted to HK$20,158,000
(2023: HK$30,600,000) of which HKS$15,104,000
(2023: HK$11,983,000) was attributable to
the business of publishing and intellectual
properties (“IPs™) licensing; HK$2,597,000 (2023:
HK$15,328,000) was attributable to digital
marketing; HK$2,457,000 (2023: HK$3,289,000)
was attributable to retailing and wholesales
business. Loss for the year attributable to equity
holders, taking into account of taxation, was
HK$20,782,000 (2023: HK$37,223,000). The loss
per share was HK1.2 cents (2023: HK2.2 cents).

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board of Directors has resolved not to
declare any final dividend for the year ended 31
March 2024 (2023: nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The overall economy needs time to recover
after the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group
continued to face a rather challenging year.
While business seems picking up gradually in
the People’s Republic of China (the "PRC"),
consumer spending pattern is changing
and overall business activities are still weak
needing further stimulus to maintain a steady
growth trend. Against such acute business and
economic environment, the Group’s focus on
conserving resources, restructuring operations,
and taking actions to control and reduce costs
and expenses, helped the Group fo preserve
its resources. During the year ended ended 31
March 2024, total revenue has decreased 34.1%
from HK$30,600,000 in 2023 to HK$20,158,000 in
2024.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

FRBEE

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Digital Marketing

In streamlining its operations, the remaining
operating subsidiary of digital market in
Beijing is Beijing Skyvior Technology Co. Ltd.
("Beijing Skyvior”), this is affer the operations of
Hyperchannel Info Tech., Ltd. ("Hyperchannel
Info”), which engaged in digital marketing,
applying big data analysis in maftching
intellectual properties ("IPs”) to assist customers
in marketfing products and services, were
consolidated with Beijing Skyvior in last year.
Also, our 80.1% subsidiary of Beijing Star Engine
Information Technology Co. Ltd. ("Beijing Star
Engine”), which was engaged in providing
technical support and services of our digital
marketing team to our customers, has
commenced the process of voluntarily winding

up.

During the year, the digital marketing segment is
at a cross-road, with Beijing Egmen Technology
Limited ("Egmen”), an indirectly non-wholly
owned subsidiary, at its final stage of voluntary
winding-up, the remaining operation of the
digital marketing segment in Beijing and
Guangzhou, is downsized significantly and total
number of employees is reduced from 9 to 3. The
consolidation resulted significant cost savings.
However, the revenue declined drastically,
as the prospect of business recovering was
unknown and the operation suffered a
considerable brain drain. In scaling back the
digital marketing operation, the Company is
expected to retrieve and receive cash from
distributions of the net assets upon completion
of the voluntary winding up, the cash will be
retained and applied as general working capital
of the Group.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Publishing and IPs Licensing Business

The publishing and IPs licensing business is
increase. Revenue from this segment, were
HK$15,104,000 in 2024 and HK$11,983,000 in
2023. The Company is putting more effort on
publication book sales of IPs" owned or under
licenses, and to broaden the scope of licensing
business. Other than IPs licensing, the Group
is confinuously planning to expand including
publishing and distribution of certain comic title
in future.

Retailing and Wholesales Business

The Group’s premium wine is primary for
consumption by high-end consumer groups or
restaurants. During the year, the Company had
sold some wine stock and generated revenue of
HK$2,457,000, as compared to HK$3,289,000 in
last year. The Group expects the sale of premium
wine should revive gradually due to recovery
of the economy. The Group also put focus on
selling the wine in large lots to generate positive
cash flow and moving the inventory.

Natural Language Processing

The prolonged Covid-19 pandemic had caused
adverse effect on business and slowed down
or delayed new business development. The
Board strives hard to maximize value for the
shareholders by pursuing all potential viable
investment and business opportunities and
expanding its business segments in order to
broaden the revenue and profit base of the
Group. The Group has in the past been investing
in the research and development of artificial
intelligence for Chinese language recognition.
Since last fiscal year-end, the Group, with ifs
aspirations on arfificial infelligence technology
and previous resedarch and development,
invested in the development and production
of soffware and chipset with natural language
processing technology, with a focus on
Chinese language voice recognition, which is
anficipated to have broad applications.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

FRBEE

BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Natural Language Processing
(Continued)

On 18 November 2022, the Group announced
a strategic alliance with iFlytek Co., Ltd. (&
R MBEMBBR D A) (CiFlytek”) which is a
well-known listed company in intelligent speech
and Al technologies in the Asia-Pacific region
(Shenzhen Stock Exchange Stock Code: 002230),
and Imitation Brain Technology (Shenzhen)
Co., Ltd. (BRI CRIYI) BR A7) to develop Al
speech technology real-time human interaction,
including design and implementation in both
software and embedded chipset domains and
produce kinds of offline Chinese language voice
recognition chips that can be broadly applied
to various electronic devices or application
environments. The Group is expecting this first
application of such technology will yield the
first fruitful result of years of efforts in supporting
the research and development of artificial
intelligence for Chinese language recognifion.
The Group believes the Al speech recognition
chips (i.e. language chips), being one of
the core components of loT interactions, will
be applied in the market research in digital
marketing as an analysis tool and will be broadly
used.

The Group has been concentrating on
improving Al speech technology during the
current fiscal year. The focus of is on developing
and improving software on facilitating real-time
interaction with humans. During the year ended
31 March 2024, the net operational expenditure
amounted to approximately HK$2,873,000.
This was primarily due to costs associated with
personnel and business promotion. Headcount
employed for this business segment now
stands at 13 and the Group will confinue to
hire professionals in building a fechnical and
business development team. The Group is
committed to the design and implementation
in both the soffware and embedded chipset
sectors.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

PROSPECT

The Group completed the subscription of
new shares under specific mandates to an
investor in May 2021, net raising approximately
HK$41,575,000 to strengthen the financial
position of the Group, adding working capital
fo fund operation, new projects and business
development. Due to scaling back of operation
of the digital marketing segment, the Company
decided to change the use of the remaining
unutilized net proceeds from the Subscription
in the amount of approximately HK$17,420,000
tfo be used as general working capital of the
Group including but not limited to salaries and
benefits, rental and utilities, other general and
administrative expenses for the Group.

On 12 June 2023, the Company announced
the placement of convertible bonds to raise
cash of HK$98,500,000, net of which about
HK$68,950,000 will be used to the injection of
capital for the natural language processing
technology development and production of
software and chipset, and marketing expenses
for products (the *Natural Language Processing
Business”); about HK$19,700,000 will be utilized
for working capital for the revitalization and
promotion of the Group’s intellectual properties;
and the remaining HKS$9,850,000 will be
retained for general working capital of the
Group, including the payment of salary, rental
expenses, IT services and other office overhead
of the Group. Due to the overall weak market
sentiment and the inadequate liquidity in the
market, the placement of convertible bonds has
been suspended in July this year; the Group
continues to put effort in new financing to
provide more working capital for the Group, in
particular in investing in the Chinese language
Al software development.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

FRBESE

PROSPECT (CONTINUED)

We are seeing a pivotal change of operation
with focus on the natural longuage processing
business, while maintaining the other business
segments at sustainable level and generating
profits for the Group. In total, the manpower as
of 31 March 2024 is 47 as compared to 52 at 31
March 2023.

The Al voice real-time human-computer
interaction technology developed by the Group
in cooperation with its strategic partners iFlytek
and IBT has entered the stage of product
application. Among them, the first-generation
Feilong Master (G & K Ei) human-computer
interaction mobile phone has entered the stage
of final testing and will be launched on the
market soon.

Feilong Code (H#EHS). the Chinese Al Computer
Code independently developed by the Group.
strategically solves the security, autonomy
and independence issues of the underlying
tfechnology of an Al operating system and is
fully adaptable to various operating systems
(X86, Linux, Android, HarmonyOS) and 73 chips
of mainstream chip architectures (ARM, RISC-V,
etc.), marking the maturity of the Chinese
technology industrialization of “Feilong Code”.
At present, it has successively intfegrated with
major Al manufacturers and launched new
products equipped with Harmony Brain Al
operatfing system to the market, helping Chinese
companies open up a larger blue ocean
market. With the widespread application of Al,
the Group believes that this business will bring
greater benefits.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

PROSPECT (CONTINUED)

The recent short plays and movies adapted
from Hong Kong comics have driven an upsurge
in Hong Kong cultural sentiments, and the
domestic demand for Hong Kong comic IPs
has increased. In addition to maintaining the
fraditional comic publishing licensing business,
the Group is working with some partners to
further activate the Group’s IPs, it will contribute
significant revenue to the Company.

APPRECIATIONS

| would like to express my sincere thanks to the
Board of Directors, our management and staff
for their continued dedication in the past year,
and to all our customers, suppliers, business
partners and shareholders for their enthusiastic
support of the Group.

Kwan Kin Chung
Managing Director
Hong Kong, 25 June 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THB®E S

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The Group’s consolidated net loss attributable to
the owners of the Company for the year ended
31 March 2024 decreased by approximately
44.2% to HK$20,782,000 or HK1.2 cents per share
(2023: loss of HK$37,223,000 or HK2.2 cents per
share). The analysis of consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 March 2024 is as follows:

1.

Revenue

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the
Group’s overall revenue from operations
significantly decreased by approximately
34.1% from HK$30,600,000 to HK$20,158,000
of which approximately HK$15,104,000,
HKS$2,597,000, and HKS$2,457,000 (2023:
HK$11,983,000, HK$15,328,000 and
HK$3,289,000) were attributable to our
business of publishing and intellectual
properties ("IPs”) licensing, digital
marketing, and retailing and wholesales
respectively.

The revenue from the digital marketing
business significantly decreased from
approximately HK$15,328,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2023 to HK$2,597,000
for the year ended 31 March 2024. This
decrease in revenue was influenced by the
downsizing of operations. In response to the
business’'s downward frajectory, the Group
has prioritized cash and working capital
conservation. Following the end of the 2023
fiscal year, the Group began the voluntary
winding up of the indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiaries and disposed of them (details
see description below).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL RESULTS (CONTINUED)

1.

Revenue (Continued)

The revenue for publishing and IPs licensing
business was boosted with an increase of
approximately 26.0%. The revenue for the
business of publishing and IPs licensing is
escalated compared with the same period
last year due to more acquired licences
for Japanese comics resulting increased
publication sales.

The revenue of retailing and wholesales
segment records the sales of premium
wine of HK$2,457,000 for the year ended 31
March 2024 (31 March 2023: HK$3,289,000).
While the Hong Kong economy experienced
a resurgence following the lifting of
Covid-19 lockdowns in the first quarter
of 2023, the pace of recovery has since
slowed. There were no good opportunities
to sale the premium wine in lot. The Group
is continuously working with the consultant
tfo develop sales and distribution channels
for its premium wine.

Gross profit and gross profit
margin

The Group recorded a gross profit of
approximately HK$9,851,000 with gross
profit margin of 48.9% for the year ended
31 March 2024 as compared to the same
period of 2023, which recorded a gross
profit of HK$14,516,000 with a gross profit
margin of 47.4%.

The increase in margin percentage was due
to restructure of digital marketing business
segment which largely reduced to the
production cost.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THB®E S

FINANCIAL RESULTS (CONTINUED)

3.

Selling expenses

The selling expenses from operations
decreased from approximately
HK$4,891,000 for the year ended 31 March
2023 to approximately HK$1,949,000
for the year ended 31 March 2024. The
decrease was mainly due to a drop in
revenue and restructure of the operation
by consolidating digital marketing business
segment for the year ended 31 March 2024.

Administrative expenses

The Group recorded an aggregate
administrative expense from operations
of approximately HK$28,909,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023:
HK$31,078,000).

The major expenses components for the
year ended 31 March 2024 were staff cost
of approximately HK$14,498,000 (2023:
HKS$14,138,000), depreciation of right-of-use
assets of approximately HK$342,000 (2023:
HK$2,085,000), audit fee of approximately
HK$1,350,000 (2023: HK$1,580,000),
listing and corporate services fee of
approximately HK$1,190,000 (2023:
HKS$1,213,000), advertising and promotion
expenses of approximately HK$738,000
(2023: HK$1,230,000), and directors’
emoluments of approximately HK$4,204,000
(2023: HK$6,211,000, which included the
equity-settled share-based payment of
approximately HK$2,187,000). The decrease
in administrative expenses from operations
was mainly due to reduced business
activities in digital marketing business
segment and streamlining of operations by
continuous effort of cost control.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL RESULTS (CONTINUED)

S

Other impairment losses

An impairment loss on right-of-use assets
of approximately HK$254,000 (2023:
HK$1,778,000) has been recognised due to
the assessment of the assets’ recoverability.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, there is
no impairment loss on infangible assets was
recognised (2023: HK$245,000).

During the year ended 31 March 2024,
an impairment loss of approximately
HK$560,000 was made for the unpublished
comic titles prepaid to suppliers.

Due to the continuous losses incurred
by an associate, an impairment loss of
approximately HK$157,000 (2023: HKS$Nil)
was made for the year.

Other expenses

The other expenses from operations
recorded the research cost of
approximately HK$2,423,000 (2023:
HK$5,939,000) for the development of the
online platform of digital marketing and
natural language processing business.
In 2024, legal, consultancy and other
professional fees of approximately
HK$5,437,000 (2023: HKS$7,126,000) were
paid to lawyers for providing legal services
and paid to consultants for providing
professional advices on business operations
and development. No expense in relation
to share options granted to a consultant by
the Company had been recognised during
the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023:
HKS$1,566,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THB®E S

FINANCIAL RESULTS (CONTINUED)

7.

Loss for the year

The Group recorded a loss from operations
of approximately HKS$20,929,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023:
HK$38,655,000). This was primarily due
tfo continuous sales decrease in digital
marketing segment. The Group will continue
to take actions to reduce costs and improve
our profitability going forward.

Also, as at 31 March 2024, the Group had
net assets of approximately HKS$S108,679,000
(31 March 2023: HK$147,400,000) and net
asset value per share of HK$0.07 (31 March
2023: HKS$0.09)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL
RESOURCES

As of 31 March 2024, the Group had cash and
bank balances with financial institutions in
aggregate of approximately HK$38,228,000 and
a total of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss of approximately HKS$1,940,000.

The Group has no significant exposure to
foreign exchange rate fluctuation except for the
fransactions that are denominated in United
States dollars ("USD"), Australian dollars (*"AUD"),
Japanese Yen ("JPY") and HKS relative to RMB.

As of 31 March 2024, the Group had a net
current asset of approximately HK$101,411,000
(31 March 2023: HK$133,475,000) and a current
ratio of approximately 6.8 (31 March 2023: 10.0).
The Group’s total liabilities as of 31 March 2024
amounted to approximately HK$17,603,000 (31
March 2023: HKS$15,106,000) and the gearing
ratio of the Group represented approximately
15.5% (31 March 2023: 10.9%) to equity
attributable to owners of the Company.

In conclusion, the Directors are confident that
the Group will have sufficient liquidity to finance
its daily operations. As always, we remain
prudent and conservative in managing our
financial position to maintain maximum financial
flexibility.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THB®E S

DEPOSITS PAID FOR INTANGIBLE
ASSETS

As mentioned in Note 26, the Group had
deposits paid for the natural language
processing technology development
and production of software and chipset,
approximately HK$33,269,000 in total for the
year ended 31 March 2024. Such intangible
asset is for the design and implementation in
both software and embedded chipset domains
and to produce kinds of offline Chinese
language voice recognition chips that can be
broadly applied to various electronic devices or
application environments.

EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As of 31 March 2024, the Group had a fotal
of 47 employees of which 31 are based
in Hong Kong and 16 in the PRC. Total
staff costs from operations amounted to
approximately HK$21,061,000 (31 March 2023:
HK$24,238,000, excluding share-based payments
of HK$2,187,000) and a provision of staff
termination payable to a staff approximately
HK$1,560,000 (31 March 2023: HKSNil) for the
year ended 31 March 2024 respectively. The
management periodically reviews remuneration
packages to ensure they remain competitive.
Certain directors and employees may receive
discretionary bonuses and incentive share
optfions based on the Group performance and
their individual merit and performance.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CHANGE IN USE OF PROCEEDS
FROM THE SUBSCRIPTION OF NEW
SHARES UNDER SPECIFIC MANDATE

Reference is made to (i) the announcements
issued by the Company on 1 March 2021, 30
April 2021, 6 May 2021 and 12 June 2023; and
(i) the Circular of the Company dated 9 April
2021 in relation to the placing of new shares
under the specific mandate.

On 1 March 2021, the Group and the subscriber
entered info a Share Subscription agreement,
pursuant to which the Company has
conditionally agreed to allot and issue, and the
subscriber has conditionally agreed to subscribe
for 278,000,000 subscription shares at the
subscription price of HKS$0.15 per subscription
share.

The Subscription was approved by the
shareholders of the Company at the Special
General Meeting on 30 April 2021.

As disclosed in the circular of the Company
dated 9 April 2021, the Company intended to
use the net proceeds from the Subscription of
approximately HK$41,400,000 as follows:

1. approximately HK$8,600,000 as working
capital for building and strengthening the
marketing and technical tfeam;

2. approximately HK$15,200,000 as working
capital for provision of management
services for key opinion leaders;

3. approximately HK$11,900,000 for potential
acquisition opportunities to enhance the
Group’s competitiveness and long-term
sustainability; and

4. approximately HK$5,700,000 as general
working capital of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THB®E S

CHANGE IN USE OF PROCEEDS
FROM THE SUBSCRIPTION OF NEW
SHARES UNDER SPECIFIC MANDATE
(CONTINUED)

As at 31 March 2023, the net proceeds from the
Subscription intfended to be utilised as working
capital for provision of management services
for key opinion leaders (i.e. approximately
HK$15,200,000) has not been utilised
accordingly; and approximately HK$2,220,000
infended for potential acquisition opportunities
to enhance the Group’s competitiveness and
long-term sustainability has not been utilised.
Therefore, total HK$17,420,000 of the net
proceeds from the Subscription has not been
ufilised as at 31 March 2023.

On 12 June 2023, after careful consideration
and evaluation of the Group’s operations and
business strategy, the Directors resolved to
change the use of the net proceeds raised from
the Subscription which has not been utilised,
in the amount of approximately HKS$17,420,000,
to be used as general working capital of the
Group including but not limited to salaries and
benefits, rental and utilities, other general and
administrative expenses for the Group.

ERRBERRERBH KRG 2
SREAR (&)

R-ZE-=F=ZA=+—H HRAFOBERE

EHRHEERECEBEESCRBEEMN
B IEF 5 (B14915,200,0005% Jo) & K 8 F
#92,220,00058 T AEEE RBH S UIEA R
SERFHIRRYUSERRE HHRBH-E
I R=ZB=-=F=ZA=+—0 RBEFEFRS
FRIEEEE 17,420,000 T E AR B o

REZZ-Z=FXA+=-H KFEZBRNM
FEBNEEREBRBRER EFTERE
ABRAZERBEEBEEZNMERBRFEY
17,420,000 T & - B BEAEBEH — R
EELS  BEETRAAKENFERERN -
HMERKEE Ht —MRRITHBAX °

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023-2024



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PROPOSED ACQUISITION

Acquisition of Entire Equity Interests
in a Company involving issue of
consideration Shares under Specific
Mandate

On 28 May 2021, Vanity Holdings Limited (the
“Purchaser”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, enfered info an agreement with 4
Vendors, Guangxi Fuchuan Huafa Technology
Co., Ltd. (the "Vendor A"), Shenzhen Qunyou
Intelligent Education Technology Co., Ltd. (the
“Vendor B"), Luo Weizhao (the "Vendor C*)
and Liu Jubo (the "Vendor D) respectively,
pursuant to which the Purchaser has agreed
to purchase and the Vendors have agreed to
sell the entire registered and paid-up capital
in amount of RMB50,000,000 of Imitation Brain
Technology (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. ({F & & OF
II) R 2 7)) (the “IBT") for a total consideration
of HK$63,000,000, which shall be settled by
procuring the Company to issue and allot an
aggregate of 191,000,000 new Shares of the
Company to the Vendors at the issue prices of
approximately HK$0.33 for each Consideration
Shares.

This proposed acquisition is subject to the
approval by the shareholders of the Company at
Special General Meeting. Details of the Proposed
Acquisition were set out in the announcements
of the Company dated 2 June 2021, 26 August
2021, 29 October 2021, 29 December 2021, 28
February 2022, 29 April 2022, 27 June 2022, 29
September 2022, 25 November 2022, 30 January
2023, 28 April 2023, 31 July 2023, 28 September
2023, 30 November 2023, 31 January 2024, 28
March 2024 and 31 May 2024, respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THB®E S

PLACING OF CONVERTIBLE BONDS
UNDER GENERAL MANDATE

Reference is made to the announcements
issued by the Company on 12 June 2023, 30
June 2023 and 24 July 2023. On 12 June 2023
(after trading hours of the Stock Exchange), the
Company entered into the Placing Agreement
with the Placing Agent, pursuant to which the
Placing Agent has conditionally agrees to
procure, as agent of the Company, for no less
than six Placees to subscribe for the Convertible
Bonds in the aggregate principal amount of up
to HK$100,000,000 at the initial Conversion Price
of HK$0.50 (subject to adjustment) per Share on
a best effort basis. Upon full conversion of the
Convertible Bonds, a maximum of 200,000,000
Conversion Shares will be allotted and issued
to the Placees. The gross proceeds from the
Placing will be up to HKS$100,000,000. The net
proceeds from the Placing (after deducting the
commission for the Placing and other costs and
expenses) will be approximately HK$98,500,000.

The placing of the Convertible Bonds was
terminated on 24 July 2023.

DISPOSAL OF A NON-WHOLLY
OWNED SUBSIDIARY AND
VOLUNTARY LIQUIDATION OF TWO
NON-WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES

Following the action of streamlining and
consolidation the digital marketing business
since the beginning of the last fiscal year, there
is organization structure simplification.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the
Group entered info an agreement to dispose
of the entire equity interest in Hyperchannel
Info Tech., Ltd.* t ZEEREKEEREE
PR 2 8 ("Hyperchannel Info”), an indirect
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
tfo an independent third party for a total cash
consideration of RMB50,000 and this disposal
was completed.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

DISPOSAL OF A NON-WHOLLY
OWNED SUBSIDIARY AND
VOLUNTARY LIQUIDATION OF TWO
NON-WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

On 4 April 2023, the Group entered intfo an
agreement with an independent third party to
dispose 7% equity interests of a8t 48 IS & sE R
(B8) BRA A ("HRER") with no consideration.
Accordingly, the Group'’s effective interests in
g8 has been reduced from 100% to 93%. The
carrying amount of the partial interests in 7
#E & disposed by the Group of approximately
HKS$687,000 was credited to equity as
non-controlling interests during the year ended
31 March 2024. The disposal was completed and
the Group transferred respective equity interests
of HEE to an independent third party.

On 15 June 2023, the Group announced that
the shareholders of Beijing Egmen Technology
Limited (R B HMBMEBRLQA) (CEgmen”),
and the shareholders of Beijing Star Engine
Information Technology Co., Ltd. (dt R E A 5| 2
= E R ARAF) ("Beijing Star Engine”), have
passed resolution to set up liquidation group
tfo liquidate Egmen and Beijing Star Engine
in accordance with the applicable laws and
regulations in the PRC. The voluntary liquidation
of Egmen was completed in March 2024 and the
voluntary liquidation of Beijing Star Engine has
not been completed as of the reporting date.

The Group considers the voluntary liquidation of
Egmen and Beijing Star Engine is appropriate to
reduce its losses and reallocate the resources
and management effort to the Group’s other
existing businesses, as well as to explore further
business opportunities should any arise.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As of 31 March 2024, the Group did not have
any significant capital commitment and
contingent liabilities (31 March 2023: nil).

s Limited Annuii Reiﬁﬁi gi 024
/—'/

BEE-E_NE=A=+—R0 AEEIEF
MEREARARERSIARAEB (ZE=-_=F=A4
=+—H: &) -




The Directors present their annual report and the
audited financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding
company. The activities of its principal associate
and subsidiaries are set out in notes 19 and
40 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively.

SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATE

Details of the Group’'s associate and of the
Company’s subsidiaries at 31 March 2024 are
set out in notes 19 and 40 to the consolidated
financial statements respectively.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2024 and the state of the Company’s and
the Group’s affairs as at that date are set out in
the financial statements on pages 82 fo 298.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate furnover during the year
aftributable to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for 85.3% of the Group’s turnover
from continuing operations, of which 28.0% was
attributable to the largest customer.

The aggregate purchases during the year
attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers
accounted for 84.1% of the Group’s total
purchases from continuing operations, of which
34.6% was attributable to the largest supplier.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEHREE

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
(Continued)

At no time during the year did a Director, an
associate of a Director or a shareholder of
the Company (which to the knowledge of the
directors own more than 5% of the Company’s
share capital) have an interests in any of the
Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2024 including a fair review
of the business and discussion of the principal
risks and uncertainties facing the Group and
indication of likely future developments in the
Group'’s business, are set out in the "Chairman’s
Statement”, "Management Discussion and
Analysis” and “Financial Summary” sections
of this Annual Report. Save as disclosed in the
Company’s announcement, no important event
affecting the Group that has occurred since the
end of the financial year ended 31 March 2024.

DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed during
the year of 2024, nor has any dividend been
proposed since the end of the reporting period
(2023: nil).

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group spent approximately
HK$36,000 on the acquisitions of property and
equipment,

Details of these and other movements during
the year in the property and equipment of the
Group are set out in note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements during the year in the
share capital and the share option schemes
of the Company are set out in notes 33 and
34 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and
the Company during the year are sef out in
consolidated statement of changes in equity
and note 43 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As of 31 March 2024, the Company has
no reserves available for distribution to
shareholders.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and
liabilities of the Group for the past five financial
years is set out on pages 299 and 300.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year
and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Kwan Kin Chung (Managing Director)
Mr. Yuen Kin (resigned on 6 May 2024)

Non-executive Director:

Mr. Wong Kon Man Jason (Chairman)
Dr. Liu Ka Ying Rebecca (Vice Chairman)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Wong Kwan Kit

Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew
(resigned on 6 May 2024)

Mr. Mung Yaf Lik
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DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Directors of the Company, including
Executive Directors, Non-executive Director, and
Independent Non-executive Directors (“INEDs")
are subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at the annual general meeting of the
Company. In accordance with Clauses 110(A)
of the Company’s Bye-Laws, Messrs. Wong Kon
Man Jason and Wong Kwan Kit will retire and,
being eligible, offer themselves, for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting
has a service contract which is not terminable
by the Group within one year without payment
of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

The Company has received the annual
confirmation of independence from each of
the INEDs as required under Rule 3.13 of Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”). The Company considered all INEDs to
be independent.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Mr. Kwan Kin Chung, aged 55, joined the Group
in 1998 and was appointed as an Executive
Director and Managing Director of the Company
in March 2008, Mr. Kwan is a Chairman of
the Corporate Governance Committee and
Nomination Committee of the Company, a
member of the Remuneration Committee of
the Company and is a Director of certain
subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Kwan held the
position as vice president of the Group from
1998 to 2002 and was appointed as an acting
Chief Executive Officer of the Company in April
2007. During the period of serving as the Vice
President of the Group, Mr. Kwan was also the
vice publisher of Tin Tin Daily News where he
gained wealth of experience in media industry.
He holds a Bachelor Degree of Arts in Economics
from Zhongshan University, Guangzhou, PRC.
Mr. Kwan has extensive experience in businesses
restructuring and corporate investment.

Mr. Yuen Kin, aged 69, was appointed as
an Executive Director of the Company in
September 2017 and Mr. Yuen resigned as
an Executive Director of the Company on 6
May 2024. Currently, Mr. Yuen is a Director of
certain subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Yuen
holds a Master of Business Administration
degree from the University of Toronto, Canada.
He is a Chartered Professional Accountant in
Canada and he is a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
and of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. He has extensive experience in
corporate finance, financial planning, reporting
and management.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEHREE

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Yuen is an Independent Non-executive
Director of Emerson Radio Corporation
(NYSEMKT: MSN), a company listed on The
American Stock Exchange. He is currently an
Independent Non-executive Director of Huayi
Tencent Entertainment Limited (stock code:
0419), a company listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Non-executive Director

Mr. Wong Kon Man Jason, aged 60, was
appointed as Non-executive Director and
Chairman of the Board of the Company in April
2022, Mr. Wong is a member of the Corporate
Governance Committee of the Company.
Mr. Wong was appointed as a member of the
Audit Committee on 6 May 2024. Mr. Wong
obtained a bachelor’'s degree in business
administration from the University of Hawaii at
Manoa in the United Stafes. He has been a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and the American Institute
of Certfified Public Accountants. Mr. Wong has
over 26 years of experience in fund management
and capital markets investment in Asia Pacific,
primarily investing in Al, TMT, gaming, consumer,
biomedical and more.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Non-executive Director (Continued)

Mr. Wong has been hailed as ‘the godfather
of special purpose acquisition companies
("SPACs") in Asia’, and has sponsored, advised,
or served on the management feam of mulfiple
U.S.-listed SPACs since 2014. Of his U.S. SPAC
portfolio, three have already successfully
initiated or completed business combinations.
The first of these was DT Asia Investment Limited
(Nasdaqg: CADT), for which Mr. Wong served as
an independent director. He also served as the
chairman and chief executive officer of Norwich
Investment Limited, the U.S. SPAC Sponsor of the
SPAC Tottenham Acquisition | Limited (Nasdag:
TOTA). He is also the director of Ace Global
Investment Limited, the U.S. SPAC Sponsor of the
SPAC Ace Global Business Acquisition Limited
(Nasdaqg: ACBA). Mr. Wong is the sole manager
(U.S. equivalent of ‘chairman’) of Soul Venture
Partners LLC, the U.S. SPAC Sponsor of the
newly-listed SPAC Inception Growth Acquisition
Limited (Nasdaq: IGTA). He is also involved
in several SPACs which are in the process of
becoming listed and served as the strategic
advisor of the SPACs or director of their U.S.
SPAC Sponsor. Mr. Wong was appointed as the
executive director and chief executive officer of
Ace Eight Acquisition Corporation, a SPAC which
has filed a listing applicafion to the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Contfinued)

Non-executive Director (Continued)

Mr. Wong has been serving as the founding
partner and on the board of directors of
Whiz Partners Asia Limited, a joint venture
company co-founded by Whiz Partners Inc.
Whiz Partners Asia Limited has managed the
business development activities of the portfolio
companies of Whiz Asia Evolution Fund, and
Mr. Wong has been an investment committee
member for the fund since April 2013. Whiz
Partners Asia Limited also launched the China
Hero Fund as an exclusive gaming fund partner
with leading gaming company Sony Interactive
Entertainment.

Mr. Wong also served as a financial consultant
of Transpac Capital Limited (one of the largest
and oldest private equity funds and venture
capital funds in Asia) from May 1993 to February
2000.

Mr. Wong is currently an Independent
Non-executive Director of Bamboos Health Care
Holdings Limited (stock code: 2293), a company
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Wong had been an
Independent Non-executive Director of Shinsun
Holdings (Group) Co. Ltd. from October 2020 to
January 2022 (stock code: 2599), a company
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Non-executive Director (Continued)

Dr. Liu Ka Ying Rebacca, aged 54, was
appointed as a Non-executive Director and as
Vice Chairman of the Company in January 2023.
Dr. Liu possesses experience in management,
finance, investment, as well as accounting
and financial management, she is currently
the senior vice president of Fortune (Shanghai)
Limited. Dr. Liu is a member of the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA),
lllinois CPA Society (ICPAS) of the United States
and Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (HKICPA). Dr. Liu obtained a double
bachelor’'s degree in Business Administrative
Studies from York University, Canada with
major in management and in accounting (with
honour) in 1992 and 1994, respectively. She
also obtained a doctoral’'s degree in business
administration from Victoria University of
Switzerland in November 2011. Dr. Liu is also a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Bankers,
Association of Women Accountants (Hong Kong)
Limited, and Hong Kong Professionals and Senior
Executives Association. She was also a former
member of the Tenth and the Eleventh Jilin
Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference.

From June 1996 to March 2002, Dr. Liu served
as the general manager for the Asia and China
region of The PRG-Schultz International, Inc., (a
company listed on NASDAQ). In January 2007,
Dr. Liu was appointed as the chief executive
officer of AllPanther Asset Management Limited
and has served at such position since then.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Contfinued)

Non-executive Director (Continued)

Dr. Liu is currently an Independent Non-executive
Director of Logan Group Company Limited
(stock code: 3380) (previous company name
is Logan Property Holdings Company Limited),
SITC International Holdings Company Limited
(stock code: 1308). Renaissance Asia Silk Road
Group Limited (stock code: 0274) and Paradise
Entertainment Limited (stock code: 1180), all of
which are companies listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Dr. Liu is the sister of Dr. Liu Hin Wang, Leris, the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Kwan Kit, aged 52, was appointed
as an Independent Non-executive Director
of the Company in July 2018. Mr. Wong
is the Chairman of the Audit Committee
and the Remuneration Committee, and a
member of the Nomination Committee of the
Company. Mr. Wong holds a Master of Business
Administration degree from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong. He is a fellow member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. Wong has over 22 years
of experience in accounting and financial
management, mergers and acquisitions
gained from certain finance related positions in
companies listed in Hong Kong.

Mr. Wong is currently an Independent
Non-executive Director of Man Sang
International Limited (stock code: 0938) and
Sprocomm Intelligence Limited (stock code:
1401), both of companies listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors
(Continued)

Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew JP, aged 45, was
appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company in April 2015.
Mr. Fan was the Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee, a member of the Audit Committee
and the Nomination Committee of the
Company. Mr. Fan resigned as an Independent
Non-executive Director, the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee, and a member of
each of the Nomination Committee and Audit
Committee of the Company on 6 May 2024 due
to his personal business engagements which
require more of his dedication. Mr. Fan is a
practicing certified public accountant in Hong
Kong with over 17 years of experience. He holds
a Bachelor Degree of Business Administration
(Accounting and Finance) from The University of
Hong Kong and a Bachelor Degree in Laws from
the University of London. Mr. Fan is a member
of the Associatfion of Chartered Certified
Accountants in the United Kingdom and a fellow
member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He is also a committee
member of the tenth to twelfth Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference of the Zhejiang
Province, the fourth and fifth Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference of Shenzhen,
the tenth to twelfth Vice Chairman of Zhejiang
Province United Young Association and a
member of the fourteenth National Committee
of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors
(Continued)

Mr. Fan is currently an Independent
Non-executive Director of Chuang’s China
Investments Limited (stock code: 0298), Sing Tao
News Corporation Limited (stock code: 1105),
Nameson Holdings Limited (stock code: 1982),
China Unicom (Hong Kong) Limited (stock code:
0762), China Aircraft Leasing Group Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1848) and China Overseas
Grand Oceans Group Ltd. (stock code: 0081),
all of which are companies listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. Mr. Fan had been an Independent
Non-executive Director of Fulum Group Holdings
Limited from October 2014 to May 2021 (stock
code: 1443), the shares of all companies are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors
(Continued)

Mr. Mung Yat Lik, aged 66, was appointed
as an Independent Non-executive Director of
the Company in December 2018. Mr. Mung
is a member of the Audit Committee of the
Company. Mr. Mung has been appointed
as a member of each of the Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee on 6
May 2024.

He has 35 years of experience in investment
management, tourism, logistics and investment
property. In particular, he has extensive
experience in cooperation with state-owned
enterprises in investment and operations, as well
as cable media management. Mr. Mung acted
as the Vice President and general manager
of Guangdong Southern Yinshi Cable Media
Company Limited (BREH R REAKEHEBRAA)
and as a director of Hoteline Network Limited.
Mr. Mung is currently the Managing Director of
Guangdong Guoye Greenhouse Technology
Limited (ERBEIEZERZBRAT) . the Vice
President and investment director of Xiamen
Xinyou Logistics Company Limited (EFI & XK YR
B R F)and the Vice President and investment
director of Shenxing (Hainan) Travel Limited (1
17 CBE) RIATHBRQA).
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Contfinued)

Senior Management

Dr. Liu Hin Wang Leris ("Dr. Liu”), aged 50, was
appointed as Chief Executive Officer ("CEO") of
the Company on 5 March 2023, has more than
26 years of working experience with more than
11 years experience in information technology
and artificial intelligence industry in the People’s
Republic of China and Southeast Asia. Prior
to joining the Group, Dr. Liu was the CEO of
Intelligence Smart Company Limited, a company
principally engaged in information fechnology
and artificial intelligence industry with the
main focus on e-commerce management and
information engineering. From 2010 to 2020, Dr.
Liu was a Senior Consultant of Chia Tai Land
Co., Limited, a subsidiary of Charoen Pokphand
Group Company Ltd., which is principally
engaged in property, fund and investment
business, and was responsible for research and
marketing analysis.

Dr. Liu obtained a doctoral’s degree in business
administration from Victoria University of
Switzerland in November 2011.

Dr. Liu is the brother of Dr. Liu Ka Ying, Rebecca,
the Non-executive Director of the Company and
the Vice Chairman of the Board.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Senior Management (Continued)

Mr. Yue Chi Wing Toby, aged 58 joined the
group in 2014. Mr. Yue is a member of Corporate
Governance Committee of the Company and is
the General Manager of Culturecom Limited, a
subsidiary of the Group. He is responsible for the
overall planning, development and marketing
of the Group’s publishing business. Mr. Yue has
over 37 years of extensive experience in the
publishing industry and has been involved in the
publication operation of various comic books in
Hong Kong. He is also the founder of THE ONE
Comics Publishing Limited which was acquired
by the Group in 2014.

Ms. Lee Yuk Ping, aged 56, joined the Group in
September 1997. Ms. Lee holds a Master Degree
of Professional Accounting. She is a fellow
member of both the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. She has
extensive experience in auditing, accounting
and corporate finance.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option
scheme on ifs 2013 annual general meeting
held on 12 August 2013 (the "2013 Scheme”)
which expired on 11 August 2023. The Company
has adopted a new share opfion scheme (the
"2023 Scheme”) on its 2023 annual general
meeting held on 29 August 2023.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME
(Continued)

Subsequent to the expiry of the 2013 Scheme, no
further share optfions can be granfed thereunder
but in all other respects, the provisions of the
2013 Scheme shall remain in force and all
share options granted prior to such expiry
shall continue to be valid and exercisable in
accordance therewith.

The number of shares available for issue in
respect of share options granted under the
2013 Scheme and the 2023 Scheme as at the
date of this Annual Report is 14,000,000 and Nil
respectively, totalling 14,000,000 shares which
in aggregate represents approximately 0.84%
of the weighted average number of shares in
issued for the year ended 31 March 2024.

The number of share options available for
grant under the 2013 Scheme as at 1 April 2023
and 31 March 2024 were 98,161,394 and Nil
respectively.

The number of share options available for grant
under the 2023 Scheme as at 1 April 2023,
31 March 2024 and the date of the Annual
Report were Nil, 166,865,681 and 166,865,681
respectively, representing Nil, approximately 10%
and approximately 10% of the then issued shares
of the Company (excluding treasury shares)
respectively.

The sublimit on the total number of shares which
may be issued in respect of all share options
tfo be granted to service providers under the
2023 Scheme together with all share options
and awards which may be granted under any
other share schemes for the time being of the
Company as at 31 March 2024 is 50,059,704.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME
(Continued)

No share option was granted, exercised, vested,
cancelled or lapsed under the 2013 Scheme
and the 2023 Scheme during the year ended 31

March 2024.

Details of movement of the share options
granted to the Directors and others of the
Company under 2013 Scheme as of the date of

this Annual Report are as follows:
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Confinued)

Notes:

1

On 27 April 2022, 14,000,000 share options were
granted to the non-executive Director (Wong Kon Man
Jason) and consultant (Chan Wai Kwong Peter) of the
Group, respectively, in order to reward the Director and
consultant for the business development of the Group.
These share options have an exercise price of HKS$0.72
per share and an exercise period ranging from 27
April 2022 to 26 April 2025. The price of the Company’s
shares at the date of grant was HK$0.72 per share.

The share options exercise period is commenced from
the date of grant for three years. The share options
may be exercised at any time within the options period
provided that the options have been vested. As at 31
March 2024, all share options have been vested.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors of the
Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS
(A) Interests of the Directors

As of 31 March 2024, the interests and short
positions of each Director Chief Executive
of the Company in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company and
its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the "SFO")) which are
required (a) to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the "Stock Exchange”) pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions
which he/she is taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO); or (b)
pursuant fo section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein;
or (¢) pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Companies to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange:

Interests in the share options of the
Company
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Nature of Number of Exercise price issued share
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—R-CEHH
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS
(Continued)
(A) Interests of the Directors

(Continued)

Interests in the share options of the
Company (Continued)

Notes:

1. The share options exercise period is commenced
from the date of grant for three years. The share
optfions may be exercised at any fime within the
options period provided that the options have
been vested. As of 31 March 2024, all share
opfions have been vested.

All interests stated above represent long
positions.

Save as disclosed above, as of 31 March
2024, none of the Director nor Chief
Executive of the Company had interests
or short positions in any securities of
the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) which are required (a) to
be notified fo the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests or
short positions which he/she is taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO); or (b) pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, to be entfered in the register
referred to therein; or (c) pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Companies to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

(Continued)

(B) Interests of Substantial Shareholders

DIRECTORS' REPORT
EFEHREE

B E (E)

(B) T EKRRE#:

As of 31 March 2024, so far as is known to
any Director or Chief Executive Officer of
the Company, the following person had
an interest or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded
in the register to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO:

Interests in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company

BE-Z_WE=A=+—H B4x2F
EMESHITHRARFTH UTALTHE
AABRODBAEBRDZERZRAERAE
REZLFRBEKROIEXVEFE2REISD
ZBEXERAQXTREE  IRBEEAQ AR
BERBMERHIEIBCHERETFUAREZE
MRz EERRE

RERGARGREER G2

Approximate

Number percentage of
of shares issued share
Name Capacity held capital
HERTRAE
=x % FrsRHHE ZHMA B
L&W Holding Limited Beneficial owner (Note 1, 2) 178,767,312 10.71%
BERER A (HE - 2)
Mr. Dizon Basilio Beneficial owner, inferests in a 276,975,112 16.6%
ZRHBEE controlled corporation and
interests of spouse (Note 1)
ERBEREA -ZTEAF
R R BER ()
Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia Beneficial owner, interests in a 276,975,112 16.6%

AEEZ+

controlled corporation and

interests of spouse (Note 2)
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS
(Continued)

(B) Interests of Substantial Shareholders

(Continued)

Interests in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company (Continued)

Notes:

1. Mr. Dizon Basilio ("Mr. Dizon") is beneficially
interested in 56,443,200 shares in the Company.
Mr. Dizon also has controlling interests as to
65% in L&W Holding Limited ("L&W") and L&W is
beneficially interested in 178,767,312 shares in
the Company. Furthermore, Mr. Dizon is the legal
and beneficial owner as to 80% of Sociedade
Gold Mind Telecom, Limitada which in turn is
beneficially interested in 8,801,800 shares in the
Company. Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia (*Ms. Chow"),
the spouse of Mr. Dizon, is beneficially
interested in 32,962,800 shares in the Company.
Accordingly, Mr. Dizon is deemed to be interested
in 276,975,112 shares in the Company under the
SFO in aggregate.

2. Ms. Chow is beneficially interested in 32,962,800
shares in the Company. Ms. Chow is the spouse of
Mr. Dizon and has confrolling interests (as to 35%) in
L&W. Accordingly, She is deemed to be interested in
276,975,112 shares in the Company under the SFO.

All interests stated above represent long
positions.

Save as disclosed above, as of 31 March
2024, the Directors and the Chief Executive
of the Company were not aware of any
person who had an interest or short position
in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed
tfo the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which were recorded in the register to be
kept by the Company under Section 336 of
the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 30 to the consolidated
finance statement, no confracts of significance
to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party and in which a Director of the
Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors nor their respective
associates had any business which competed
or was likely fo compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group at the
end of the year or at any fime during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights
under the Company’s Bye-Laws, or the laws of
Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Company’'s Bye-Laws, every
Director or other officers of the Company shall
be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets
of the Company against all losses or damages
which he may sustain or incur in or about the
execution of the duties of his office, or otherwise
in relation thereto.

The Company has arranged appropriate
Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance
coverage for the Directors and Officers of the
Group.
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REPURCHASE, SALE OR
REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries have
repurchased, sold or redeemed any of the
listed securities in the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2024.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Company, with
written terms of reference in line with the code
provision set out in the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices (the "Code”) as
stipulated in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (the ‘Listing Rules”)
on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "Stock Exchange®), currently comprises of
two Independent Non-executive Directors and
one Non-executive Director, namely Mr. Wong
Kwan Kit, Mr. Mung Yat Lik and Mr. Wong Kon
Man, respectively. The Audit Committee of the
Company has reviewed with the management
the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group and discussed the
internal control, risk management and financial
reporting matters including the review of audited
financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2024.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year, the Group has complied
with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a material impact on the business of
the Group in all material aspect and there
were no circumstances of material breach
or non-compliance of applicable laws and
regulations.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to achieving
environmental sustainability. The Group
endeavours to comply with the relevant laws
and regulations regarding environmental
protection and adopt effective measures
to achieve efficient use of resources, waste
reduction and energy saving. For instance,
the in-house manufacturing facilities of the
Group operate in compliance with the relevant
environmental rules and regulations. The Group
reviews its environmental policies on a regular
basis.

In accordance with Rule 13.91 and the ESG
Reporting Guide contained in Appendix C2 to
the Listing Rules, the Company’s Environmental,
Social and Governance Report will be available
on our website in due course.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principle corporate governance
practices adopted by the Company is set out on
pages 52 to 72 of the annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS OF
LISTED ISSUERS

The Company has adopted the “Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers” as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing
Rules as its own code for dealing in securities
of the Company by the Directors (the “Model
Code”). Having made specific enquiry of all
Directors, the Company confirmed that all
Directors have complied with the required
standard as set out in the Model Code during
the year ended 31 March 2024.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly
available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this
report, the Company has maintained sufficient
public float as required under the Listing Rules.
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The financial statements of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2024 were audited
by Gary Cheng CPA Limited ("Gary Cheng”),
who will retire and a resolution to re-appoint
Gary Cheng as auditor of the Company will be
proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Kwan Kin Chung
Managing Director

Hong Kong, 25 June 2024
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

LAFIEARE

INTRODUCTION

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Group is committed to maintaining a high
standard of corporate governance. The principle
of the Company’s corporate governance is to
implement effective internal control measures
and fo increase the transparency of the Board
so as to be accountable to all shareholders.

For the period from 1 April 2023 to 31 March
2024, the Company has adopted the code
provisions set out in the Corporate Governance
Code (the "Corporate Government Code”) set
out in the Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the °Listing Rules”) as its
own code on corporate governance practice.
During the year, the Company has been in
complionce with all code provisions set out in
the Corporate Governance Code except the
following deviation:

CODE PROVISION B.2.2

Under the code provision B.2.2, every director,
including those appointed for a specific term,
should be subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years. The current
Independent Non-executive Directors of the
Company are not appointed for a specific term.
However, all Directors (including Executive and
Non-executive) of the Company are subject to
retirement by rotation at the Annual General
Meeting in accordance with Bye-Law 110(A)
of the Bye-Laws of the Company. As such, the
Company considers that sufficient measures
have been taken to ensure that the Company’s
corporate governance practices are no less
exacting than those in the Code.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

MINIMUM NUMBERS OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Following the resignafion of Mr. Fan Chun Wah
Andrew on 6 May 2024, the Company had two
Independent Non-Executive Directors ("INEDs"),
the number of which fell below the minimum
number required under Rules 3.10 (1) of the
Listing Rules.

The Board is in the process of identifying suitable
candidate to fill the vacancy of an independent
non-executive Director and will use its best
endeavours to ensure that suitable candidate
will be appointed as soon as practicable and in
any event, within the three-month period from
the date of resignation of Mr. Fan pursuant to
Rule 3.11 of the Listing Rules.

MINIMUM NUMBERS OF
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
COMMITTEE

According to the written ferms of reference,
the Corporate Governance Committee (the
"CGC") comprised of 4 members. Following the
resignation of Mr. Huang Mingguo on 2 July
2021, Ms. Hung Wai Kwan on 8 August 2021
and Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia on 13 January
2023 and the appointment of Mr. Wong Kon
Man Jason and Mr. Yue Chi Wing on 28 June
2022, the Company currently comprises of three
Corporate Governance Committee members,
Mr. Kwan Kin Chung, Mr. Wong Kon Man Jason
and Mr. Yue Chi Wing respectively. The Board will
commence a process to identify replacement so
as to full the written terms of reference of Corporate
Governance Committee.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (the "Model Code”) as set out
in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its code
of conduct regarding directors’ securities
tfransactions. Directors are reminded of their
obligations under the Model Code on a regular
basis. Following specific enquiry with the
Directors, all of them have confirmed that they
have complied with the required standards as
set out in the Model Code throughout the year
ended 31 March 2024.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at 31 March 2024, the Board comprises of the
Chairman, the Vice Chairman, the Managing
Director, one Executive Director and three
Independent Non-executive Directors. The
Board of Directors is principally accountable
to the shareholders and is responsible for the
leadership and control of the Group including
overseeing the Group’s businesses, strategic
directions, financial performance, setting
objectives and business development plans,
and monitoring the performance of the senior
management.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Board of Directors meets regularly
throughout the year to formulate overall
strategy, monitor business development as
well as the financial performance of the Group
and has formal procedures on matters for
consideration and decision-making. The Board
of Directors has delegated certain authorities
tfo the senior management for the day-to-day
management of the Group’s operations. The
attendance of Directors at the Board Meetings
and General Meeting held during the year is as
follows:

LAFIERRE

Exg (&)

EXESFSEHERERE UG RERE -
EEAKEE2EBRERMBERE UHEF
ZRRARZEEHRAEAEF -EFECER
TEREEAEETEIUEERRAEEHZAE
EE-EERNFRETZEFZEZRRRK
B2HEREMT

Attendance/ Attendance/
Number of Annual
Directors Board Meetings General Meeting
HERE, HERE,
= Ezge3¥ RRBFAE
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Kwan Kin Chung RARELE (EFLLE) 4/4 1/1
(Managing Director)
Mr. Yuen Kin r RBELE 4/4 /1
(resigned on 6 May 2024) (R=EZWER AN HFE)
Non-executive Director FHITES
Mr. Wong Kon Man Jason BR3¢ 4/4 1/1
(Chairman of the Board) (EEEZE)
Dr. Liu Ka Ying Rebecca BREBL 4/4 1/1
(Vice Chairman of the Board) (BEEEHZE)
Independent Non-executive Directors B ¥ HTES
Mr. Wong Kwan Kit BERARE 4/4 1/1
Mr. Mung Yat Lik E il 4/4 /1
Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew BERELL 4/4 /1
(resigned on 6 May 2024) (R=EZWERFNHFE)
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Company has received the annual
confirmation of independence from each of
the Independent Non-executive Directors as
required under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Company considered all Independent
Non-executive Directors to be independent.

ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

Under Code Provision C.2.1, the roles of
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer ("CEO”)
should be separated and should not be
performed by the same individual. The division
of responsibilities between the Chairman and
CEO should be clearly established and set out
in writing. The Chairman’s roles are convening
meetings of the Board and make decision of the
Group’s business strategies. Dr. Liu Hin Wang
Leris was appointed as CEO of the Company on
5 March 2023. The CEO of Company is primarily
responsible for the daily operations of the Group
in accordance with the goals set up by the
Board.

The CEO is also supported by other Executive
Directors and Senior Management. The Board
believes that the Company has already a strong
corporate governance structure in place to
ensure effective oversight of management. The
Board will confinue fo review the effectiveness
of current management structure from time
to time and may make changes if and when
appropriate. The Board will also continue to
monitor and review the Company’s corporate
governance practices to ensure compliance
with the Code.
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TERMS OF NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Under the code provision B.2.2, Non-executive
Directors should be appointed for a specific term,
subject to re-election. The current Independent
Non-executive Directors of the Company are
not appointed for a specific term. However, all
Directors (including Executive, and Independent
Non-executive Directors) of the Company are
subject to retirement by rotation at the annual
general meeting in accordance with Bye-Law
110(A) of the Bye-Laws of the Company. As such,
the Company considers that sufficient measures
have been taken to ensure that the Company’s
corporate governance practices are no less
exacting than those in the Code.

DIRECTORS" CONTINUOUS
TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to code provision A.2.1 of the CG
Code, all Directors should participate in
contfinuous professional development to refresh
their knowledge and skills. This is fo ensure
that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. Reading materials on
relevant topics are issued to Directors where
appropriate. Each Director received induction
on the first occasion of his/her appointment,
so as fo ensure that he/she has appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of
the Group and that he/she is sufficiently aware
of his/her responsibilities and obligations under
the Listing Rules and other relevant legal and
regulatory requirements.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, all
Directors participated in continuous professional
development relevant to the duties and
responsibilities of the Directors under the
relevant legal and regulatory requirement.
Such continuous professional development was
delivered via reading materials in relation to
legal or regulatory updates and/or attending
fraining courses provided by the legal advisors.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an Audit
Committee with written terms of reference which
is aligned with the code provisions set out in the
Code.

The Audit Committee meets at least twice
a year for reviewing the reporting of annual
and interim results and other information to
the shareholders, and the effectiveness and
objectivity of the audit process. Additional
meetings may be held by the Audit Committee
from fime fo time to discuss special projects
or other issues which the Audit Committee
considers necessary. The external auditors of
the Company may request a meeting if they
consider that one is necessary. The Audit
Committee also provides an important link
between the Board and the Company’s auditors
in matters coming within the scope of its terms
of reference and keeps under review the
independence and objectivity of the auditors.

Currently, the Audit Committee comprises of two
Independent Non-executive Directors and one
Non-executive Directors. The Audit Committee
was chaired by Mr. Wong Kwan Kit.

During the year, the Audit Committee reviewed
with the management the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group and
discussed about auditing, internal conftrol, risk
management and financial reporting matters
including the review of the audited financial
statements and unaudited interim financial
statements.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Confinued)

During the year, the members and attendance
of the meetings of the Audit Committee are as

LAFIERRE

BEZEEE (E)
FRETZERZESEZZRERHERERE
1

follows:
Attendance/
Number of
Directors Meetings
HERE,
= BEARY
Mr. Wong Kwan Kit BEERNEE 3/3
Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew SEERE L
(Resigned on 6 May 2024) (R=ZBZWF I AN HEIT) 3/3
Mr. Mung Yat Lik R—hxE 3/3
Mr. Wong Kon Man Jason IFBXEE
(Appointed on 6 May 2024) (R=ZBZWFLAANHEMRE) 0/0
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee of the Group has
been established in November 2005 with written
terms of reference in line with the Code. The
Remuneration Committee will meet as and when
necessary or as requested by any Committee
member to consider and recommend to
the Board the Group’s remuneration policy
and structure and fo review and determine
the remuneration packages of the Executive
Directors and senior management. The Directors
are remunerated with reference to their
respective duties and responsibility with the
Company, the Company’'s performance and
current market situation.

Currently, the Remuneration Committee
comprises of two Independent Non-executive
Directors and one Executive Director. The
Remuneration Committee was chaired by
Mr. Wong Kwan Kit. Details of emoluments of
the Directors from the Group for the year are
as disclosed in note 15 of the consolidated
financial statements.

Statistics of each Remuneration Committee
member’s attendance at the Remuneration
Committee Meeting:

FMWEES
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Attendance/

No. of Meetings

Directors (Note)

HERE

BE= BERY

Mr. Wong Kwan Kit BEEALE N/A 7 iE A

Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew SEERELE N/A TiE A8
(Resigned on 6 May 2024) (R=—E_YFFHHFNHFE)

Mr. Kwan Kin Chung BRI EE N/A A3 F

Mr. Mung Yak Lik R—h%kHE N/A T8 A

(appointed on 6 May 2024)

Note: During the year, no Director was involved in deciding
his/her own remuneration at the meeting of the
Remuneration Committee.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

According to the Bye-laws of the Company,
the Company established a Nomination
Committee on 26 March 2012 with written terms
of reference, to formulate nomination policy for
the Board’s consideration and implement the
Board’s approved nomination policy. The Board
of Directors has the power from time to time to
appoint any person as a Director either to fill a
casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board
of Directors. The nomination shall be taken in
consideration of the nominee’s qualification,
ability and potential contribution to the
Company.

According to the written ferms of reference,
the Nomination Committee shall consist of
three Directors, a majority of whom shall be
Independent Non-executive Directors appointed
by the Board of Directors from time to time.
Currently, the Nomination Committee comprises
of one Executive Director, Mr. Kwan Kin Chung,
and two Independent Non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Mung Yat Lik and Mr. Wong Kwan
Kit.

Nomination Policy

The Company has also adopted the Director
Nomination Policy on 1 January 2019. Such
policy sets out the selection criteria and
process and the Board succession planning
considerations in relation to nomination and
appointment of Directors of the Company, and
aims to ensure that the Board has a balance of
skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the Company, the continuity of
the Board and appropriate leadership at Board
level.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE
(Continued)

Nomination Policy (Confinued)

The Director Nomination Policy sets out
the factors for assessing the suitability and
the potential contribution to the Board of
a proposed candidate, including but noft
limited fo the following: character and
integrity; qualifications including professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience
that are relevant to the Company’s business
and corporate strategy; diversity in all aspects,
including but not limited to gender, age (18
years or above), cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service;
requirements of Independent Non-executive
Directors on the Board and independence
of the proposed Independent Non-executive
Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules;
and commitment in respect of available fime
and relevant interest to discharge duties
as a member of the Board and/or Board
committee(s) of the Company.

Statistics of each Nomination Committee
member’'s attendance at the Nomination
Committee Meeting:
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Attendance/

No. of Meetings

Directors (Note)

HERE,

= =E V8

Mr. Kwan Kin Chung BRI LEE N/A 7 & A

Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew SBERERL N/A 73E
(resigned on 6 May 2024) (R=ZF_P94F F F N HEE)

Mr. Wong Kwan Kit BEEANEE N/A TiE B

Mr. Mung Yat Lik R—hEHE N/A 718 A

(appointed on 6 May 2024)

Note: No Director was appointed during the year ended 31
March 2024.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE
(Continued)

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted its own board diversity
policy ("Board Diversity Policy”). The Board
Diversity Policy aimed to achieve diversity of
the Board through consideration of a number
of factors, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural, educational background and
professional experience. The Nomination
Committee of the Company shall review the
Board Diversity Policy as appropriate and make
recommendations on any proposed revisions to
the Board.

Board appointments will be based on objective
criteria having due regard to the benefits of
diversity of the Board.

The Company values gender diversity across all
levels of the Group. The following tables sets out
the gender ratio in the Board as of 31 March
2024

I\_JM ﬁﬂ:
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
COMMITTEE

According to the Bye-laws of the Company, the
Company established a Corporate Governance
Committee (the "CGC") on 26 April 2010 with
written terms of reference. The CGC obligates
to advise upon any fransaction of the Company
which the Board is proposed to entfer or fransact
for and on behalf of the Company, and give
a collective opinion tfo the Board as to the
propriety, feasibility and prudence of entering
info such fransactions.

According to the written terms of reference, the
CGC comprised of 4 members. Following the
resignation of Mr. Huang Mingguo on 2 July
2021, Ms. Hung Wai Kwan on 8 August 2022, and
Ms. Chow Lai Wah on 13 January 2023, and the
appointment of Mr. Wong Kon Man Jason and
Mr. Yue Chi Wing on 28 June 2022, the Company
comprises of three CGC members. Currently, the
CGC is chaired by Mr. Kwan Kin Chung.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ Responsibilities for the
Financial Statements

The Directors are responsible for the preparation
of the financial statements for each financial
period which give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Group and of the results
and cash flows for that period. In preparing
the financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2024, the Directors have selected
suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently, made judgments and estimates
that are prudent, fair and reasonable and
prepared the financial statements on a going
concern basis. The Directors are also responsible
for keeping proper accounting records which
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any
time the financial position of the Group, for
safeguarding the assets of the Group and for
tfaking reasonable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Auditor’'s Responsibilities and
Remuneration

During the year, the remuneration paid or
payable to the Company’s auditor and its
affiliate company in respect of their audit
and non-audit services was HKS$1,350,000
and HKS$306,500 respectively. The non-audit
services are related to agreed-upon procedures
on interim financial information and tax
representative service.

The statement of the auditor of the Company
regarding their reporting responsibilities is set out
in the Independent Auditor’'s Report on pages 73
fo 81.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
(Continued)

Risk Management and Internal control

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to
ensure sound and effective risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing
their effectiveness on an ongoing basis. The
risk management and infernal control systems
are reviewed at least annually fo ensure the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, fraining programs and budget
of the Group’s internal audit and financial
reporting functions.

Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems

The Group’s risk management and internal
control systems are designed to manage and
mitigate risks, rather than eliminate risks, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Through the Audit Committee and Corporate
Governance Committee, the Board conducts
annual review of the effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control
systems, covering the material control, including
financial, operational and compliance
controls. The management are primarily
responsible for applying and for supporting
the risk management and infernal control
processes. The operating units and support
functions are facilitated and coordinated by the
management, and ensure that risk management
processes and mitigation plans follow good
practices and guidelines established in
their day-to-day operations. Any risk events
and incidents identified are reported by the
operating units and support functions to the
management in a fimely manner.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
(Continued)

Main Features of Risk Management
and Internal Control Systems

The key elements of the Group’'s risk
management and internal control systems
include the establishment of strategic risk
register fo monitor the identified risks, the
assessment and evaluation of risks, the
continuous updating of risk responses for each
key risk identified to ensure the effectiveness of
the mitigation procedures on an ongoing basis.
A risk matrix approach is adopted to determine
the significance of the risk affer evaluation
of the risk in accordance to the likelihood
of occurrence and severity of the risk event
identified. The significance of the risks reflects
the level of management’s attention and risk
responses.

Risk management process is integrated
with the internal control systems, so that the
Group’s ability fo handle risks that hinder the
achievement of financial, operational and
compliance goals are strengthened and the
allocation of resources are more adequate.

Process used to identify, evaluate
and manage significant risks

The Group develops a preliminary inventory of
events that could influence the achievement
of the Group’s business objectives. The
Group identifies outfside and inside events by
reviewing its external and internal environment
and stakeholders, that have an influence or
potential influence on the Group’s ability to
achieve its strategy and business objectives.
The risk identification process takes place at
least once a year. Furthermore, any risk events
and incidents identified by the operating units
and support functions will be reported to the
management in a timely manner.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
(Continued)

Process used to identify, evaluate and
manage significant risks (Confinued)

The risks identified are evaluated with a risk
matrix which prioritises risks according to
the likelihood of their occurrence and the
significance of their impact on the achievement
of the Group’s business objectives. Following
the review of the risk matrix, the Group selects
and deploys the corresponding risk responses
and investigates the miftigation procedures to be
executed to ensure the identified significant risks
were managed to an acceptable level.

Process used to review the
effectiveness of the Risk Management
and Internal Control Systems

The Group does not have an internal audit
function due to the size of the Group and for
cost effectiveness consideration. The Board
would be directly responsible for internal control
of the Group and for reviewing its effectiveness.
The Group continues to review the need for an
internal audit function annually. An independent
consultant (“the Consultant”) was engaged to
perform a review on the risk management and
internal control systems. The Consultant has
reported findings and areas for improvement
to the Board and management. The Board
and management are of the view that no
material defects are noted in the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems.

The recommendations from the Consultant are
properly followed up by the Group to ensure
that they are implemented within a reasonable
period of time. The Board considers the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems
are adequate and effective and no significant
control failings or weaknesses was identified for
the year ended 31 March 2024.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
(Continued)

Inside Information Policy

The Group has established policies for
the handling and dissemination of inside
information. Such policy is set out inside the staff
manual and all staff is required to comply. In
addition, each personnel are granted a specific
level of access to the price sensitive and inside
information. The Directors, senior management
and employees are informed with the latest
regulatory updates.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Lee Yuk Ping, the company secretary of
the Company, is a full time employee of the
Company. During the year, the company
secretary has duly complied with the relevant
professional training requirement under Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company is aware of its responsibility to look
after the interests of its Shareholders. Pursuant
to the Company’s Bye-laws 70 and section 74 of
Bermuda Companies Act 1981 (as amended)
(the "Act”), the Board, on the requisition of
Shareholders of the Company holding not less
than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company, can convene a
special general meeting ("SGM") to address
specific issues of the Company within 21 days
from the date of deposit of writfen notice to the
registered office of the Company. If the Board
fails to proceed to convene a meeting, the
requisitionists, or any of them representing more
than one half of the total voting rights of all of
them, may themselves convene a meeting, but
any meeting so convened shall not be held after
the expiration of three months from the said
date.

The written requisition must state the purposes
of the meeting together with proposals to be
put forward at such meeting, signed by the
Shareholder(s) concerned and may consist of
several documents in like form, each signed by
one or more of those Shareholders. Besides, the
written requisition must be valid in pursuant to
section 79 and 80 of the Act. The requisition will
be verified with the Company’s share registrar
and upon their confirmation that the requisition
is proper and in order, the Company Secretary
will ask the Board of the Company to convene
the SGM after the deposit of such requisition
by serving sufficient nofice in accordance with
the statutory requirements to all the registered
Shareholders. Shareholders are encouraged by
the Company fo aftend the Company’s general
meeting.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (Continued)

All resolutions put forward at shareholder
meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to
the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company after each shareholder meeting.

Shareholders are provided with contact details
of the Company, such as telephone number,
fax number, postal address and the Company’s
website address in order to enable them to
make any query that they may have with
respect to the Company. Shareholders may
make enquiries to the Board by writing to the
Company at the Company’s head office in
Hong Kong at Suite 1502, 15/F, Far East Finance
Cenftre, 16 Harcourt Road, Admiralty, Hong
Kong. In addition, Shareholders can contact the
share registrar of the Company, if they have any
enquires about their shareholding issues.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy
(the "Dividend Policy”) which does not have
any pre-determined dividend payout ratio. In
considering dividend payment, the Board will
take into account factors such as depending
on results of operations, working capital,
financial position, future prospects, and capital
requirements, as well as any other factors which
the Directors of the Company may consider
relevant from time to fime. The Board will review
the Dividend Policy from time to time and
the Dividend Policy does not constitute any
commitment or obligation of the Company to
declare dividends.
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INVESTORS RELATIONS

The Board gives high priority to balanced, clear
and transparent communications which allow
shareholders and investors to understand the
Group’s prospects and the market environment
in which it operates. The Company engages with
shareholders and other investors through various
channels of communication to help ensure that
their views and concerns are understood and
addressed in a constructive way.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE
CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Reporting Period and up to the date
of this report, there has been no significant
changes in the constitutional documents of the
Company. The Amended and Restated Bye-laws
are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

/

To the Shareholders of
Culturecom Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial
statements of Culturecom Holdings Limited (the
"Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the "Group”) set out on pages
82 to 298, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March
2024, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policies information and
other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial
statements give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 March 2024, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Instfitute of
Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with
Hong Kong Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs")
issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the "Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
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B BEN T

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgment, were of most significance
in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters
were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and
we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters.

Key audit matter

BB SR

Net realisable value ("NRV”) assessment of
inventories - premium wine

FE — BEOHEZ T2 5 FETGE

We identified the NRV assessment of premium
wine as a key audit matter due fto their
significance to the consolidated statement
of the financial position as a whole and the
significant judgment and estimations involved
in the estimation of NRV of the Group’s
premium wines.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BHERRNMNEEREESSE

Our procedures in relation to the NRV assessment
of the inventories included:

EMABIAFENTERFENEFEREUT &E:

Discussing with the management’s process
for evaluating the product-by-product regular
NRV assessment view and challenging the
judgment exercised in deftermining the
allowances of inventories as at the end
of reporting period, including their key
controls and policies on estimating the
inventories allowances;
HEBEN®IERENEREETHAERF
EFMEFER REFEETREPRFEREB
RATAZHE BEAGFFERBR ZBEREEZES
RBE
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Key audit matter

HRESSER

As set out in Note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements, the management carries
out inventory review on a product-by-product
basis at the end of the reporting period.
As further disclosed in Nofte 23 fo the
consolidated financial statements, the carrying
amount of premium wine was approximately
HK$31,289,000. The management performed
the inventory review including the estimation
of the respective NRV which was determined
as the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.
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The estimation of the respective NRV takes into
account a number of factors including prices
of actual sales during and/or subsequent
to the reporting period and independent
market information in relation to each of the
inventories held by the Group.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BEPEERNMTEERREETSEHE

Assessing the reasonableness of the
estimation of the NRV of inventories
performed by management by:
BBRUTHAATGEEEYFETER FEMET
&M

1. Evaluating management’s identification
of any inventories requiring specific
write-downs due to damage or other
quality issues with reference to the
information obtained during our
inventory count;
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2.  Obtaining the external valuation reports,
assessing the appropriateness of the
valuation methodologies and the
reasonableness of the key assumptions
and evaluating the appropriateness of
key input data used in the valuation;
and
BRI EERS  SHEGMEDENEEMS
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3. Performing independent market research
to evaluate the market information used
by management to estimate the latest
selling prices of the premium wines.
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B BEN T

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible
for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the
annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial
statements does not cover the other information
and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated
financial statements, our responsibility is to read
the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible
for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a frue and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
infernal control as the directors determine
is necessary tfo enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial
statements, the directors are responsible for
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern, and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group
or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible
for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.
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B RBED RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from
mafterial misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’'s report that
includes our opinion solely fo you, as a body,
in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of
this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs,
we exercise professional judgement and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the
audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
fo provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Confinued)

Obtain an understanding of internal control
relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the
directors’ use of the going concern basis
of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to confinue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw atftention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease
tfo confinue as a going concern.
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B BEN T

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR

THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Confinued)

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure
and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying
fransactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence regarding fthe financial
information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with
governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings. including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit opinion.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Confinued)

We also provide those charged with governance
with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and fo communicate with
them all relationships and ofther matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions
taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those
charged with governance, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter
or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we detfermine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting
in this independent auditor’s report is Ms. Lo Mei
Yan.

Gary Cheng CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Ms. Lo Mei Yan

Practising Certificate Number: P08056

Hong Kong
25 June 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FelRakEMZERRR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

BE-ZE-NF=A=+—HLFE

2024 2023
—E_MF —E=-=
NOTES HK$’000 HKS'000
By & FER FHET
Revenue KA 5 20,158 30,600
Cost of sales SHE R (10,307) (16,084)
Gross profit B 9,851 14,516
Other income HAgg A 6 5,349 1,213
Other gains or losses H fth U 5 =X &5 18 7 3,328 (1,957)
Impairment loss under expected iﬁﬁﬂ%_ié&ﬂ% ([FRAE
credit loss ("ECL") model, net of ~ HBBRDRETZ
reversal RUERE - H1FR A 808 643
Other impairment losses HAiyREEE 9 971) (2.023)
Selling expenses HEE M (1.949) (4,891)
Administrative expenses THREH (28,909) (31,078)
Other expenses HibE A 11 (7.860) (14,631)
Finance costs B E M 8 69) (125)
Share of loss of an associate B —EEEAFER (386) (170)
Loss before tax BR B A S 18 11 (20,808) (38,503)
Income tax expense FREBAX 12 (121) (152)
Loss for the year FEEBR (20,929) (38,655)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FelREHMZERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-_Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

2024 2023
—E_NEF —E-=
HK$’000 HKS$’000
THET FHERT

Other comprehensive (expense)  HitZE (BX) iz

income
Items that will not be reclassified to E&TEEH 7 EE

profit or loss: Rz ZEE -
Exchange differences on HIEEBBREZEZ2Y

franslation from functional EMcERER

currency to presentation

currency (7.376) (8.631)
Fair value gain of financial assets BAFEEBES AE M

at fair value through other THNREZE/MEE

comprehensive income ZANFEE KGR 2 -

(7.374) (8,631)

Iltems that may be reclassified HEGREEN 7 HZ

subsequently to profit or loss: Ru 2 HH -
Exchange differences arising on BMEBIRBESR

tfranslation of foreign operations =8 4,269 4,881
Reclassification of cumulative HE—BHEARE

franslation reserve upon disposal ﬂ%f%éirigﬁﬁ%ﬁ

of a subsidiary i (438) -
Reclassification of cumulative A —ENER AR

translation reserve upon ’gii%ﬂﬁ%ﬁ

deregistration of a subsidiary S 760 2)

4,591 4,879

Other comprehensive expense for FEEMEEMX

the year (2.783) (3.752)
Total comprehensive expense for ~ FEZHEBAX AR

the year (23.712) (42.407)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FelRakEMZERRR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

2024 2023
—E_NEF —E-=
NOTES HK$’000 HKS'000
f 3£ FER FERT
Loss for the year attributable to: FEAE FERE
- Owners of the Company —ARAREBA (20,782) (37.223)
- Non-controlling interests —FFERER 147) (1,432)
(20,929) (38.655)
Total comprehensive (expense) EE2E (FAX) W
income attributable to: R
- Owners of the Company —ARQBEEBA (24,076) (40,596)
- Non-controlling interests —FERER 364 (1.811)
(23.712) (42,407)
Loss per share BREE
Basic and diluted (HK cents) HARR#E (GBL) 14 1.2) (2.2)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

fr e MBIk R

AT 31 MARCH 2024
R-ZBZWF=A=+—H

2024 2023
—E_MF —E=-=
NOTES HK$'000 HKS$'000
Fff &F FERT FET
Non-current assets RBEE
Property and equipment MERZE 16 81 89
Right-of-use assets EREERE 17 273 617
Goodwill (G5 18 - -
Interest in an associate R—EBE N a2 ER 19 222 765
Intangible assets BRERE 20 5,525 6,013
Deposits rE 26 488 466
Financial assets at fair value BRAFEETABRE
through profit or loss ZEMEE 21 226 6,301
Financial assets at fair value RAFEETTAHEM
through other comprehensive PHASEZEREE
income 22 413 -
Deferred tax assets EEBRIEERE 32 40 31
7,268 14,282
Current assets REBEE
Inventories 7B 23 32,008 34,359
Trade receivables W E S ERM 24 3,465 8,674
Contract assets ERNEE 25 118 -
Other receivables, deposits and HihEWRFIE - RER
prepayments AN 26 35,325 41,374
Loan receivables FE R E K 2y 7,956 -
Financial assets at fair value BAFEEFABER
through profit or loss ZEMERE 21 1,714 2,320
Bank balances and cash RITEFRRES 28 38,228 61,497
Tax recoverable A Y [B] 554 18 200 -
119,014 148,224
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

= e MBIk R

AT 31 MARCH 2024
i WSS e il E

2024 2023
—E_MF ===
NOTES HK$’000 HKS$'000
I RE FE T THET
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables B E SRR 29 946 1,419
Other payables and accrued H i FEF 7B & B ST
charges gH 29 8,331 10,662
Loans from a shareholder RE—BRRZER 30 4,364 =
Loans from directors REEEZZERK 30 3,436 =
Lease liabilities HEEE 31 526 2,190
Tax payables FEF i 18 - 478
17,603 14,749
Net current assets REEEFE 101,411 133,475
Total assets less current liabilities #EERABA S 108,679 147,757
Non-current liabilities FRBEME
Lease liabilities HEEE 31 = 357
- 357
Net assets EEFE 108,679 147,400

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023-2024




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
fr e MBIk R

AT 31 MARCH 2024
R-ZBZWF=A=+—H

2024 2023
—E_MF —E=-=
NOTES HK$’000 HKS'000
Bt 3£ THERT FET
Capital and reserves EXE #E
Share capital fig A5 33 16,687 16,687
Share premium and reserves IR E R FE 97,100 121,863
Equity attributable to owners AAREREABRMLER
of the Company 113,787 138,550
Non-controlling interests R R (5.108) 8,850
Total equity B 108,679 147,400
The consolidated financial statements on pages FQ2EHZEFE A BHRRN_-_E_ME
82 to 298 were approved and authorised for ANRAZtHERAKEESH EYEETE T H
issue by the board of directors on 25 June 2024 THESEREREZ:
and are signed on its behalf by:
KWAN KIN CHUNG WONG KON MAN JASON
e gL EF®X
Director Director
EE EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FeHREDER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
EZENF=ZA=+—HLFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARAREAELRS
Capital Share Non-
Share Shore  Contribution ~ redemption opfions  Translafion  Revaluation Other  Accumulated confrolling Total
capifal premium surplus reserve reserve reserve Teserve reserve losses Sub-fotal interests equity
e R EE R4RE HAREGRE  BRERE EXGE EfiiR RftiR RitER N HERES oy 3
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
Tén TiEn TiEn Tén TEn Tin Fén Fén FEn TEn T Tin
(nofe i)
(G
A1 April 2022 R-B-ZFMmA-A 16,687 2,064,406 17,671 446 5,839 - 4218 (2.080.427) 182,840 8,054 190,894
Loss for he year FERA - - - - @) 1) 04 (38655
Other comprehensive income 2 ElNE
Exchange differences on BNRERREZE)
ranslation from functional ERCERZE
currency fo presentation
curency 5 8252) . . . (8.25) @19 8631)
Exchange differences orisingon ~ BERHEHZER
translation of foreign operations £ = 4881 = S o 4881 o 4881
Reclassification of cumulative EH-ENBLRE
translation reserve upon KEHER R
deregistration of a subsidiary B = ¢ - - - ] - Q)
Total comprehensive expense for ~ £E2EEX
the year 88 - (3373) - - (3123 (40596) 81 (42407)
Acquisition of additional interestin -~ B3R RER WE
subsidiaries from non-controling KA 725
inferesfs (Note il B (3t = - - (1.447) (7.447) 2647 (4.800)
Reconciliafion of equity-seffled NEREEZRR
share-based payments RERZARHE
(Note 34) (Hi3E34) o 3,783 - - - - 3,753 - 3,753
Release of non-controlling inferest i #—BHEBA T
upon deregistration of a BRESRER
subsidiary (Note 40a (vil)) (H3¥40a (vi)) - - - - - (40) (40)
At 31 March 2023 RZB-Z§=f
=t-f 16,687 2,064,406 17,67 446 3,753 2,466 - 4218 (2125,097) 138,550 8,850 147,400
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FeHEDER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

2 E_NE=A=1+—HILFE
Atfributable to owners of the Company
L NGE PN, 1
Capital Share Non-
Share Share  Contribution  redemption options  Translation  Revaluation Other  Accumulated controlling
capital premium surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Sub-total interest  Total equity
& REER RABE KARERE  BRERE EXGE EfifE Rt RitB8 N FERER #Ex
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tién TiEn Tén Tén TEn Fién Fén FEn FEn T Tn Tin
(note i)
(GED)
A1 April 2023 WZZ2Z=EmA-A 16,687 2,064,406 171,61 446 3,753 2,466 - 4218 (2,125,097) 138,550 8,850 147,400
Loss for he year FERA - - - - - (o) @078 ) 0929)
Other comprehensive income Ef2ENE
Exchange differences on BEERREZE)
translation from functional R ERZE
currency fo presentafion
curency - (1.887) - s s (1.887) 511 (1.376)
Exchange differences orisingon ~ BERHEHZER
franslation of foreign operafions £ - 4,269 - - - 4,269 - 4,269
Reclassfication of cumulative HE-BHELAS
translation reserve upon KEHERGREN
disposal of a subsidiary 78 (W360)
(Nofe 360) 5 (438) 5 5 5 (@38) o (@38)
Reclassification of cumulative dH-ENEARE
tronslation reserve upon BRHERREEN
deregistration of a subsidiary 7% (H36b)
(Note 36b) - 760 - - - 760 - 760
Fair value gain of financial assets  RAFERE ALf
at fair value through other 2ANEZEHER
comprehensive income ATEENE - - 2 - - 2 -+ 2
Total comprehensive (expense) EE2E (%) Ka
income forfhe year 8 - (3,296) 2 S (078)  (u076) B (@
Disposal of a subsidiary LE-BHELA
(Note 360) (&360) - - - - - - 38 38
Disposal of parficl inferestsina~ HE-BHREATRZ
subsiciry (Nofe i) 807 (K - - - 5 . 5 - (87) > (87) 687 -
Release of non-confrolling inferest s #-EHBATE
upon deregistration of a BREERER
subsidiary (Note 36b) (F&36b) - - - - - - (11,705) (11,705)
Retur capifal to a non-controlling & #-EKEATE
inferest shareholders upon mFERERRR
deregistration of a subsidiary BEEK - - - - - - - - - - (3.342) (3:342)
At 31 March 2024 RZZ-RE=ZA
Eir=f 16,687 2,064,406 171,61 446 3,753 (830) 2 3,531 (2.145,879) 113,787 (5,108) 108,679
> It represents the amount less than HK$1,000.

1 EEHELPN1,0008 T °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FeHRIEBRR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

Notes:

0)

@D

(iii)

Contribution surplus represents the difference
between the nominal value of the share capital of the
acquired subsidiaries and the nominal amount of the
share capital of Culturecom Holdings Limited (the”
Company”) issued as consideration for the acquisition
as at the date of the group reorganisation in prior
years.

On 29 June 2022, the Group has acquired of (i)
additional of 5% equity interest in a subsidiary from an
independent third party for a cash consideration of
HK$2,800,000; and (ii) additional of 15% equity interest
in a subsidiary from an independent third party for a
cash consideration of HK$2,000,000. The difference of
HK$7,447,000 between consideration and the carrying
value of the inferest acquired was recognised in
accumulated losses within equity.

On 4 April 2023, the Group entered info an agreement
with an independent third party to dispose 7% equity
interests of MECEM BRI (BKB) BERAR (HRE
&) with no consideration. Accordingly, the Group's
effective interests in & & has been reduced from
100% to 93%. The carrying amount of the partial interests
in B disposed by the Group of approximately
HK$687,000 was credited to equity as non-controlling
interests during the year ended 31 March 2024. The
disposal was completed upon which the Group
tfransferred respective equity interests of & to an
independent third party.

(i

(i)
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ERRGERBEFEMRBEMBEAR ZRARER
REBEAAHEARBREMBET X LEEER
BRAR (ARAR)RAEAEZER -

RZBZZEXAZt+hAB AEEOURERE
2,800,0005% @ % 32 55 = 75 Ui B8 — R B /B 2 R B 7P5%
B R(i) AR £ K E2,000,0008 cEBILE=H
s — B ELA R ZEBEIME%RE - Bl RERE 2R
EERERE (B 2 = 587,447,000/8 T AR A 2 B5HE
BIEPER -

RE-ZE-_=FNANAE AEEE-EBIFE=FF
Mt HERETEKE MR GU8) BRART%
BRiE(THRES]  BRE - Bl REBRKELZ
EREREHI00WHEEI% BE-_ZT-_NFE=HA
=ST-HLEFE AEBHENRESH D BRI
EfE#687,0008 T B AFZRER - ZEHESH
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FeRBeRER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-_Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

2024 2023
—E_MF —E=-=
HK$’000 HKS$’000
THET FTET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES rEEK
Loss for the year FEBA (20,929) (38,655)
Adjustments for: BT HEBEFLHFE:
Amortisation of intangible assets B EE#E 488 631
Depreciation of property and MERZBINE
equipment 54 117
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EAEEERE 342 2,085
Gain on deregistration of a ZHE-—BREARZ
subsidiary W (10,942) (42)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RHNBARZ
W &= (823) _
Loss on fair value change of RAFEETFAER
financial assets at fair value *(BAFEETA
through profit or loss (*FVTPL") BaRkl)2emMEE
ZAFEEEZEEIE 6,326 944
(Gain) loss on disposal of HERQIFEETA
financial assets at FVTPL BRRcemMEEZ
(W) &E (390) 433
(Gain) loss on disposal of HEWMEREREZ
property and equipment (W) B5 B 3) 14
Loss on written off of property MEHMERREZ
and equipment R 5 _
Impairment losses recognised in AT HREEZZ
respect of: WAEEE
- Associate —HE QT 157 -
- Intangible assets —EBREE - 245
- Prepayments — AN RIE 560 -
- Right-of-use assets - EREERE 254 1,778
Impairment loss under ECL FHEEFEERT
model, net of reversal ZBEEE - HR
B (808) (643)
Recovery of impairment loss on AR ZERE S
frade receivables previously BRFUREE B
recognised (609) -
Share of loss of an associate EiE—BEBE QR
BB 386 170
Equity-settled share-based DR EENRND
payments expenses X zRx = 3,753
Income tax expense FriSfim X 121 152
FiR 2023-2024 XLBEEEEBRATF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FeBeRER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

2024 2023
—E_MF —E=-=
HK$’000 HKS'000
FHET THET
Bank interest income RAT R B WA 77) (215)
Investment income from financial & AP EE A H At
assets at fair value through ZEW R (MRQF
other comprehensive income EBETAEME2EWY
("FVTOCI") B ZERMEENR
=& (46) -
Subsidies WA a9 (827)
Dividend income from financial BRAFEEFAERR
assets at FVTPL RZETMEENRE
WA (85) (28)
Interest expenses FMERX 69 125
Written off of other payables it 5 L 1 FE 45 TR IE (658) 39
Written off of tfrade payables it 55 FE 1S B Z BR X (53) -
Operating cash flows before EEESEHAIZ
movements in working capital RERERE (26,780) (30,002)
Decrease in inventories BEERD 2,351 1,271
Decrease in trade receivables W E 5 BRI 7,063 9,492
Increase in contract assets BRNEEEM (118) -
Increase in loan receivables FE U & FXIE H0 (7.789) =
Decrease (increase) in other HBWRE - BER
receivables, deposits and FAAT R A (S h0)
prepayments 9.816 (37.014)
Decrease (increase) in investments FEEE 2 RERBD
held for trading (3 10) 745 (1,629)
Decrease in trade payables BN E SRR (423) (854)
Decrease in other payables and Hibh I FRIE R St
accrued charges B R (3.803) (530)
Decrease in contract liabilities aREaBERD - (172)
CASH USED IN OPERATIONS KREFMAZRE (18,938) (59.438)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FeRBeRER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-_Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

2024 2023
—E_MF —E=-=
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FERT FET

Income tax paid 2SS (807) -
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING KRELBRHH 2B

ACTIVITIES et o] (19.745) (59.438)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BEXEK
Withdrawal of restricted bank REZRFIRITER

deposits - 4,959
Purchase of property and BEYMERRE

equipment (36) ©6n
Proceeds from disposal of property HEWMERRZEZFE

and equipment A 6 10
Acquisition of intangible assets WBEFEEE - (4.880)
Acquisition of financial assets at RAFEETAHMS

FVTOCI HBZZEMEEZ

I 55 (419) -

Bank interest received 2 YR 1T F 2 177 215
Dividend income from financial BRAFEETABRE

assets at FVTPL ZEMEERERA 85 28
Investment income from financial RERDFEETAE

assets of FVTOCI tEEmRREzEmE

EZRERA 46 -

Return capital fo non-controlling 8 — M B A R R

interest shareholders upon FERESERRRE

deregistration of a subsidiary ER (3.342) -
Net cash outflow on disposal of a HE—FHBARZ

subsidiary ReRdF5E (47) -
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM REZH (A B2

INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES HEFE (3.530) 271

F3g 2023-2024 XLBEEERRAF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FeBeRER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

2024 2023
—E_MF —E=-=
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FERT FET
FINANCING ACTIVITIES 7l 5%
Advance from shareholder's loans REEMRZ B 4,364 -
Advance from directors’ loans EEERZBXN 3,436 -
Inferest paid ENFE 69) (125)
Payment for acquisition of XAHWEREARZ
additional interests in subsidiaries ~ BESMEXR - (4,800)
Repayments for capital element of EEHEEEBENER
lease liabilities E152) (2.273) (2,362)
Subsidies 18 BE 19 827
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) MEXKME (FA)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES 2B S B 5,477 (6,460)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH HENRREEEYRD
EQUIVALENTS = (17.798) (65,627)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FPEESRBESZEY
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 61,497 129,527
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXxggH o8
RATE CHANGES (5.471) (2,403)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FREBEERESEEY
END OF THE YEAR, REPRESENTED DURITETFRRE
BY BANK BALANCES AND CASH 275 38,228 61,497
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Culturecom Holdings Limited (the
"Company”) was incorporated in Bermuda
as an exempted company under the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda with
limited liability and its shares are listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
The address of the Company’s registered
office is Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria
Street, Hamilton HM10, Bermuda and its
principal place of business is Suite 1502,
15/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt
Road, Admiralty, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding
company. The principal activities of its
principal subsidiaries (fogether with the
Company, the "Group”) are set out in Note
40. The Group’s principal places of business
are in Hong Kong and the People’s Republic
of China (the "PRC").

The Company’s functional currency is
Renminbi ("RMB”). For the convenience
of the financial statements’ users, the
consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars ("HKS$"),
as the Company’s shares are listed on the
Stock Exchange.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-_Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

—RE B

XEBEEEEERAR (TAXAT]) REH
EREM(—AN—FRAE)FMRL
RERERERETAR  HRORE B
EXRZMBERAR ([HRM]) EMR LT -
KA\ 2 & i E & th 3k 7 A Victoria
Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street,
Hamilton HM10, Bermuda @ mMEFE &
EMBAEBRSTEEREIGGRERE/MTP
L 1581502% o

ARAR-MREERAT - HEEH B
AT ERAQT GBI AEE) 2B
B AW  ARA T BEEBEY
AEERTEARLNE (HE]D

RARBZHEEBERBARB TARE]D -
RENBBHERERZERE BREARTZ
BONRBRFET  REPBERRUB T
([Exl) 25 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE_T_NF=A=1T—-HLFE

2.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSs")

New and Amendments to HKFRSs
that are mandatorily effective for
the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied
the following new and amendments fo
HKFRSs and the following amendments o
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the first
fime, which are mandatorily effective for the
annual period beginning on or after 1 April
2023 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:

HKFRS 17 (including
the October 2020
and February 2022
Amendments to

Insurance Contracts

HKFRS 17)
Amendments to Definition of Accounting
HKAS 8 Estimates
Amendments to Deferred Tax related to
HKAS 12 Assets and Liabilities

arising from a Single
Transaction
Amendments to International Tax Reform
HKAS 12 - Pillar Two Model Rules
Amendment fo HKAS T Disclosure of Accounting
and HKFRS Practice Policies
Statement 2

Except as described below, the application
of the new and amendments to HKFRSs
in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group’s financial positions
and performance for the current and prior
years and/or on the disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSs")
(Continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs
that are mandatorily effective for
the current year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to
HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

The Group has applied the amendments
for the first time in the current year.
The amendments define accounting
estimates as "monetary amounts in
financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty”. An accounting
policy may require items in financial
statements to be measured in a way that
involves measurement uncertainty. In such
a case, an entity develops an accounting
estimate to achieve the objective set out
by the accounting policy. The amendments
to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates, and
changes in accounting policies and the
correction of errors.

The application of the amendments in the
current year had no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-HNF=A=t+—-HILFE

FE R RASIER] B R M B W
%Z;—?-,\U(Fﬁiﬁﬂji%ﬁ%i%ﬁﬂj)

Nne=x

~—

REAFEBHERZHET REE
AEBMBHREER (F)

EREEBEERE8H Eal 155 HIEHEZ
1& 5T Hy 52 &

FEBERAFEERERAZEMBR - &
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

2.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSs")
(Continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs
that are mandatorily effective for
the current year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to
HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The Group has applied the amendments
for the first time in the current year. HKAS
1 Presentation of Financial Statements is
amended to replace all instances of the
term “significant accounting policies” with
"material accounting policy information”.
Accounting policy information is material
if, when considered together with other
information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected
to influence decisions that the primary users
of general purpose financial statements
make on the basis of those financial
statements.

The amendments also clarify that
accounting policy information may
be material because of the nature of
the related transactions, other events
or conditions, even if the amounts are
immaterial. However, not all accounting
policy information relafting tfo material
fransactions, other events or conditions
is itself material. If an entity chooses to
disclose immaterial accounting policy
information, such information must not
obscure material accounting policy
information.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSs")
(Confinued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs
that are mandatorily effective for
the current year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments
to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement
2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
(Continued)

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making
Materiality Judgements (the “Practice
Statement”) is also amended to illustrate
how an entity applies the “four-step
materiality process” to accounting
policy disclosures and to judge whether
information about an accounting policy
is material to its financial statements.
Guidance and examples are added to the
Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has
had no material impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performance but
has affected the disclosure of the Group’s
accounting policies set out in Note 3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2.

AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSs")
(Continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs
that are mandatorily effective for
the current year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments
to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

The Group has applied the amendments
for the first time in the current year.
The amendments narrow the scope of
the recognition exemption of deferred
tax liabilities and deferred tax assets in
paragraphs 15 and 24 of HKAS 12 Income
Taxes so that it no longer applies to
fransactions that, on initial recognition,
give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences.

In accordance with the transition provision:

(i) the Group has applied the new
amendments on temporary differences
for transactions related to leases as at
1 April 2023; and

(i) the Group also, as at 1 April 2023,
recognised a deferred tax asset (fo the
extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary difference
can be utilised) and a deferred tax
liability for all deductible and taxable
temporary difference associated with
right-of-use-assets and lease liabilities.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND

AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSs")
(Continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs
that are mandatorily effective for
the current year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments
fo HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assefs
and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction (Continued)

The application of the amendments has
had no material impact on the Group's
financial positions and performance but
has affected the disclosure of the Group’s
accounting policies set out in Note 3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2.

AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSs")
(Continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs
in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the
following amendments to HKFRSs that have
been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to  Sale or Contribution of Assets
HKFRS 10 and between an Investor and its
HKAS 28 Associate or Joint Venture'

Amendments to  Lease Liability in a Sale and

HKFRS 16 Leaseback?
Amendments to  Classification of Liabilities as
HKAS 1 Current or Non-current and

related amendments to
Hong Kong Inferpretation 5

(2020)°
Amendments to  Non-current Liabilities with
HKAS 1 Covenants’
Amendments to  Supplier Finance
HKAS 7 and Arrangements?
HKFRS 7
Amendments To  Lack of Exchangeability®
HKAS 21

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
a date to be determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2024.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2025.

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs
mentioned below, the directors anficipate
that the application of all other
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material
impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSs")
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1
Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)
(the “2020 Amendments”)
and Amendments to HKAS

1 Non-current Liabilities

with Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)

The 2020 amendments provide clarification
and additional guidance on the assessment
of right to defer seftlement for at least twelve
months from reporting date for classification
of liabilities as current or non-current, which:

clarify that if a liability has terms
that could, at the option of the
counterparty, result in its settlement by
the fransfer of the entity’s own equity
instruments, these terms do not affect
its classification as current or non-
current only if the entity recognises
the option separately as an equity
instrument applying HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation; and

specify that the classification of
liabilities as current or non-current
should be based on rights that are in
existence at the end of the reporting
period. Specifically, the amendments
clarify that should not be affected
by management intentions or
expectations to settle the liability within
12 months.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

2.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSs")
(Confinued)

Amendments to HKAS 1
Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)
(the "2020 Amendments™)
and Amendments to HKAS

1 Non-current Liabilities

with Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”) (Continued)

For rights to defer settlement for at least
fwelve months from reporting date which
are conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the requirements infroduced by
the 2020 Amendments have been modified
by the 2022 Amendments. The 2022
Amendments specify that only covenants
with which an entity is required to comply
with on or before the end of the reporting
period affect the entity’s right to defer
settlement of a liability for at least twelve
months after the reporting date. Covenants
which are required to comply with only after
the reporting period do not affect whether
that right exists at the end of the reporting
period.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSs")
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1
Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)
(the “2020 Amendments”)
and Amendments to HKAS

1 Non-current Liabilities

with Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”) (Contfinued)

In addition, the 2022 Amendments
specify the disclosure requirements about
information that enables users of financial
statements to understand the risk that the
liabilities could become repayable within
twelve months after the reporting period,
if an entity classifies liabilities arising from
loan arrangements as non-current when
the entity’s right to defer settlement of those
liabilities is subject to the entity complying
with covenants within fwelve months after
the reporting period.

The 2022 Amendments also defer the
effective date of applying the 2020
Amendments to annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2024. The
2022 Amendments, together with the 2020
Amendments, are effective for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2024, with early application
permitted. If an entity applies the 2020
Amendments for an earlier period after the
issue of the 2022 Amendments, the entity
should also apply the 2022 Amendments for
that period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2.

AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSs")
(Confinued)

Amendments to HKAS 1
Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)
(the "2020 Amendments™)
and Amendments to HKAS

1 Non-current Liabilities

with Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”) (Continued)

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities
as at 31 March 2024, the application of the
2020 and 2022 Amendments will not result
in reclassification of the Group’s liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-HNF=A=t+—-HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MEMBBRZERHREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REFABKREH
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION

3.1 Basis of preparation of 3.1 FEMBBRRZEREE

consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements
have been prepared in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by HKICPA. For
the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements,
information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to
influence decisions made by primary
users. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securifies on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
("Listing Rules”) and by disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance ("CO").

The consolidated financial statements
have been prepared on the historical
cost basis except for certain financial
instruments that are measured at fair
values at the end of each reporting
period, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the
fair value of the consideration given in
exchange for goods and services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of

consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

Fair value is the price that would
be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement
date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated
using another valuation technique. In
estimating the fair value of an asset or
a liability, the Group takes into account
the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would
take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at
the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure
purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based
payment transactions that are within
the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment, leasing fransactions that
are accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 16, and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are
not fair value, such as net realisable
value ("NRV") in HKAS 2 Inventories or
value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of
Assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of
consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting
purposes, fair value measurements are
categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement
in ifs entirety, which are described as
follows:

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities
that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

Level 2 inputs are inputs, other
than quoted prices included within
Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or
indirectly; and

Level 3 inputs are unobservable
inputs for the asset or liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements
incorporate the financial statements of
the Company and entities confrolled
by the Company and its subsidiaries.
Control is achieved when the Company:

has power over the investee;

is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the
investee; and

has the ability to use its power to
affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not
it confrols an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three
elements of control listed above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Group has less than a
majority of the voting rights of an
investee, it has power over the investee
when the voting rights are sufficient
to give it the practical ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee
unilaterally. The Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether or not the Group's
voting rights in an investee are
sufficient to give it power, including:

the size of the Group's holding of
voting rights relative to the size
and dispersion of holdings of the
other vote holders;

potential voting rights held by the
Group, other vote holders or other
parties;

rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

any additional facts and circumstances
that indicate that the Group has, or
does not have, the current ability fo
direct the relevant activities at the
time that decisions need fo be made,
including voting patterns at previous
shareholders' meetings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins
when the Group obtains control over
the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses confrol of the subsidiary.
Specifically, income and expenses of
a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income from
the date the Group gains control until
the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other
comprehensive income are attributed
to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries
is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-confrolling
inferests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When necessary, adjustments are made
to the financial statements of subsidiaries
to bring their accounting policies in line
with the Group’s accounting policies.

All infragroup assets and liabilities,
equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated
in full on consolidation.

Non-conftrolling interests in subsidiaries
are presented separately from the
Group'’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling
their holders to a proportionate share
of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in
subsidiaries that do not result in the
Group losing control over the subsidiaries
are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s
relevant components of equity and the
non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative
intferests in the subsidiaries, including
re-attribution of relevant reserves between
the Group and the non-controlling
interests according to the Group’s
and the non-controlling interests’
proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount
by which the non-controlling interests
are adjusted, and the fair value of
the consideration paid or received
is recognised directly in equity and
aftributed to owners of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in
existing subsidiaries (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a
subsidiary, the assets and liabilities of
that subsidiary and non-controlling
interests (if any) are derecognised. A
gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss and is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair
value of the consideration received
and the fair value of any retained
interest and (ii) the carrying amount
of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary attributable
to the owners of the Company. All
amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to
that subsidiary are accounted for as
if the Group had directly disposed
of the related assefs or liabilities of
the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to
profit or loss or transferred to another
category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The
fair value of any investment retained
in the former subsidiary at the date
when conftrol is lost is regarded as
the fair value on initial recognition for
subsequent accountfing under HKFRS 9
or, when applicable, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an
associate or a joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MEMBEBRRZGFREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL AREFBERER (B)
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies 32EAREHBERER ()
information (Confinued)
Goodwill e
Goodwill arising on an acquisition WEXKEEDERNWBEL (R
of a business is carried at cost as FXEHER) ERBRILINRARR
established at the date of acquisition of sHREREE (InE) FIER -
the business (see the accounting policy
above) less accumulated impairment
losses, if any.
For the purposes of impairment testing, RBENEATS  TEEWIETRE
goodwill is allocated to each of the HESEREHBRMENAEES
Group’s cash-generating units ("CGUs") ReELEBEN (BEEEE M (F
(or group of CGUs) that is expected ReELEENMAR) MBENRE
to benefit from the synergies of the NARNEFRATEEENEETEN
combination, which represent the lowest BREKFETBBLE DL -

level at which the goodwill is monitored
for internal management purposes and
not larger than an operating segment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. REVEBRRZEREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KRETHERER (B)
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies 32EAREHBERER ()

information (Continued)
Goodwill (Continued)

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment annually or more
frequently when there is indication that
the unit may be impaired. For goodwill
arising on an acquisition in a reporting
period, the CGU (or group of CGUs) to
which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of
that reporting period. If the recoverable
amount is less than its carrying amount,
the impairment loss is allocated first
fo reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill and then to the ofther assets
on a pro-rata basis based on the
carrying amount of each asset in the
unit (or group of CGUs).

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising
on the acquisition of an associate is
described below.

Investment in an associate

An associate is an entity over which
the Group has significant influence.
Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the
investee but is not control or joint
control over those policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Investment in an associate
(Continued)

The results and assets and liabilities
of the associates are incorporated
in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of
accounting. The financial statements of
associates used for equity accounting
purposes are prepared using uniform
accounting policies as those of the
Group for like transactions and events
in similar circumstances. Under the
equity method, an investment in an
associate is initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter
fo recognise the Group’s share of the
profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the associates. When the
Group’s share of losses of an associate
exceeds the Group's interest in that
associate, the Group discontinues
recognising ifs share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to
the extent that the Group has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of the
associate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Investment in an associate
(Continued)

An investment in an associate is
accounted for using the equity method
from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate. On acquisition
of the investment in an associate, any
excess of the cost of the investment
over the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of the investee is recognised
as goodwill, which is included within
the carrying amount of the investment.
Any excess of the Group’s share of
the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of
the investment, after reassessment, is
recognised immediately in profit or loss
in the period in which the investment is
acquired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Investment in an associate
(Continued)

The Group assesses whether there is
objective evidence that the interests
in an associate may be impaired.
When any objective evidence exists,
the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is
tested for impairment in accordance
with HKAS 36 as a single asset by
comparing ifs recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair
value less costs of disposal) with its
carrying amount. Any impairment
loss recognised is not allocated to
any assets, including goodwill, that
forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of
that impairment loss is recognised in
accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent
that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-_Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. RENBBRRZEHREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KRETHERER (B)
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies 32EAREHBERER ()

information (Continued)

Investment in an associate
(Continued)

When the Group ceases to have
significant influence over an associate,
it is accounted for as a disposal of the
entire interest in the investee with a
resulting gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss. The difference between
the carrying amount of the associate
and the fair value of any retained
infterest and any proceeds from
disposing of the relevant inferests
in the associate is included in the
determination of the gain or loss on
disposal of the associate. In addition,
the Group accounts for all amounts
previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to
that associate on the same basis as
would be required if that associate
had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a
gain or loss previously recognised
in other comprehensive income by
that associate would be reclassified
to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities, the Group
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity
tfo profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) upon disposal of the
relevant associate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Investment in an associate
(Continued)

When a group entity fransacts with ifs
associate of the Group, profits and
losses resulting from the fransactions
with the associate are recognised in
the consolidated financial statements
only to the extent of interests in the
associate that are not related to the
Group.

Revenue from contracts with
customers

The Group recognises revenue when
(or as) a performance obligation is
satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the
goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a
good or service (or a bundle of goods
or services) that is distinct or a series
of distinct goods or services that are
substantially the same.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-HNF=A=t+—-HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MEMBBRZEHREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL RETABRESR (B)
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies 32EAREHBERER ()
information (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with EBEELAIWA ()

customers (Continued)

Except for granting a licence that is MREEHEEMAGERBIBBE AR 2
distinct from other promised goods or BHEN FEUTHEP —BEAE,
services, control is tfransferred over time Bli4|EREREEER Mk A B2
and revenue is recognised over time ErEITHERANETZEREBRM
by reference to the progress towards MERFRE ST

complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the
following criteria is met:

the customer simultaneously . RAEAEEENRE  ZEERBERE
receives and consumes the WA AREEBYFRMEZFZF;

benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group

performs;

the Group’s performance creates - FAEEEBANELSRA-—EE
or enhances an asset that the E O OMZBEEENAEBEBAR
customer controls as the Group HEFZES =

performs; or

the Group’s performance does - AEEBANUARELEZEAEES
not create an asset with an BRAZZEE BXRKEEHE
alternative use to the Group and SEERBHNZAFRAEEAEE
the Group has an enforceable AT ZRER -

right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at SR MAREFESER DGR
a point in fime when the customer TP EIRE 2 B RE BEFESE o

obtains confrol of the distinct good or

service.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with
customers (Continued)

For granting of a licence that is disfinct
from other promised goods or services,
the nature of the Group’s promise
in granting a licence is a promise to
provide a right to access the Group’s
intellectual property (°IP*) if all of the
following criteria are met:

the confract requires, or the
customer reasonably expects, that
the Group will undertake activities
that significantly affect the IP fo
which the customer has rights;

the rights granted by the licence
directly expose the customer fo
any positive or negative effects
of the Group’s activities identified
above; and

those activities do not result in the
tfransfer of a good or a service to
the customer as those activities
ocCcur.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-HNF=A=t+—-HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MEMBBRZEHREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL RETABRESR (B)
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies

il

’

32EAREFHEKREN (E)

information (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with
customers (Continued)

If the criterias above are met, the Group
accounts for the promise to grant a
licence as a performance obligation
satisfied over time. Otherwise, the
Group considers the grant of licence
as providing the customers the right to
use the Group’s IP and the performance
obligation is satisfied at a point in time at
which the licence is granted.

A contract asset represents the Group’s
right to consideration in exchange for
goods that the Group has transferred to
a customer that is not yet unconditional.
[t is assessed for impairment in
accordance with HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group’s unconditional
right to consideration, i.e. only the
passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the
Group’s obligation fo transfer goods
or services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or
an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with
customers (Continued)

A contract asset and a contract liability
relating to the same contract are
accounted for and presented on a net
basis.

Contracts with multiple performance
obligations (including allocation of
fransaction price)

For contracts that contain more than
one performance obligations, the
Group allocates the transaction price
to each performance obligation on a
relative stand-alone selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the
distinct good or service underlying
each performance obligation is
determined at contract inception.
It represents the price at which the
Group would sell a promised good or
service separately fo a customer. If a
stand-alone selling price is not directly
observable, the Group estimates it
using appropriate techniques such
that the transaction price ultimately
allocated to any performance
obligation reflects the amount of
consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange
for transferring the promised goods or
services to the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-HNF=A=t+—-HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MEMBBRZEHREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL RETABRESR (B)
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies 32EAREHBERER ()

information (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with
customers (Continued)

Over time revenue recognitions:
measurement of progress fowards
complete satistaction of a performance
obligation

Output method

The progress fowards complete satisfaction
of a performance obligation is measured
based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct
measurements of the value of the goods
or services transferred to the customer fo
date relafive to the remaining goods or
services promised under the contract, that
best depict the Group’s performance in
fransferring control of goods or services.

Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable
consideration, the Group estimates
the amount of consideration to which
it will be entitled using the most likely
amount, which better predicts the
amount of consideration to which the
Group will be entitled.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with
customers (Continued)

Over time revenue recognitions:
measurement of progress fowards
complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation (Continued)

Variable consideration (Continued)

The estimated amount of variable
consideration is included in fthe
fransaction price only to the exftent
that it is highly probable that such an
inclusion will not result in a significant
revenue reversal in the future when
the uncertainty associated with the
variable consideration is subsequently
resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the
Group updates the estimated transaction
price (including updating its assessment
of whether an estimate of variable
consideration is constrained) to represent
faithfully the circumstances present at
the end of the reporting period and the
changes in circumstances during the
reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-HNF=A=t+—-HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. REVEBRRZEREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL RETHEER (B)
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies 32EAREHBERER ()
information (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with BEELSAHKA (&)
customers (Continued)

Over time revenue recognitions: BERF [ TE A W 7s - Tk JEH & 1F
measurement of progress towards HEEZEHE(E)

complete satistaction of a performance
obligation (Continued)

Variable consideration (Continued) AERE (B

Notwithstanding the above criteria, BERELMEE XEEER (HFH)
the Group shall recognise revenue for THIEREIRE  DAMRELUHEE
a sales-based or usage-based royalty HNFRAEARE S ERINAR
promised in exchange for a licence EEREEINE

of IP only when (or as) the later of the
following events occurs:

the subsequent sale or usage . HEHERSFEAELR &
occurs; and

the performance obligation to . Mo EUHEESFERAES
which some or all of the sales- EECETAECEIBRZENE
based or usage-based royalty has FEEX (KD EK) °

been allocated has been satisfied
(or partially satisfied).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with
customers (Continued)

Sale with a right of return/exchange

For the sale of products with a right
of retfurn/exchange for dissimilar
products, the Group recognised all of
the following:

(a) revenue for the transferred products
in the amount of consideration
tfo which the Group expects to
be entitled (therefore, revenue
would not be recognised for the
products expected to be returned/
exchanged);

(b) a refund liability/contract liability;
and

(¢) an asset (and corresponding
adjustment fo cost of sales) for
its right to recover products from
customers and are presented as
right to returned goods asset.

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023-2024

RZRBEERE
BHE(E)

N

32EXREFHEKREN (H)

BEFEHUA (&)

WwERE TR EAHE

BMARE ERFEERENNE
MIFEMS  AEEBBIUT B :

(o) BXREEAEFARRDNRES
HRACEEERIWE (Bt
BrIERBATRE MENER
BRWE) ;

(b) BHEME SHEE &

(c) MEBEFEF WD E MK ER ®
REE (RYHEEXTFHEESR
B) Y2IAEAWERELER
BEEMNER -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with
customers (Continued)

Contract costs

Incremental costs of obtaining a
contract

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract
are those costs that the Group incurs to
obtain a contract with a customer that it
would not have incurred if the contract
had not been obtained.

The Group recognises such cosfts
(i.e., royalty expenses) as an asset if
it expects to recover these costs. The
asset so recognised is subsequently
amortised to profit or loss on a
systematic basis that is consistent with
the transfer to the customer of the
goods or services to which the assets
relate.

fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-HNF=A=t+—-HILFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with
customers (Continued)

Contract costs (Continued)
Costs to fulfil a contract

The Group incurs costs fo fulfil a contract
in its digital marketing business and
publishing and intellectual properties
("IPs”) licensing business. The Group
first assesses whether these costs qualify
for recognition as an asset in terms of
other relevant standards, failing which it
recognises an asset for these costs only
if they meet all of the following criteria:

(a) the costs relate directly to a contract
or to an anficipated contract that
the Group can specifically identify;

(b) the costs generate or enhance
resources of the Group that will be
used in satisfying (or in continuing
to satisfy) performance obligations
in the future; and

(c) the costs are expected to be
recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-HNF=A=t+—-HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MEMBBRZEHREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL RETABRESR (B)
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies

il

’

32EAREFHEKREN (E)

information (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with EEEHWA ()
customers (Continued)

Contract costs (Continued) A AL (E)
Costs to fulfil a contract (Continued) AR A ()

The asset so recognised is subsequently
amortised to profit or loss on a
systematic basis that is consistent

MEERANEEHRSREQETFE
BZESEEHBZERIRBT -2
EGEEERETHE FHEEAR

with the transfer to the customer of ETRERE ©
the goods or services to which the

assets relate. The asset is subject to

impairment review.

Leases HE
Definition of a lease HEZE&

A contract is, or contains, a lease
if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset
for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

For contracts entered info or modified
on or after the date of inifial application
or arising from business combinations,
the Group assesses whether a contract
is or contains a lease based on the
definition under HKFRS 16 at inception,
modification date or acquisition date,
as appropriate. Such contract will
not be reassessed unless the terms
and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.

HENBBMREMmS TE-—RED
WEFIEHNEEZERE  AIZSE
HEHERESHEE -

BRREXEABPR 2RI LHIEK
PFHEBEHEEZENME » &E
EREEBVHRELENEIORZE
ENVBEHEREHIWERH (]
ERABRME) FEZENREEAHA
ERREHE BRIZEHVZHBIR
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FEH M -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to
components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease
component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in
the contfract to each lease component
on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the
non-lease components. The Group
also applies practical expedient not to
separate non-lease components from
lease component, and instead account
for the lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a
single lease component.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to leases that
have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option.
Lease payments on short-term leases
are recognised as expense on a
straight-line basis or another systematic
basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-HNF=A=t+—-HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. REVEBRRZEREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL RETHEER (B)
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies 32 EAREHHBEER (B)

information (Continued)

Leases (Continued) HE (&)

The Group as a lessee (Continued) KEEEREHAA (B)
Right-of-use assets EREEE

The cost of right-of-use asset includes: ERABEERANEEE

the amount of the initial measurement
of the lease liability;

any lease payments made at or
before the commencement date,
less any lease incentives received;
and

any initial direct costs incurred by
the Group.

Right-of-use assets are measured atf cosf,
less any accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of
its estimated useful life and the lease
term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as
a separate line item on the consolidated
statement of financial position.

NS EHEREZERE

RBEAE B # Rz Bl A 2 AR
ENRRAEAEREERE R

AEBREEZEMDBEER
$ [

ERAREEDRARNBREMRAINE
KBEFBETE  TREMNESEE
EFTEFHAR-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Confinued)
Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are
accounted under HKFRS 9 and initially
measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition
are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of
right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease,
the Group recognises and measures
the lease liability at the present value
of lease payments that are unpaid at
that date. In calculating the present
value of lease payments, the Group
uses the incremental borrowing rate at
the lease commencement date if the
interest rate implicit in the lease is not
readily determinable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-HNF=A=t+—-HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEMBBRRZGEHREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL AREFBERER (B)
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies 32 EAREHHBEER (B)
information (Continued)
Leases (Continued) HE (#&)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) KEFEARFAA ()
Lease liabilities (Continued) HEAE(E)
The lease payments include: HEMRERE
fixed payments (including in- - EER(BREBEEEMASR) R
substance fixed payments) less FATKEEER &
any lease incentives receivable;
and
payments of penalties for ferminating - (HEENMAEERSTFERIER
a lease, if the lease term reflects KRIEFHER KLEHEEZEXK-
the Group exercising an option fo
ferminate the lease.
After the commencement date, lease REBBEE HEEERERNSE
liabilities are adjusted by interest REBENRELFE -
accretfion and lease payments.
The Group presents lease liabilities as a AEBRGEUHBERAIREEEEE
separate line item on the consolidated B IEEZY -

statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Confinued)
Lease modification

The Group accounts for a lease modification
as a separate lease if:

the modification increases the
scope of the lease by adding the
right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

the consideration for the leases
increases by an amount commensurate
with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price
fo reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-HNF=A=t+—-HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. REVEBRRZEREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL RETHEER (B)
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies 32 EAREHHBEER (B)

information (Continued)

Leases (Continued) HE (&)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) KEEEREHAA (B)
Lease modification (Continued) HEBR(E)

For a lease modification that is not
accounted for as a separate lease,
the Group remeasures the lease
liability, less any lease incentives
receivable, based on the lease ferm of
the modified lease by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of
the modification.

The Group accounts for the
remeasurement of lease liabilities by
making corresponding adjustments to
the relevant right-of-use assef. When
the modified contract contains one or
more additional lease components,
the Group allocates the consideration
in the modified contract to each
lease component on the basis of the
relative stand-alone price of the lease
component. The associated non-lease
components are included in the
respective lease components.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements
of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than
the functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchanges prevailing
on the dates of the fransactions.
At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that dafte. Non-monetary
items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies
are refranslated at the rates prevailing
on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that
are measured in ferms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the
seftlement of monetary items, and on
the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Confinued)

For the purposes of presenting the
consolidated financial statements, the
assets and liabilities of the Group's
operations are franslated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e.
HKS) using exchange rates prevailing
at the end of each reporting period.
Income and expenses items are
franslated at the average exchange
rates for the period, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during that
period, in which case the exchange
rates at the date of transactions
are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the
heading of translation reserve
(attributed to non-conftrolling inferests
as appropriate).

Foreign operation is a subsidiary or an
associate of the Company, of which
the functional currency is different
from the functional currency of the
Company, either before or after the
change of functional currency of the
Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE_T_NF=A=1T—-HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Confinued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation
(that is, a disposal of the Group’s entire
interest in a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of control over
a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, or a partial disposal of an
interest in an associate that includes a
foreign operation of which the retained
interest becomes a financial asset), the
exchange differences accumulated
in equity in respect of that operation
resulting from translation to functional
currency of the Company attributable
to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial
disposal of a subsidiary that does not
result in the Group losing confrol over
the subsidiary, the proportionate share
of accumulated exchange differences
is re-aftributed to non-controlling
interests and are not recognised
in profit or loss. For all other partial
disposals (i.e. partial disposals of
associates that do not result in the
Group losing significant influence),
the proportionate share of the
accumulated exchange differences is
reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Confinued)

Exchange differences relating to the
retranslafion of the Group’s net assets
in RMB to the Group’s presentation
currency (i.e. HKS) are recognised
directly in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in translation
reserve. Such exchange differences
accumulated in the translation reserve
are not reclassified to profit or loss
subsequently.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets,
which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their infended use or
sale, are added to the cost of those
assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended
use or sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Borrowing costs (Continued)

Any specific borrowing that remains
outstanding after the related asset is
ready for its intended use or sale is
included in the general borrowing pool
for calculation of capitalisation rate on
general borrowings. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which
they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised
until there is reasonable assurance
that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and the
grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised
in profit or loss on a systematic basis
over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related
costs for which the grants are infended
to compensate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-HNF=A=t+—-HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. REVEBRRZEREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL RETHEER (B)
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies 32 EAREHHBEER (B)

information (Continued)
Government grants (Confinued)

Government grants related to income
that are receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred

BT 8 (4F)

HWABBEZBWHFMBITBED
EERXIBRE2HE  SBELET
NE BB B RS ST R o T3 R R SR AE

or for the purpose of giving immediate B A - R B A A A FE UL FIE A
financial support to the Group with no BREBSEPER WEHEAUg A 1B
future related costs are recognised in T25% o

profit or loss in the period in which they

become receivables. Such grants are

presented under “other income”.

Employee benefits 1ES 5 7

Retirement benefit costs RK7E FI B 2K

Payments to the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (the "MPF Scheme”) and
the state-managed retirement benefit

HEFMoBEEta (BESTE D)
REREZRAKBATENUR £
EERHERB LT ZS HRE T AR

plans are recognised as an expense B o
when employees have rendered service

entitling them to the contributions.

Termination benefits AR IEE

A liability for a termination benefit is
recognised at the earlier of when the
Group entity can no longer withdraw
the offer of the termination benefit
and when it recognises any related
restructuring costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)
Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are
recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered
the services. All short-tferm employee
benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another HKFRS requires or
permits the inclusion of the benefit in
the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits
accruing to employees (such as wages
and salaries), after deducting any
amount already paid.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-_Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. RENBBRRZEHREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KRETHERER (B)
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies 32 EAREHHBEER (B)

information (Continued)
Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments
to employees are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the
grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled
share-based payments determined
at the grant date without taking
into consideration all non-market
vesting condifions is expensed on
a straight-line basis over the vesting
period, based on the Group’s estimate
of equity instruments that will eventually
vest, with a corresponding increase
in equity (share options reserve). At
the end of each reporting period,
the Group revises its estimate of the
number of equity instruments expected
to vest based on assessment of all
relevant non-market vesting conditions.
The impact of the revision of the
original estimates, if any, is recognised
in profit or loss such that the cumulative
expense reflects the revised estimate,
with a corresponding adjustment to
the share options reserve. For share
options that vest immediately at the
date of grant, the fair value of the
share options granted is expensed
immediately fo profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment
fransactions (Continued)

Share options granted to employees
(Continued)

When share options are exercised,
the amount previously recognised in
share options reserve will be transferred
to share premium. When the share
options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share opfions reserve will
be fransferred to accumulated losses.

When the terms and conditions of an
equity-settled share-based payment
arrangement are modified, the
Group recognises as a minimum, the
services received measured at the
grant date fair value of the equity
instfruments granted, unless those
equity instruments do not vest because
of failure to satisfy a vesting condition
(other than a market condifion)
that was specified at grant date. In
addition, if the Group modifies the
vesting conditions (other than a
market condition) in a manner that
is beneficial to the employees, for
example, by reducing the vesting
period, the Group takes the modified
vesting conditions into consideration
over the remaining vesting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment
fransactions (Continued)

Share options granted to
non-employees

Equity-settled share-based payment
fransactions with parties other than
employees are measured at the fair
value of the goods or services received,
except where that fair value cannot be
estimated reliably, in which case they
are measured at the fair value of the
equity instruments granted, measured
at the date the entity obtains the goods
or the counterparty renders the service.
The fair values of the goods or services
received are recognised as expenses
(unless the goods or services qualify for
recognition as assets).

fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-HNF=A=t+—-HILFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum
of current and deferred income fax
expense.

The tax currently payable is based on
taxable profit for the year. Taxable
profit differs from ‘loss before tax’
because of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group’s liability
for current tax is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE_ZT_NMF=A=1T—-HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. RENBBRRZEHREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KRETHERER (B)
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

3.2 EREFHEER(BE)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary
differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and
the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are
generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised.

#IE (&)
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Such deferred assets and liabilities H,HEZEHRBESLRAEES -
are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial
recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities
in a transaction that affects neither
the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit and at the time of the fransaction
does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences. In
addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of
goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised
for taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in
subsidiaries and inferest in an
associate, except where the Group
is able to conftrol the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred ftax assefs arising from
deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised fo the
extent that it is probable that there will
be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax
assetfs is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the
asset to be recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-HNF=A=t+—-HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MEMBBRZEHREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL RETABRESR (B)
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies

il

’

3.2 EAREFHEREN(E)

information (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is seftled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rate (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax
liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow
from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting
period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of ifs assets and liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the
tax deductions are attributable to the
lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 requirements to the lease liabilities
and the related assets separately. The
Group recognises a deferred tax asset
related to lease liabilities to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the
deductible temporary difference can
be utilised and a deferred tax liability
for all taxable temporary differences.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred ftax assets and liabilities
are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and
when they relate to income taxes levied
to the same taxation entity by the same
taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised
in profit or loss. Where current tax
or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination,
the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment held for use
in the production or supply of goods
or services, or for administration
purpose are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at
cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-HNF=A=t+—-HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. REVEBRRZEREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL RETHEER (B)
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies 32 EAREHHBEER (B)

information (Continued)
Property and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to
write off the cost of assetfs less their
residual values over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line
method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate accounted
for on a prospective basis.

An item of property and equipment
is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued
use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property and equipment is
determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised
in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Infangible assets with finite useful
lives that are acquired separately are
carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives
is recognised on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis.
Infangible assets with indefinite useful
lives that are acquired separately are
carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.

Internally-generated intangible assets -
research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is
recognised as an expense in the period
in which it is incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-HNF=A=t+—-HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. REVEBRRZEREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL RETHEER (B)
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies 32 EAREHHBEER (B)

information (Continued)
Intangible assets (Continued)

Internally-generated intangible assets -
research and development expenditure
(Continued)

An internally-generated intangible as
set arising from development activities
(or from the development phase of an
internal project) is recognised if, and
only if, all of the following have been
demonstrated:

the technical feasibility of completing
the intangible asset so that it will be
available for use or sale;

the infention to complete the intangible
asset and use or sell it;

the ability to use or sell the intangible
asset;

how the intangible asset will generate
probable future economic benefits;

the availability of adequate technical,
financial and other resources to
complete the development and to
use or sell the intangible asset; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Internally-generated intangible assets -
research and development expenditure
(Continued)

the ability to measure reliably
the expenditure attributable to
the infangible asset during its
development.

The amount initially recognised for
internally-generated intangible asset
is the sum of the expenditure incurred
from the date when the intangible asset
first meets the recognition criteria listed
above. Where no internally-generated
infangible asset can be recognised,
development expenditure is recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which it
is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition,
infernally-generated intangible assets
are reported at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses (if any), on the same
basis as intangible assets that are
acquired separately.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-HNF=A=t+—-HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MEMBBRZEHREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL RETABRESR (B)
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies

il

’

3.2 EAREFHEREN(E)

information (Continued)
Intangible assets (Continued)

Infangible assets acquired in a
business combination

Infangible assets acquired in a
business combination are recognised
separately from goodwill and are
initially recognised at their fair value af
the acquisition date (which is regarded
as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition,
infangible assets acquired in a
business combination with finite
useful lives are reported at costs less
accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses, on the
same basis as intfangible assets that
are acquired separately. Intangible
assets acquired in a business
combination with indefinite useful lives
are carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on
disposal, or when no future economic
benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset,
measured at the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset, are
recognised in profit or loss when the
asset is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policies

information (Confinued)

Impairment on property and
equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the
Group reviews the carrying amounts
of its property and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets with
finite useful lives to determine whether
there is any indication that these
assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant
asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss (if
any). Infangible assets with indefinite
useful lives and intangible assets not
yet available for use are tested for
impairment at least annually, and
whenever there is an indication that
they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property
and equipment, right-of-use assefs
and intangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the CGU to
which the asset belongs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. REVEBRRZEREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KRETHERER (B)
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies 32EAREHBEER ()

information (Continued)

Impairment on property and
equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets other than goodwill
(Continued)

In testing a CGU for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to
the relevant CGU when a reasonable
and consistent basis of allocation
can be established, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group
of CGUs for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be
established. The recoverable amount
is determined for the CGU or group
of CGUs to which the corporate asset
belongs, and is compared with the
carrying amount of the relevant CGU or
group of CGUs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of
fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a CGU) for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not
been adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Impairment on property and
equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets other than goodwill
(Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an
asset (or a CGU) is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a
CGU) is reduced to ifs recoverable
amount. For corporate assets or
portion of corporate assefts which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable
and consistent basis to a CGU, the
Group compares the carrying amount
of a group of CGUs, including the
carrying amounts of the corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of CGUs, with
the recoverable amount of the group
of CGUs. In allocating the impairment
loss, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill (if applicable) and
then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount
of each asset in the unit or the group
of CGUs. The carrying amount of an
asset is not reduced below the highest
of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount
of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to
the asset is allocated pro rata to the
other assets of the unit or the group of
CGUs. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Impairment on property and
equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets other than goodwill
(Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently
reverses, the carrying amount of the
asset (or CGU or a group of CGUs) is
increased to the revised estimate of
its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or a CGU or a group of
CGUs) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of
cost and NRV. Costs of inventories are
determined on a weighted average
method. NRV represents the estimated
selling price for inventories less costs
necessary to make the sale.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-HNF=A=t+—-HILFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE_T_NF=A=1T—-HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities
are recognised when a group entity
becomes a party tfo the confractual
provisions of the instruments. All
regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a frade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the
tfime frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities
are initially measured at fair value
except for frade receivables arising
from confracts with customers which
are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers. Transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets and financial
liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss ("FVTPL") and at fair value
through other comprehensive income
(C"FVTOCI") are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial
assetfs or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable
to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at FVTPL and FVTOCI
are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a
method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an
infegral part of the effective interest
rate, fransaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability, or, where appropriate,
a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. REW
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL Regst
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies 32EARETFHEER(B)
information (Confinued)

Financial instruments (Continued) e TA(E)

Financial assets TR EE

Classification and subsequent PREEZOERRBREFE
measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following RETIHHRGEZeRMEENDHERE
conditions are subsequently measured SHA AT 2

at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a - ZEREERUBRBEANRESR
business model whose objective is EAENZEERLTEE K
to collect contractual cash flows;

and

the contractual terms give rise on - BHBRRSREEBRHELEZR
specified dates to cash flows that EREERAINEERREER
are solely payments of principal SREZAE -

and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-HNF=A=t+—-HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. REVEBRRZEREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL RETHEER (B)
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies 32 EAREHHEER (B)
information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) @I E(E)
Financial assets (Continued) eHEE (&)
Classification and subsequent CRMEEZIEREENE (B)
measurement of financial assets
(Continued)
Financial assets that meet the following TETIGREzeMmEENEEZRD
conditions are subsequently measured FEEETAEMEZENWESEITE :
at FVTOCI:
the financial asset is held within a . ZEeMEERBERLLEE R WE
business model whose objective EHNEREREAENZBHEER
is achieved by both selling and THE &
collecting contractual cash flows;
and
the contractual terms give rise on . BHRRSABTEHELEZR
specified dates to cash flows that EREERINEERKREBER
are solely payments of principal SHZAE -

and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently FEHEMERmEEHEBIR AT EES

measured at FVTPL, except that at initfial AEBRERTE HREAAEZSRE
recognition of a financial asset the ER - MFESEREREUEESR

Group may irrevocably elect to present NREB R UAHELEERNEME
subsequent changes in fair value of an HUE2IRERELAFEEE2HERE
equity investment in other comprehensive EE o

income if that equity investment is not held

for trading.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent
measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for
the purpose of selling in the near
term; or

on initial recognition it is a part of
a portfolio of identified financial
instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking;
or

it is a derivative that is not designated
and effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably
designate a financial asset that
are required to be measured at the
amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured
at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting
mismartch.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-HNF=A=t+—-HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. REVEBRRZEREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL RETHEER (B)
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies 32 EAREHHEER (B)

information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) @I E(E)
Financial assets (Continued) eHEE (&)
Amortised cost and interest income oA RFE WA

Interest income is recognised using the
effective interest method for financial
assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective
intferest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset from the next
reporting period. If the credit risk on
the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective
inferest rate to the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset from the beginning
of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer
credit-impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Equity instruments designated as at
FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at
FVTOCI are subsequently measured at
fair value with gains and losses arising
from changes in fair value recognised
in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the FVTOCI reserve;
and are not subject to impairment
assessment. The cumulative gain or loss
will not be reclassified to profit or loss
on disposal of the equity investments,
and will be transferred to accumulated
losses.

Dividends from these investments in
equity instruments are recognised in
profit or loss when the Group’s right to
receive the dividends is established,
unless the dividends clearly represent
a recovery of part of the cost of the
investment. Dividends are included in
the “other income” line item in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-_Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. RENBBRRZEHREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL RETHEER (B)
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies 32 EAREHHEER (B)

information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assefs that do not meet
the criteria for being measures at
amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated
as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured
at fair value at the end of each
reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or
loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss excludes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial asset
and is included in the “other gains or
losses” line item.

Impairment of financial assets and
contract assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model on
financial assetfs (including frade
receivables, other receivables,
deposits, loan receivables and bank
balances and cash at financial
institutions) and contract assets which
are subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

and contract assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will
result from all possible default events
over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
("12m ECL") represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result
from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting
date. Assessments are done based
on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and
an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well
as the forecast of future conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

and contract assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime
ECL for trade receivables and contract
assets. The ECL on these assetfs are
assessed individually.

For all other instruments, the Group
measures the loss allowance equal
fo 12m ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, in which
case the Group recognises lifefime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or
risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

and contract assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit
risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the
Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date
with the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as
at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the
Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience
and forward-looking information
that is available without undue
cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

and contract assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk
(Continued)

In particular, the following information
is taken into account when assessing
whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

an actual or expected significant
deterioratfion in the financial
instrument’s external (if available)
or internal credit rafing;

significant deterioration in
external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread,
the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse
changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the
debtor’'s ability fo meet its
debft obligations;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. REW
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL Regst
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies 32 EAREHBEER (B)
information (Confinued)

RemREERE
a8 0E)

Financial instruments (Continued) SHTAE)
Financial assets (Continued) EHEE (&)
Impairment of financial assets BEEBVMBRELZERNEGRETH
and contract assets subject to BEFftzeREERGHNEEZRE
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (&)
(Continued)
(i) Significant increase in credit risk (i) EERBEXIELAE)
(Continued)
In particular, the following information LTER EFLEEERRBES
is taken info account when assessing BIEHNES > EZEUTER : (&)

whether credit risk has increased
significantly: (Continued)

an actual or expected significant . ERAKRESEBEHRASERY
deterioration in the operating FEHEEEL R

results of the delbtor; and

an actual or expected - BEBRANES - KBS FEM
significant adverse change in BRRERERYEHRERE
the regulatory, economic, or RAFEE > ATgEEHER
fechnological environment of the AfBEREH KIE TR o

debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

and contract assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

)

Significant increase in credit risk
(Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of
the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days
past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates
otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the
effectiveness of the criteria used
to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate
to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

and contract assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

(i) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management,
the Group considers an event of
default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained
from exfternal sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in
full (without taking info account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the
Group considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Confinued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

and contract assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired
when one or more events of
default that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future
cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about
the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty
of the issuer or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as
a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower,
for economic or confractual
reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the
borrower a concession(s)
that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable
that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

and contract assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial
asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty
is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed
under liquidation or has entered
info bankruptcy proceedings, or
in the case of frade receivables,
when the amounts are over
three years past due, whichever
occurs sooner. Financial assets
written off may sftill be subject to
enforcement activities under the
Group’s recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

and contract assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of
ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function
of the probability of default, loss
given default (i.e. the magnitude of
the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical
data and forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that
is determined with the respective risks
of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference
between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects
fo receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. REW
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL Regst
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies 32 EAREHBEER (B)
information (Confinued)

RZRBEERE
BHE(E)

N

Financial instruments (Continued) SHTAE)

Financial assets (Continued) EHEE (&)

Impairment of financial assets BEEBVMBRELZERNEGRETH

and contract assets subject to BEFftzeREERGHNEEZRE

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (&)

(Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of (V) EHEESENGTERER (&)
ECL (Continued)
For collective assessment, the BERTEME  ~AEER A
Group takes into consideration BREZELTEE:

the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

Past due status; « BEBR
Nature, size and industry of s EBEBANMEE - BERIT
debtors; and E
External credit ratings where c  HARANFEEFTHR-
available.
The grouping is regularly reviewed PTHEHEEEEHER  UBRSA
by management to ensure the AR NAKEBEENAEBEUNG
constituents of each group continue to EE kY o

share similar credit risk characteristics.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

and contract assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

Interest income is calculated based
on the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset unless the financial
asset is credit- impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on
amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment
gain or loss in profit or loss for all
financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount, with the exception
of frade receivables and other
receivables where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a
loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial
asset only when the contractual rights
tfo the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset
and substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset to
another party.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets
(Continued)

On derecognition of a financial asset at
amortised cost, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and
receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

On derecognition of an investment
in equity instrument which the Group
has elected on inifial recognition to
measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative
gain or loss previously accumulated in
the FVTOCI reserve is not reclassified
to profit or loss, but is transferred to
accumulated losses.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are
classified as either financial liabilities
or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions
of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023-2024

32EARSEHEREN(E)

2T A (&)
e EE (&)
RIFEREMEE (B)

RIEBAUBERATECERHEE
B AHEEZREERACS KRER
REBN =8 SRERFER -

ERIERAEERVNEEAGEE
BAVEEFAEMEZEREEN
BRATARER  ERRAREQF
BE At 2w W s R 1B 8 BTl
BREBRTEEN I REEE  HE
BERIERE -

TEREBIRA

EBEERATADRESNRZEZR
REEsMEEERATAZERTN
THEATHMEEIRA -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-HNF=A=t+—-HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MEMBBRZEHREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL RETABRESR (B)
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies 32 EAREHHEER (B)

information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity
(Continued)

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any confract
that evidences a residual interest in the
assets of an entity after deducting all of
its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Company are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including tfrade
payables, other payables and accrued
charges, loans from a shareholder,
loans from directors and lease
liabilities are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial
liabilities when, and only when, the
Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The
difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting
policies, which are described in Note 3, the
directors are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and underlying
assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions
are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions
to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in
the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

The following are the key assumptions
concerning the future, and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period that may have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year.

4.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Confinued)

NRV assessment for inventories

At the end of the reporting period, the
management carries out inventory review
on a product-by-product basis. The Group
performed the inventory review including
estimation of the respective NRV which was
determined as the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business less the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
The Group estimates the NRV for inventories
by taken into account a number of factors
including prices of actual sales during and/
or subsequent to the reporting period and
independent market information in relation
fo each of the inventories held by the
Group. The amount of allowance would be
changed as a result of changes in current
market conditions subsequently.

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying
amount of the Group’s inventories was
approximately HK$32,008,000, net of
allowance of HKSNil (2023: HK$34,359,000,
net of allowance of HKSNil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

4.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Confinued)

Provision of ECL for trade
receivables

Trade receivables are assessed for ECL
individually. The provision of ECL is sensitive
to changes in estimate. The information
about the ECL and the Group’s trade
receivables are disclosed in Note 38b.

Valuation of share options

As mentioned in Note 34, the Group has
granted share options to a director and a
consultant during the year ended 31 March
2023. The directors of the Company have
used a Binomial Model to determine the fair
value of the options granted. The Binomial
Model requires the input of subjective
assumptions, such as risk-free rate, dividend
yield, expected volatility and expected
tferms, to be made by the directors of
the Company in applying the Binomial
Model (Note 34). The fair value of options
granted for the year ended 31 March 2023
determined using the Binomial Model was
approximately HK$3,753,000.

4.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Confinued)

Estimated impairment assessment
of property and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible
assets

Property and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets are stated at
costs less accumulated depreciation and
amortisation and impairment, if any. In
determining whether an asset is impaired,
the Group has to exercise judgement and
make estimation, particularly in assessing:
(1) whether an event has occurred or any
indicators that may affect the asset value;
(2) whether the carrying value of an asset
can be supported by the recoverable
amount, in the case of value in use, the net
present value of future cash flows which are
estimated based upon the confinued use
of the asset; and (3) the appropriate key
assumptions to be applied in estimating the
recoverable amounts including cash flow
projections and an appropriate discount
rate. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual
asset (including right-of-use assets and
intangible assets), the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash
generating unit to which the assets belong,
including allocation of corporate assets
when a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be established, otherwise
recoverable amount is determined at the
smallest group of cash generating units, for
which the relevant corporate assets have
been allocated. Changing the assumptions
and estimates, including the discount
rates or the growth rate in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the
recoverable amounts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

4.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Confinued)

Estimated impairment of an
associate

The Group determines whether impairment
loss should be recognised or reversed
for its intferest in an associate requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount of
the relevant associate which is the higher
of value in use and fair value less costs of
disposal. The management of the Group fo
estimates the value in use using the present
value of the estimated future cash flow
expected to arise from the associate. Where
the recoverable amount is less than or more
than expected, an additional impairment
loss or reversal of impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying
amount of the interests in an associatfe
was approximately HK$222,000 (2023:
HK$765,000). Impairment loss of
approximately HK$157,000 (2023: HKSNil)
was recognised in profit or loss during the
year ended 31 March 2024.

4.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Confinued)

Useful lives and amortisation
charges of intangible assets

The Group’'s management determines
the estimated useful lives and related
amortisation charges for the Group’s
infangible assets with reference to the
estimated periods that the Group intends
to derive future economic benefits from the
use of these assets. Management will revise
the amortisation charges where useful lives
are different to that of previously estimated,
or it will write-off or write-down technically
obsolete or non-strategic assets that have
been abandoned or sold. Actual economic
lives may differ from estimated useful lives.
Periodic review could result in a change in
depreciable lives and therefore amortisation
expense in future periods.

Fair value of financial assets at
FVTOCI

As at 31 March 2024, certain of the Group’s
financial assets amounting to approximately
HK$413,000 (2023: HKSNil) are measured at
fair value with fair value being determined
based on significant unobservable inputs
using valuation tfechniques, judgement
and estimation are required in establishing
the relevant valuation techniques and
the relevant imputes thereof. Changes
in assumptions or inputs could affect the
reported fair values of these instruments.
Details of valuation methodologies or inputs
are set out in Notfe 38c.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

5. REVENUE 5. LA
(i) Disaggregation of revenue (i) EFEHNBRAZTH
from contracts with customers
Year ended 31 March 2024
BECB-MEFZA=+-RALEE

Publishing Retailing Natural

and IPs Digital and  language
licensing  marketing  wholesales  processing Total

R AR HEL 2ER HARE
ERRE mEkE A RE #aR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TEn Thn TEn TEn

Timing of revenue recognition: BARAZKHE :
At a point in time: REEEY:
- Comic books sales -BEERME 12,419 - - - 12,419
- Royalty income from - RENBEERE
IPs licensing IR A 2,685 - - - 2,685
- New media advertising revenue - EBE& KA - 2,484 - - 2,484
- Sales of wine - BEEE - - 2,457 - 2,457
Over time: RERR:

- Social media marketing -HRBEDGEE - 13 - - 13
Total b 15,104 2,597 2,457 - 20,158
Geographical markets: HWEHE

Hong Kong (place of domicile) BA(E£E) 15,104 - 2,457 - 17,561
The PRC HE - 2,597 - - 2,597
Total @ 15,104 2,597 2,457 - 20,158
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5. REVENUE (Continued)

(i) Disaggregation of revenue
from contracts with customers
(Continued)

fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-HNF=A=t+—-HILFE

5. WA (8)
() BEFEHBRAZDN (E)

Year ended 31 March 2023
BE-E--F-H=t-HLEE

Publishing Retailing Natural

and IPs Digital and  language
licensing  markefing ~ wholesales  processing Total

IR A (4 2EH BRER
ERRE  TRER i RE AE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$"000
TiEn TiEn Tin TiEn TiEn

Timing of revenue recognition: BRAMAZKE

At a point in time: RERY
- Comic books sales -BEEEHE
- Royalty income from - REABEERRE
IPs licensing IR A
- New media advertising revenue - S BES WA
- Salles of wine - BEHE
Total ast
Geographical markets: WEmE:
Hong Kong (place of domicile) A (gxHiH)
The PRC mE
Tofal L H)

8,336 = = = 8,336
3,647 - - - 3,647
= 15,328 = = 15,328

= = 3,289 = 3,289
11,983 15,328 3,289 = 30,600
11,983 = 3,289 = 15,272
= 15,328 = = 15,328
11,983 15,328 3,289 = 30,600
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

5. REVENUE (Continued)

(ii) Performance obligations for

contracts with customers
Publishing and IPs licensing

The revenue from publishing and IPs
licensing includes comic book sales
to the wholesale market and royalty
income from IPs licensing.

For comic book sales, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when
control of the goods has transferred
according tfo respective agreed terms
of delivery, i.e. the goods have been
delivered to the wholesaler’'s specific
location. Following delivery, the
wholesaler has full discretion over the
manner of distribution and price to sell
the goods and has the right to return
unsold goods within 60 days under the
Group’s standard confract terms. The
normal credit term is 60 days upon
delivery.

For licensing business, the Group
grants its IPs to customers. Without
any promise to deliver other goods or
services, the customer can benefit from
the license that are readily available
and the license is considered as a
distinct performance obligation.
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(i) BEF AN BHRME
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BhEHEREERRARERRE
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5. REVENUE (Continued)
(ii) Performance obligations for

contracts with customers
(Continued)

Publishing and IPs licensing
(Continued)

The performance obligation provides
the customers with a right to use the
Group’s IPs as they exist at the point in
tfime at which the license is granted.
Given there is no explicit or implied
obligafion for the Group to undertake
activities during the license period to
change the form or functionality of the
IPs, or support or maintain the value
of the IPs, revenue is recognised at a
point in time.

The Group generally collects 1) the full
amount of contracted royalty income
before or when the IPs are provided to
customers; or 2) sales-based royalty
income that are attributable to a
license of the IPs when the subsequent
sales occur. For sales-based royalty,
customers agree the sales volume with
the Group each month and settle the
royalty with a credit term of 60 days.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-_Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

5. WA (8)

(i) BEF AN BORE (&)

IR R K% E R ()

BREEAEFRALBAEEAR
ERZERN HEGFEREEREZ
fiy ) B o 5B A 7N 5% [ 3F 4 AR AR S S R
ERENBANETEDRNENBRERE
MR INEE W FHEFAEE
BNEEZEE BHBAREEEHE
RETERD o

AEE-REEDHAMBEERBRMT
BEERHZA 2B AMERA ;
FAEELRBHETBRABERE
REZHERBWA - S EREM
S EFRAEREEAERLAEEEK
HEE  WLO0R EEMAEE RE
H o

i 3 N
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

5. REVENUE (Continued)

(ii) Performance obligations for

contracts with customers
(Continued)

Digital marketing

Revenue from digital marketing is
primarily derived from the marketing
services provided to the customer
through internet channel including
social media and internet website.
The marketing services include 1)
design and coordination of new
media advertising; 2) IPs digitalisation
for production and 3) social media
marketing with content development.

For new media advertising, since the
Group does not have an enforceable
right to payment for performance
completed to date, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when
the control of services or goods is
transferred to the customer, being
when the services are rendered and
control of goods are fransferred to
the customers. Certain conftracts
with customers contain multiple
distinct performance obligations to
be performed by the Group. The
Group uses its best estimate of selling
prices by expected cost plus a margin
approach of these service obligations
as the basis for the allocation of the
tfransaction price.
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5. WA (8)

(i) BEF AN BOHRME (E)
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5. REVENUE (Continued)
(ii) Performance obligations for

contracts with customers
(Continued)

Digital marketing (Continued)

For social media marketing, revenue
is recognised over time when the
customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the
Group’s performance as the Group
performs, i.e. the broadcast of the
advertisement.

The Group normally grants credit
period of 30 to 120 days to customers
and requires certain customers to
provide upfront deposits. When the
Group receives a deposit before
production commences, this will
give rise to contract liabilities which
represent the Group’s obligation
to fransfer goods or services to a
customer for which the Group has
received consideratfion (or an amount
of consideration is due) from the
customer. Conversely, contract asset
is recognised over the period in which
the social media marketing services
are performed representing the
Group’s right fo consideration for the
services performed because the rights
are conditioned on the Group’s future
performance in achieving specified
milestones. The contract assets are
fransferred to trade receivables when
the rights become unconditional, i.e.
upon completion of all performance
obligations within a contract.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-_Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

5. WA (8)

(i) EFEHZBAEE(E)

BT SHE(E)

HRHERFREH  REAKEBVRE -
EFEAKSERNBRITEAKESR
B S (ABRESE) BRIA -

AEE-—REFFREIOE1208F
B WERETEFRHANEE -
EXASERRERBARDNZSE It
HEELESHNERE AESHNARRE
AEEERERIBRBETFEFZ2EE
TEFLEEFURKE (HREESHE
) MR EHNEERBITHRE
EhmSEREREHERR  DEAEHE
RETRBUWEAEZER  TDEZ
ERMNBARAEENEREERR
B2 RRRE - EEF KD BEKMES
(MENREBNEETRE) &
HNEENBBERKRES RN -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

5. REVENUE (Continued)
(ii) Performance obligations for

5. A (&)
(i) BEF AN ZBHEE(E)

contracts with customers
(Continued)

Retailing and wholesales

Revenue from retailing and wholesales
is primarily derived from sales of wine.
Revenue is recognised at a point in
fime when the goods are delivered and
titles have passed. The normal credit
term is 60 days upon delivery.

Natural language processing

Revenue from natural language
processing business is primarily derived
from the sale of products and the
services with Al speech recognition
and natural language understanding
technology. The products include
software and embedded chipset, in
addition to devices installed with chips.
The services include licensing the code
to customers. Revenue is recognised
at a point in time when the control of
services or goods is transferred to the
customer, being when the services are
rendered and control of goods are
fransferred to the customers.

(iii)Transaction price allocated

to the remaining performance
obligation for contracts with
customers

All goods or services provided by the
Group are for contracts with original
expected duratfion of one year or
less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the
fransaction price allocated to these
unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fReMBEHE RN

Note i:

Mt &E -

Note ii:

During the year ended 31 March 2024,
the recovery of impairment loss on trade
receivables and prepayments previously
recognised were made in respect of civil
judgement received for the civil actions
by the Group against the suspected
misconduct behaviour of customers and
suppliers in digital marketing business.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the
subsidies included the amount of HK$Nil
(2023: HK$676,000) granted in relation to
the Employment Support Scheme ("ESS")
under the Anti-epidemic Fund provided
by the Government of Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region in respect of COVID-
19-related subsidies. The other subsidies
in both years were related to incentive
payments received by the Group. There
were no unfulfiled condifions atfached fo
these subsidies.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
2 E_NE=A=1+—HILFE
6. OTHER INCOME 6. HtW A
2024 2023
—E-_ME —E-=
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHERT FET
Bank interest income RITRE WA 177 215
Consultancy income LT ON a1 =
Dividend income from financial assets ZAFEEFTABRERZ

at FVTPL TREEZREWA 85 28
Imputed interest income from loan FERERNEERE WA

receivables 183 =
Investment income from financial RAFEEFARMEE

assets at FVTOCI KEzEMEEZRE

A 46 =
Recovery of impairment loss on trade  %ATERZEWRE S EX

receivables previously recognised R AEE B E (MEE)

(Note i) 1,491 -
Recovery of impairment loss on 5 Al 8 2 TR FRIB R E

prepayments previously recognised EE R mE (FaEi)

(Note i) 2,453 -
Subsidies (Note ii) 1 Bk (B =) 19 827
Sundry income HMIBEWA 143 104
Written off of other payables i1 85 L i & 1 TR 18 658 39
Written off of tfrade payables MEEFE(T E 5 IR 53 -

5,349 1,213

BE-Z-_NE=A=+—RHLEE A
RAEERBEBLTHBHEELRZ2EFR
REEE R T ETAEHNRS SR
MUNBIREHR  MEREATER 2 EUW
BoRARBNRE 2 RESEETRE -

BE-—Z-_NE=A=+—HLEEFE @&
BB E B4 BT HE BT 5 R 20198
NESRREEBRMA > FriRENmRR
BRESTRBESE (RIMUETED AT
BHHOEEBT (ZEZ=F : 676,000
7T) cREZMEEEHE HE@MhER
SEWENHBAREERE ZS@HLE
it % AT A R B AT BV AR A o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

7. OTHER GAINS OR LOSSES 7. Hitsmsk g8
2024 2023
—E_ME —EZ=5F
HK$’000 HKS$’000
FERT FET
Gain (loss) on fair value change of BROFEEFABRERZ
financial assets at FVTPL %Eﬂﬁéz/&%ﬂ%ﬁ%
Bz (F8)
- held for trading - BHEEE 439 (381)
- others - Hitp (6.375) (996)
Gain on deregistration of a subsidiary 84— REK B A 8 = W
(Note 36b) (HfEE36b) 10,942 42
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—BHB A Az W
(Note 360) (Fff=E360) 823 -
Gain (loss) on disposal of property and HEMER
equipment FEzWE (FHE) 3 (14)
Loss on written off of property and MEMERREBZER
equipment (%) =
Net foreign exchange loss EZEEFRE (2,499) (608)
3,328 (1,957)
8. FINANCE COSTS 8. MIKEH
2024 2023
—E_MF —E-=
HK$’000 HK$’'000
THERT FET
Interests on lease liabilities HEEBZFE 69 125
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9. OTHER IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-_Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

9. HttB{EKE

2024 2023
—E_ME —E=5F
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET FET
Impairment losses recognised in BRTIREBEEERIAZ

respect of VERIER R
- Associate (Note 19) - BEnE (MEE19) 157 -
- Intangible assets (Note 20) - B EE (Mia£20) — 245
- Prepayments (Note) - FEATFRIE (MIEE) 560 -
- Right-of-use assets (Note 17) - EABEE (MEE17) 254 1,778
971 2,023

Note: During the year ended 31 March 2024,
impairment loss of approximately HK$560,000 in
respect of prepayments to suppliers in publishing
and IPs licensing.

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION 10. 2 HEH

AHTES (IFREETELERKE
(EEEERFRE])) REUAMIBRERK
DM RAZENE IR AHEMR
CEREBRB2EE - BTFHEBETEH
Bz BEE  ARFEITRAEEZE

Wk BE-_Z_NE=BF=+—HLEEE EF@EH
HRRAEEEEEOMERELRENRE
K518 4 5560,0005% 7T °

Information reported to the executive
directors, being the Group’s chief operating
decision maker ("CODM"), for the purposes
of resource allocation and assessment of
segment performance focuses on fypes of
goods or services delivered or provided. EEIP] o AEANEB 2 AR E o 2pEF
This is also the basis upon which the Group THEEFELERTEMBRN Z2EE D
is organised and specifically focuses B o

on the Group’s operating divisions. No

operating segments identified by the CODM

have been aggregated in arriving at the

reportable segments of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE_T_NF=A=1T—-HLFE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION 10. 7 HEHR (&)

(Contfinued)

During the year ended 31 March 2023,
the Group commenced the business in
natural language processing through new
incorporation of a subsidiary as detailed in
Note 40(a).

Specifically, the Group’s operating and
reportable segments under HKFRS 8
Operating Segments are as follows:

= Publishing and IPs licensing:
publication of comic books and royalty
income from licensing IPs of comics.

- Digital marketing: providing digital
marketing and communication, IPs
digitalisation and agency of IPs services
in the PRC.

= Retailing and wholesales: retailing of
wine.

- Natural language processing: Al
speech technology with real-time
human infteraction, including design
and implementation in both software
and embedded chipset domains.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBEHE RN

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION 10.

(Confinued)

Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s
revenue and results by operating and

reportable segments.

For the year ended 31 March 2024

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-_Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

7 ERE R ()
DEBBAREE
DT BAEEZ WA RERRCE R TH
& 9 BAEZ DAT o

BEr—_E-_pWE=—FH=+—HIFE

Publishing Retailing Natural
and Digital and language
IPs licensing ~ marketing ~ wholesales  processing Consolidated
S 114 R
ERRE TEER  FERHEE AERE &8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TEn Thn ThR THR
Revenue WA
External sales APEE 15,104 2,591 2,451 o 20,158
Segment resulfs ANEE 1,384 2,236 (887) (2873) (140)
Unallocated expenses EL kY (2.17)
Unallocated income APBEBA 238
Other gains and losses HbERER 4,811
Loss before tax RHAER (20.808)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION

10. 23R EH (48)

(Contfinued)
Segment revenue and results PHBMARESE (B)
(Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2023 e =—F=Ff=+—HIFE
Publishing Retailing Natural
and Digital and language
IPs licensing markefing ~ wholesales  processing  Consolidated
S U114 B
ERER mEkE  TEEKE AERE e
HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$000
TEn TEn TEr TER TEn
Revenue WA
External sales NPHE 11,983 15,328 3,269 - 30,600
Segment results PPEE 1,261 (8,654) 721 (1,191 (9,305)
Unallocated expenses ELE (28.217)
Unallocated income APEMA 465
Other gains and losses HpWERER (1.386)
Loss before fax KA EE (38,503)
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10. SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Confinued)

Segment revenue and results
(Continued)

The accounting policies of the operating
segments are the same as the Group’s
accounting policies as described in Notfe
3. Segment results represent the loss before
tfax incurred by each segment without the
allocation of certain other income, gain
(loss) on fair value change of financial
assets at FVTPL, gain on deregistration of
a subsidiary, equity-settled share-based
payments, impairment loss of right-of-use
assets and unallocated corporate
expenses. This is the measure reported to
the CODM for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment.

As the Group’s assetfs and liabilities are only
reviewed by the CODM as a whole and
hence no analysis of the Group’s assets
and liabilities by operating segments is
disclosed.

10.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-_Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

oEHEHR (E)
DEBRAREE (E)

KRED Mz ETBREWFIMM 2 A EH
B BRER - 2 MERESTIBAELE
ZBHATEE  YESRER T HMAEA -
BAFEBESABRERZEMEEZAF
BEEZ W@ (BR) =FHE-—EHNEA
AlzlsE UEZEENROXN -EH
REEZREFBEURRDEEREMX -
AT ELERREREUEERD B
KRB 2ERE o

HRAEB2EEREBFEARRERE
ERERREERN HUERELAEEE
ERBBREEIHE D 20 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

BE_T_NF=A=1T—-HLFE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Contfinued)

10. 23R EH (48)

Other segment information HippHER
For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE—FE-_pmFE=F=1+—HIFE
Publishing Retailing Natural
and Digital and language Segment
IPs licensing ~ marketing  wholesales  processing total  Unallocated Consolidated
ERR AR B BA
ERRE mEEE  BEENE ZERE ARE AAE &a
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThEr TEr TR TR TR ThER TER
Amounts included in the measure of 3t B A BEHFEHEL
segment profit or loss: 8!
Amortisation of intongible assets ~ EFEEHH 488 - - 488 488
Bank inferest income RARIERA (75) o) - @ (168) 0 (am)
Depreciation of property and MERREZINE
equipment 36 8 - 3 41 1 54
Depreciation of right-ofuse assets ~ EREEE2ITE 342 - - 342 342
Finance cosfs HEER 2 = = = 2 41 69
Gain on deregistration of AH-EREATZ
subsidiory i - - - (10,942) (10,942)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary ~ HE-BHEATZ
It - (823) (823) (823)
Impairment loss under ECLmodel, ~ BHEEFRERT
net of reversal ZREFR
nBEE 012) (83) : 69 (926) 118 (808)
Impairment loss on inferestinan ~ R-BEEARDER 2
associofe HERE 157 - - 157 157
Impairment loss on prepayments BB HESE 560 5 . 560 560
Impairment loss on right-of-use FRESEL
assefs HESE = - - 254 254
Share of loss of an associate Ef-BBELT
B 386 - - 386 386
Amounts regularly provide to CODM EH @+ EE &R %%
EﬁZﬁE
Addition to non-current assets EE Vil -V 261 - - 19 280 8 288
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBEHE RN

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Other segment information
(Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2023

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-HNF=A=t+—-HILFE

10. 23R EH (48)

Ht o HEHR (&)

BEr—_E-_=—F=-FH=+—HIFE

Publishing Retailing Natural
and Digital and language Segment
IPslicensing ~ markefing ~ wholesales  processing fotal  Unallocated  Consolidated
i AL HEfL B
ERRE mEEE  FEEHRE ZERE ARa AAE Ga
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HKS'000 HK$'000
ThER ThER ThEr ThEr ThR TER TER
Amounts included in the measure B2 BERFEEZ
of segment profit or loss: &8
Amortisation of intongible assefs & EE B 252 379 - 631 631
Bank inferest income RAHERA @37 (137) ) ) (7 (36) 215)
Depreciation of property and NERZELHE
equipment 41 17 - 58 59 17
Depreciation of right-of-use assefs ~ FREEEZHTE 525 - - 525 1,560 2,085
Finance costs HBER 39 - - 39 86 125
Gain on deregistration of a TH-EHEATZ
subsidiary g (@) - @2 @)
Impairment loss under ECLmodel, ~ BHESFRERT
net of reversal ZAEFE
NBRE (681) 14 ) 1 (626) a7 (643)
Impairment loss on right-of-use FREEEZ
assets REFE - - 1,778 1778
Impairment loss on infangiole Bl EEL
asset HEFE 25 - 245 245
Share of loss of an associate EiE-ElEAT
B 170 = = 170 170
Amounts regularly provide to CODM E @ EL &% %
Ritze8
Addition fo non-current assets REFRBEE 34 13 = 47 14 61
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Contfinued)

Geographic information

The Group’s operations are located in the
PRC, including Hong Kong.

Information about the Group’s revenue from
external customers is presented based on the
location of goods physically delivered to or
location of services provided to the customers
and information about its non-current assets
is based on geographical location of the

10. 23R EH (48)

i E &R
AEET ELEBRTATE (BEEB)

FRAKBERBNMFBEFZBAZERTS
REEREBRXN 2R @EFREER
B2 MEBEFRRBEEZE
BLEREEZFREBE -

assefts.
Revenue from external
customers Non-current assets
REMBEEZWA kRBEE
2024 2023 2024 2023
—E_NE 2= ZTE_WNFE —T-=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
FH&T FExT THT FExT
Hong Kong &8
(place of domicile) (EXFrE) 17,561 15,272 6,080 7.484
The PRC AR 2,597 15,328 21 -
20,158 30,600 6,101 7,484

Note: Non-current assets excluded those relating to
deferred tax assefs and financial instruments
including financial assets at FVTPL, financial
assets at FVTOCI and deposits.

ME  FRBDEETEREAEENEEEREMTA
(BRERATEESABERZEREE  &2Q
FEEFAHGCZEKRECEHEEREZS)E
B -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Information about major
customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding
years contributing over 10% of total sales of
the Group are as follows:

10.

fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-HNF=A=t+—-HILFE

oEHEHR (E)
FHRETEEFZEH

HRAFERBEMAEBAHEREI0%
ZEFEZWAMT :

2024 2023
—E_MF —E-=

HK$'000 HKS'000

THERT FERT

Customer A' =R
Customer B' 2EEZ
Customer C? = FER?
Customer D' =ZFET!
Customer E* =2FE K

Revenue from publishing and IPs licensing
segment.

Revenue from retailing and wholesales segment.
Revenue from digital marketing segment.
The corresponding revenue did not contribute

over 10% of the Group’s total revenue in the
respective year.

5,648 N/A TER’

5,133 5,590
2,457 3,289
2,362 N/A R f*
N/A & @* 6,251

! WA SR B AR R A E R RS D o

: WAREZERMB D -
: WARE BB HSHERED B -

¢ HEWALAREEFERFEEZABRAR
KZ10% °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION 10. 2 MBEH (&)

(Contfinued)

Revenue from major products
and services

The following is an analysis of the Group’s
revenue from its major products and

TEEMRBRBRA

REBCZTEEMRBRBELE ZWADM
LU

services:

2024 2023
b~ 111 = = —E-=

HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHBxT FET
Comic books BEELE 12,419 8,336
Premium wine EERE 2,457 3,289
Royalty income hiw FE UL A 2,685 3,647
Digital marketing HIBthiZERE 2,597 15,328
20,158 30,600
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-_Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

11.LOSS BEFORE TAX 1.BRBEAEER

2024 2023
—E-_ME —E-=
HK$’000 HKS$ 000
FET FERT
Loss before tax has been arrived at BB ATBES MR (GTA)
after charging (crediting): THIFIE
Staff costs BT A
Directors” emoluments (Note 15) EEME (MEE15) 4,204 6,211
Other staff costs: HME TR :
- Retirement benefit scheme - RRE A EH B A=K
conftributions 601 973
- Salaries and other benefits -FEeRHEHMEF 14,972 17,372
19,777 24,556
Auditor’s remuneration 2B
- Audit services - BE& R 1,350 1,580
- Non-audit services - EBEF R 250 220
Cost of inventories recognised as BRAFEXZFERR
expenses 8,860 7.505
Costs to fulfil the contracts with EREFENZAAK
customers 1,447 8,579
Depreciation of property and MERZHBEZITE
equipment 54 117
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEEZTE 342 2,085
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEBE 488 631
Legal, consultancy and other EE - BARHEMEZE
professional fees (included in other ERGrAHMER)
expenses) (Note i) (P =E0) 5,437 7.126
Staff termination cost RS TR 1,560 -
Research cost (included in other MR (G AE A
expenses) (including staff costs of BAH) (BEBIAR
approximately HK$1,284,000 (2023: #91,284,00078 7T
HK$1,869,000)) (D
1,869,000 7T)) 2,423 5,939
Equity-settled share-based payments UREREENRO T (5T
(included in other expenses) (Note i) ~ AHALBIS) (Bit&Eii) - 1,566
Expenses relating to short-term leases HEEHHEERBE 2R 714 1,050
Gain on deregistration of a subsidiary =8 — B E Q52 W& (10,942) (42)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—BMEAR 2K (823) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

11.

12.

LOSS BEFORE TAX (Continued)

Note i The amounts represent fees paid to lawyers

and consultants providing legal services
and professional advices on business
operations and presented under “other
expenses”.

Note ii: It represents share options granted to

external consultant in exchange for services
rendered to the Group. Please refer to Note
34 for details.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of
Bermuda, the Company is not subject to
any income tax in Bermuda for both years.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5%
(2023: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable
profits for both years.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime
of Hong Kong Profits Tax, the first HKS2
million of profits of the qualifying group
entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits
above HKS$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%.
The profits of group entities not qualifying
for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
confinue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.
Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax of
the qualifying group entity is calculated
at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million of the
estimated assessable profits and at 16.5%
on the estimated assessable profits above
HKS2 million.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income
Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation
of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC
subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

11.

12.
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Br¥ Al B 18 (48 )

WRH A BEURIEE TR R L R
REXERRARBHZEA LR
TEfRm AT -

Rk T O DA BT 2K S 1R RS 0
BE o BRI S MR -

FR&H B X

REBREZERRRAG - ANDQ TR M E
FEHBANBREHMEMMAER -

ERANEBHRIBEMEFE ZHFTERH
mAIRIOED (ZEZ=F : 16.5%) 2=
& o

REZBANEHMAT SERKEEER
#5128 25% 2 M ER R E2E BB T MM
BIE - W RI65% 2 EHMEB2EE
BLUUEFRE2HIE - AFSFEH MR
FER2EBER 2N SEBERE B
ER16.5%HB - At s EREEERDN
BREMNGHEMASERBE RN E2EEET
f98.25%:t & - MEBB2AE BB T 5T E
arbim A B 4216.5%:T & ©
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ERBHE) REERESBEBREAG
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-HNF=A=t+—-HILFE

12.INCOME TAX EXPENSE 12. BB X (&)
(Continued)
Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is REMAZEEEE 2R BEDREERE
calculated at the rates prevailing in the EEzEABRGTE -

relevant jurisdictions.

2024 2023
—E_UE —EZ=HF
HK$°000 HKS$'000
FET FET
Current tax B HA B 18
- Hong Kong Profit tax - BEEBNEHR 154 195
Deferred tax IEER IR
- Deferred tax credit - IEERIEE % €)) (43)
Overprovision in prior year BEFEBERE
- Hong Kong Profit tax - BBNEH (24) -
Income tax expense SR X% 121 152
Details of deferred tax are set out in Note ERAELERIEFBEEHNMEE32 -
32.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE_T_NF=A=1T—-HLFE

12.INCOME TAX EXPENSE
(Contfinued)

The income tax expense for the year can
be reconciled o the loss before tax per the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as follows:

12. R HiF X ()

FAMGHAXTEASBEERAMEE
Wi 2R A B BRI AT S IR AR AN T

2024 2023
—E_-_MF —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT FE T
Loss before tax MRELRIEE (20,808) (38,503)
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 1R E A i 58 8 &25%
25% (Note) BH 2 BIE (M) (5.202) (9.626)
Tax effect of income not taxable in %%J?Eﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ
determining taxable profit WA R BEE (3.068) (2.333)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible  FHEERH & %IJW\—H:III b
in determining taxable profit FXzBBEE 3,076 2,034
Tax effect of share of loss of an Bl —BEE AREEZ
associate BEsTE 63 28
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised  FRERE R EE 18 2 B 15
= 6,168 7,606
Utilisation of tax losses previously not BRI R ERERHE
recognised R (3.445) (56)
Utilisation of deductible temporary B A LRI AREE A
differences previously not recognised 15 & & =28 (2) -
Effect of different tax rates of REMBAZERELE 2
subsidiaries operating in other M AR 2 TREFHZEZ
jurisdictions ga 2,673 2,440
Tax effect of deductible temporary KRBT 2 7] HIR E A = %8
differences not recognised ZHBEE 43 236
Income tax at concessionary rate BREEREGFEZEH (158) (165)
Tax concessions BIEEE A3) (12)
Overprovision in prior year BEFEBBERME (24) =
Total income tax expense FrieRip @5 121 152

Note: The domestic tax rate (which is PRC Enterprise
Income Tax rate) in the jurisdiction where the
operation of Group is substantially based is used.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13.

14.

DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed during
the year ended 31 March 2024, nor has any
dividend been proposed since the end of
reporting period (2023: HKSNil).

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss
per share attributable to the owners of the
Company is based on the following data:

fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-_Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE
13. R B

REBEZ-Z_NF=A=+—HLFEX
BRAFIEBRARE  BEREHRER
EEBRIEARE (Z2==F :F8x) -

14.8REE

RARABAEEANBREBREARBESFED
BRETHHEHE -

2024 2023
—E-oEF —E-=
‘000 ‘000
TR TR
Weighted average number of shares  FARHESREXRR
for the purposes of basic and diluted #5518 =~ N
loss per share TR E 1,668,657 1,668,657
2024 2023
—E_mE —E=fF
HK$’'000 HK$"000
FTHERT FHET
Loss for the year attributable to owners FARFTESREARK #8
of the Company for the purpose of EBiEANNTHEE AE
calculating basic and diluted loss per (AR FEEIE
share (20,782) (37,223)

The computation of diluted loss per
share does not assume the exercise of

HRABRREREERBE S _NFR=
E=F=-A=t+-BHLFEZBREAR

the outstanding share options since the WL Bt EEREEEEBREY EBRT
assumed conversion would result in o {60 185 R 1T 16 =2 BB PR AE o

decrease in loss per share for the year
ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ and chief
executive’'s emoluments

Directors’ and chief executive’s
remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules
and the CO, is as follows:

15.E% - TRAIRSREEA
BxiE

(ESRTRARZHE
REBA L HHRAR A AEGIREZ

FEEERTHEAZZMENT:

Retirement Equity-

Salaries benefit settled
and other scheme share based
Fees benefits contributions payment Total
HER BURN  UBREE
e EfhRI% FEMR  WROXA #g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TR FiEn TR TR TR

2024 ZBIRE
Executive directors (Note i) HAES (M)
kwan Kin Chung [t

Yuen Kin (Note vii) S GE)

Non-executive directors (Note ii)
Wong Kon Man Jason (Note v)
Liu Ka Ying Rebecca (Note vi)

FUTES (W)
I8X (K
BRE (Wivi)

Independent non-executive BUFHTES
directors (Note iii) (R =ii)

Fan Chun Wah Andrew (Nofe viil) — SEE % (ishvii)

Wong Kwan Kit EEA

Mung Yat Lik -0

Total a8

120 556 18 - 694
120 816 18 - 954
120 1,080 18 - 1,218
120 480 18 - 618
240 - - - 240
240 - - - 240
240 : . - 240
1,200 2,932 72 - 4,204
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-HNF=A=t+—-HILFE

15.E% - TRAIRSREEA
B2 ()

15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
EMOLUMENTS (Confinued)

(a) Directors’ and chief (EBRTHRERZHMS (B)

executive’'s emoluments

(Continued)
Refirement Equity-
Salaries benefit settled
and other scheme  share based
Fees benefits - contributions payment Total
HER RUBA  MEREE
e Rft g FEMRR  WROXG e
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TER
2023 ZBIZE
Executive directors (Note i) HITES (W)
Kwan Kin Chung BfE 120 556 18 - 694
Yuen Kin (Note vii) R (W avil) 120 816 18 - 954
Chow Lai Wah Livia (Note iv) BEE (W) 9% 282 14 - 390
Non-executive directors (Note ii)  F 7 &% (titii)
Wong Kon Man Jason (Note v) THX(Hrtv) 1M 1,002 17 2,187 3317
Liu Ka Ying Rebecca (Note vi) BRE (Mavi) 26 105 5 - 136
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
directors (Note i) (B aiii)
Fan Chun Wah Andrew (Note viil) — SEEREE (Htitviii) 240 - - - 240
Wong Kwan Kit 2EAR 240 i - - 240
Mung Yat Lik ES)! 240 - - - 240
Total B 1,191 2,761 72 2,187 6,211
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR E

BHE-ZE-NF=

NDED 31 MARCH 2024
B=+—HILFE

15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief
executive’'s emoluments
(Continued)

Note i:

Note ii:

Nofte iii:

Note iv:

Note v:

Note vi:

Note vii:

Note viii:

During

The executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were for their services in
connection with the management of the
affairs of the Company and the Group.

The non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were for their services as
directors of the Company.

The independent non-executive directors’
emoluments shown above were for their
services as directors of the Company.

Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia has been
resigned as the vice chairman of the
board of directors and an executive
director with effect from 13 January 2023.

Mr. Wong Kon Man Jason (*Mr. Wong™)
has been appointed as a non-executive
director with effect from 27 April 2022.

Dr. Liu Ka Ying Rebecca has been
appointed as a non-executive director
with effect from 13 January 2023.

Mr. Yuen Kin has been resigned as an
executive director with effective from 6
May 2024.

Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew has
been resigned as an independent
non-executive director with effective from
6 May 2024.

the both years, no emoluments

were paid by the Group to the directors as
a discretionary bonus or an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as a
compensation for loss of office.

15. 5% - THARRERERA
B (8)

() ESRTHARZMS (4)

B i

B =Eii -

Bf =i -

Fff &Fiv

FfsEy

B & vi -

B & vii

B & viii

EXFRABTEECHMENIRKESR
BAEEARQ TR A KBS 2 RN

EXFRAIFATES2HMEDRES
RERQDBDESMERRB2ME -

EXFRAINBLFBTEEZHMETIF
RERER D RAESE IR RSE 2 M

AEELZTEBEIEESAEIERY
TEE B-ZE-_=F—A+t=H#
£ e

IR EE(EEE)CEZEEFE
HTEE B-T-__FWMA=-++t
HABAENY -

BER4BLIERZTEIHNTES
BE-E_=F—At+t=HEBEXN -

RREELCHEINTES B=-F
“HERANBRER -

BREALCHEIBUFATES
BE-_Z_WERARHBEN

NZMEFENE  AEELEDE
EXNHEFEARBRARBERE
A SR B S R 0 A B 2 5% B B A R
ZE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-HNF=A=t+—-HILFE

15.E% - TRAIRSREEA
B2 ()

15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
EMOLUMENTS (Confinued)

(a) Directors’ and chief (EBRTHRERZHMS (B)

executive’'s emoluments
(Continued)

There was no arrangement under
which a director waived or agreed to
waive any remuneration during both
years.

During the year ended 31 March 2024,
no share options were granted to the
directors.

During the year ended 31 March
2023, Mr. Wong was granted share
options, in respect of his service to the
Group under the share option scheme
of the Company. The equity-settled
share-based payment represent the fair
value of share optfions granted to the
director as charged to the Company's
profit and loss, but not as income
of the director. The value of share
options granted to director is measured
according to the Group's accounting
policy for share-based payment set out
in Note 3. Details of the share option
scheme and these benefits in kind are
set out in Note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BEBRESHRIEDERREMEF
EHEEMME 25 -

BE-Z-_NE=F=1+—HLEE "
BMERHEBRETES -

BE-_Z-_=f=A=+—HIHFE "
FRERBADGERES B BER
TEBHREERBERE - UERE
ENROSZAERTFTEETERENA
FTEE G RALTEENR MIFE
EWA - BFESNEREEEDIR
EME3MBLAEEEEURG AR
B RNET R E - BRES
RZEBYEFN 2HFBRNGE M
BHRMIEE34 ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Employees’ emolument

The five highest paid individuals with
the highest emoluments in the Group,
two (2023: two) were directors of the
Company whose emoluments are

(b) BE>E &

AEEEBFREEALT ME (=
Eo=F @A) AEATESE  ®E
SHMEER L XHEIS)HEE -
H$=4(CB-=:=%) At

included in the disclosure in Note 15(a) MEHEMNT:
above. Emoluments of the remaining
three (2023: three) individuals are as
follows:
2024 2023
—E-E —E-=fF
HK$°000 HK$'000
TERT FET
Salaries and other benefits FERHEMAR 3,698 2,424
Retirement benefit scheme RKTEFI T IR
conftributions 62 174
3,760 2,598

The number of the highest five paid
employees who are not the directors of
the Company whose remuneration fell
within the following bands is as follows:

FHERUATEHEEYFARTES
MESHFLEEEHBENT :

Number
A"
2024 2023
—E_OE —E=-=

Nil to HKS1,000,000 Z£ 21,000,000 5T 1 3
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 %8t &

1,500,0007% T 1 -
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 T &

2,000,0007% Jt 1 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-HNF=A=t+—-HILFE

16. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 16. MERZE
Vehicles,
Leasehold  furniture and
Improvements equipment Total
HEN% RE - &
k8 kit g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThR TEn ThR
CosT BA
AP T April 2022 WZE-ZEmA-H 487 3,103 3,590
Additions hE 61 61
Disposals HE (72) 72)
Written-of i ®3) )
Exchange redlignment EZHR ® ®
Af 31 March 2023 RZEZ=F=f=1-A 487 3,041 3,528
Additions HE - 36 36
Disposals HE - @37) @37
Written-off s (78) (12 (%0)
Exchange realignment EXQ% - () ()
At 31 March 2024 RZE-ME=A=1-A 409 3,023 3,432
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT ZHAERAE
AT April 2022 WZE--—EmA-H 487 2,940 3,427
Provided for the year REERE - 117 117
Eliminated on disposals HEB (48) (48)
Written-of i ®3) )
Exchange redlignment EZH2 (14) (14)
At 31 March 2023 RZBE-=£Zf=1-H 487 2,952 3,439
Provided for the year AEERE - 54 54
Biminated on dlsposals HER : (34) (34)
Written-off s (78) (7) (85)
Exchange realignment ExH% - ) &)
At 31 March 2024 R-BE-ME=A=1-H 409 2942 3,351
CARRYING VALUES FHfE
At 31 March 2024 RZE-ME=A=+-H 81 81
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=f=f=1+-H 89 89
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
maMBEERME
BEZS=MF=AZI ALEE |

16. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 16. R FRE (E)

(Contfinued)

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost
over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method, at the following rates
per annum:

Leasehold Shorter of the lease
improvements term or 10%
Vehicles, furniture 15% to 20%
and equipment

As at 31 March 2024, property and
equipment with an aggregate cost
of approximately HK$2,957,000 (2023:
HK$2,273,000) were fully depreciated but in
use.

Impairment assessment for
property and equipment and
right-of-use assets

Due to the continuous decline in financial
performance of publishing and IPs licensing
business and certain digital marketing
business in PRC (collectively, the "Relevant
CGUs"), the directors concluded there
was an indication for impairment and
conducted impairment assessment on
recoverable amounts of the Relevant CGUs
which included property and equipment
and right-of-use assets (including corporate
assets allocated). The recoverable
amounts of the Relevant CGUs have
been determined based on value in use
calculation.
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16. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

Impairment assessment for
property and equipment and
right-of-use assets (Continued)

Based on the result of the assessment, the
directors determined that the recoverable
amounts of the Relevant CGUs are lower
than the carrying amounts. The impairment
amount has been allocated to each
category of property and equipment and
right-of-use assets such that the carrying
amount of each category of asset is
not reduced below the highest of its
fair value less cost of disposal, itfs value
in use and zero. Based on the value in
use calculation and the allocation, an
impairment of approximately HK$254,000
(2023: HKS$1,778,000) has been recognised
against the carrying amount of right-of-use
assets and no impairment loss recognised
of property and equipment for both years.

16.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-HNF=A=t+—-HILFE

MER B (E)

MERZBEARERAEEEZR
EFE ()

BRIAGER ESHNENBEREELE
UzAREEREREREE - BRESH
EIBREZEENERRBUREREE
E ESREEZCREEFTERANBRER
REAFEEREERS HEMEE"
URZB(ZEDNRSE) - BREAREET
BUR LMo E CHREAREEZRE
BERFRELN254,0008T (ZF ==
1,778,000/ 7T) - MM FIIRERWER
REZRIE -

F3g 2023-2024 XLBEEERRAF

223



224

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

17.RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17.EREEE
Leased
buildings
HERF
HKS$*000
FET
As at 31 March 2024 R-ZB-OmE=A=+—H
Carrying values AREE 273
As at 31 March 2023 R-ZB-=%=A=+—H
Carrying values fREE 617
For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE-_Z_ME=A=+-—-HLEE
Depreciation charge FEXH 342
Impairment loss recognised in profit or loss RiB#& PR ZRERER 254
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_S_=F=A=1t-HLFE
Depreciation charge MEXL 2,085
Impairment loss recognised in profit or loss MR8 R 2 B EE R 1,778
2024 2023
—E_NE —E_=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT FTET
Expenses relating to short-term leases EREHEEEB B X 714 1.050
Total cash outflow for leases HERESRHBEL 3,056 3,687
Additions to right-of-use assets nEEREERE 252 4,308
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17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

(Confinued)

For both years, the Group leases various
offices and warehouse for its operations.
Lease confracts are entered into for fixed
term of one to two years (2023: two years).
In determining the lease term and assessing
the length of the non-cancellable period,
the Company applies the definition of a
contract and defermines the period for
which the contract is enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-ferm
lease for office premises and warehouse. As
at 31 March 2024, the portfolio of short-term
leases is similar fo the portfolio of short-term
leases to which the short-term lease
expense as disclosed above.

Details of impairment assessment are set
out in Note 16.

17.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-_Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

EHRREE (&)

REEFERN  AEERHEEREZ A
MAERRE -FAYUZEHEEGNEER
HAE-—EZEMF(ZT=F WF) - BXE
HERFEATRENERER A2 F
AEKNZESR URAREGHN ZERH
& o

AEBEHRBRAEMERBEI L EHE
E-R-E-_MNF=A=+—H 28
EHEREIYFEEEMEAER I 2 EH
HEASHELL -

A AEFREAMEES -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

18. GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT

18. B & KR E &P 1

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRNE

ASSESSMENT
Total
wmE
HK$000
TExT
COST @S
At 1 April 2022 MR-ZZBE-_FW@WAH—H 23,715
Exchange realignment fERFE (1,689)
At 31 March 2023 R-ZE-_=F=ZA=+—H 22,026
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—BHE QT (2.504)
Deregistration of a subsidiary T —ENEA R (18,483)
Exchange realignment ERFE (1,039)
At 31 March 2024 N-—E-—mE=A=+—AH _
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT ZitRE
At 1 April 2022 R-ZE-_-_F1UAB—H 23,715
Exchange realignment ERFE (1.689)
At 31 March 2023 R-ZBZ=ZF=ZA=+—8H 22,026
Disposal of a subsidiary HE— R E QR (2.504)
Deregistration of a subsidiary HH BB QR (18.483)
Exchange realignment ERFE (1.039)

At 31 March 2024

CARRYING VALUES
At 31 March 2024

At 31 March 2023

RZB-_WFE=A=+—H

AREE
R-ZBE-_ME=A=+—~H

R-ZEBEZ=5=A=+—8H
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18. GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT

ASSESSMENT (Continued)

For the purposes of impairment testing,
goodwill has been allocated to two
individual CGUs, each comprising a
subsidiary, namely Egmen Technology
Limited* (A =B FHFRIRBRAT) (CEgmen”)
and Hyperchannel Info Tech., Ltd* (4t 3= BE &
Fx s ERF AR A R) ("Hyperchannel Info”),
both subsidiaries are in digital marketing
segment. An individual CGU is considered
fo be impaired when its recoverable
amount declines below its carrying amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of
value in use and fair value less costs of
disposal.

In addition to goodwill above, property
and equipment, intangible assetfs and
right-of-use assetfs (including allocation
of corporate assets) that generate cash
flows together with the related goodwill are
also included in the respective CGU for the
purpose of impairment assessment.

* English name is for idenftification purpose only

18.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-_Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

BE R RER L (E)

RBEAERMS BECIEEMEES
BEELEN SRR BNEATAR
MERZHFMAMZBAR2ATEZHFM K
TREEHEEENKZAERAA (EES
&) mZmENE AR EERETS
RSB -BAREELEEMRAETHRE
SHERLEENARAERERAERE -
TREEEAEAEERAFEERLE
B (UBRSERE) -

BREREEN EEREREZWERR
B BREEREAREE (BELXEE
o) EREERETRBRENEFARTER
ZEEELEEMN -

* X AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

18.

19.

GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT
ASSESSMENT (Continued)

Egmen

The goodwill had been fully impaired as at
31 March 2021.

The goodwill had been fully derecognised
upon deregistered during the year ended
31 March 2024. Further details are set out in
Note 36b.

Hyperchannel Info
The goodwill had been fully impaired as af

31 March 2022.

The goodwill had been fully derecognised
upon disposal during the year ended 31
March 2024. Further details are set out in
Note 36a.

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

18. B8 Km E 77 1d (&)

% 5 P
R=—ZB=--§=ZA=+-0 BHECEH
WAE

BE-ZE-_NFE=A=1+t—HLEFEE &
EERTHEBRHARLER - E—SFSFHS
R M FE36b ©

bE {548 4%
R-EBE-_—F=A=+—0B BECEH
BAE

BEZE-T_WNE=A=+—HLEE &
BUREERNEBYARAILBR - E—PFHB
R HzE36a °

19.R—RBEBREQATR 2ER

2024 2023
—E g —EB=H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FERT
Cost of investment in an unlisted R—REFLHEE QT

associate RE A 1.476 1,476
Share of post-acquisition losses i R REE (1.097) 711

Impairment loss recognised on interest RE¢&E NTREFZPERZ
in an associate REEE (157) -
222 765
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19.INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE
(Confinued)

Particulars of the Group’s associate as at 31
March 2024 are as follows:

19.

fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-_Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

R—BBEQT 2 (E)

R-ZBZNE=ZA=+—HAXEHEKZA
B ZFEMERIMT

Proportion of nominal

Form of Place of value of used share
business incorporation / Class of capital held by the
Name of associate  structure operation shares held Group Principal activity
HASEREZERT
BENRER ERERES  EMRY/EELE FEROER RAEERSL  TEER
2024 2023
—E_ME —Z-=%

Culturecom Media  Incorporated  Hong Kong Ordinary 18% 18% Production of digital
& Entertainment content and
Limited (*CMEL") entertainment
(Note) services

VEEFRER & AL Bi# EER HBRBBIER
AR AR ([CMEL)) IR 4 AR 7%

(M=)

Note: The Group has the power to appoint two out
of the four (2023: five) directors of CMEL. In the
opinion of the directors, the Group has significant
influence over CMEL and it is therefore classified
as an associate of the Group.

The directors consider the associate is
immaterial and no financial information is
set out accordingly.

Mzt AEBEREZMECMELLE (ZE==F &)
EETETME -EERE  AEERCMELER
EXEEN AR BRAAREEBEDNT -

EXZRR ZBELAUTREE RIALE
MRS ETHEER -

F3g 2023-2024 XLBEEERRAF
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

20.INTANGIBLE ASSETS

20. BN EE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRNE

Customer
contracts
and related Intellectual
Club customer property
memberships  relationship Software rights Total
EFaHE
Efe% HEEFEE Bt NRER AR
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$°000
TEn TER TEx TEn TEn
(Note ) (Note ii) (Note i) (Note iii)
(&) (Htaii) (Riaii) (Kt ziii)
CosT BA
At 1 April 2022 RZEZZENA-H 1,385 5,396 5,884 - 12,665
Addifions HE = = = 4,880 4,880
Exchange realignment EXHE - (402) 419) - (821)
At 31 March 2023 RZBZ=$ZA=t-H 1,385 4,994 5,465 4,880 16,724
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-BNEAR - (2132) - - (2132)
Deregistration of a subsidiary A -ENEAT - (2,655) (2,086) - (4,741)
Exchange realignment ERFE - (207) (335) - (542)
At 31 March 2024 RZB-MF=A=+-H 1,385 - 3,044 4,880 9,309
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION AND Zit# &R E
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2022 RZEZZEMA-A - 5,396 5212 - 10,608
Charge for the year Rk - - 379 252 631
Impairment loss recognised for the  REEED 2 HEEFE
year (Note iv) (Htativ) - - 245 - 245
Exchange realignment ExHZ - (402) @371y - (773)
At 31 March 2023 RZE-=%#=A=1+-H = 4,994 5,465 252 10,711
Charge for the year ERik - - - 488 488
Eliminated on disposal of a L& — B 2 7] e e 8
subsidiary = (2132) = - (2,132)
Eliminated on deregistration of o FAGE 8 — R It B 22 =) B B 8
subsidiary o (2,655) (2,086) - (4,741)
Exchange realignment EXHE - (207) (335) - (542)
At 31 March 2024 RZE-mE=A=1+-H - - 3,044 740 3,784
CARRYING VALUES KEE
At 31 March 2024 RZE-mF=A=1+-H 1,385 - = 4,140 5,525
At 31 March 2023 RZE-=#=f=+-H 1,385 - - 4,628 6,013
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBEHE RN

20.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Confinued)

Note i:

Note ii:

Note iii:

Note iv:

Club memberships are life corporate club
memberships in recreational clubs. As the
club memberships are considered by the
directors as having an indefinite useful life,
the memberships are not amortised until
their useful lives are determined to be finite.
After considering the prices quoted in the
second-hand market, no impairment of the
club memberships is made during both
years.

The carrying amount of customer contracts
and related customer relationship and
soffware is amortised on a straight-line
method over its remaining useful life, i.e., 5
years.

Intellectual property rights represent the
acquired intellectual properties in the form
of publishing and distribution rights of
various fiction writers under the ownership
of the Group. The rights are amortised on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful
lives based on underlying intfangible assets
expected to contribute to the future cash
flows, i.e., 10 years.

Due to the decline in revenue and losses
in the digital marketing segment, the
directors concluded there was indication
for impairment and conducted impairment
assessment on recoverable amounts of
software. The recoverable amounts of the
software have been determined based on
value in use calculation. Based on the result
of assessment, the recoverable amount
of software determine to be HKSNil. The
directors have consequently determined an
impairment of intangible assets of HKS$Nil
(2023: HK$245,000) related to the software
for the year ended 31 March 2024.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

E_E_NE=A=1+—HILEE

20. B8 &EE (/8)

Fd i

Ff i

i =i -

Fff &Eiv

EFERERAEREMZAEARENE
EZ-HRENEENRESEAARERA
ERFH HEEEEACRAFREARAS
PRAT TSR - KEB-_FHSHR2
BERE UBRALHEMEFTEHS IS
EATREME -

BEFEANENREFERAREMFZERA
ERBE & EAE R eRT A F 8 (B55F)
e o

AHEEERBEASBEESEUATE D
1 R A AR K 3% 4T R A A =X U BB A9 A
WERE ZERADREFRITR/RRE
ERETREMNWEBEERLEER G
AEAEH (BN0F) RiRE AR EHE

HAREE{L TS HERED B RERD K F
EEE EERAAGERENSR  WEHER
R T UK (B & BB E TR B FEAE o B
WESEDRIEEAEETEEE - RiE
FEER BO4NTRESBEEEARATE
oAl EECEERE-_T_NF=
B=+t-BLELFEEBERHENEREE
REZE T (ZE==4 245,000 T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

21.FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR 2. A FEEFTABRRZERA
VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR EE
LOSS
2024 2023
—E_-_ME —E-=
HK$’000 HK$°000
FHET FExT
Listed equity shares, at fair value: EHRARG RO FEE:
Hong Kong 58 1,940 2,476
Overseas SN -* 6,145
1,940 8,621
Analysed as: DA
- Non-current - ERE 226 6,301
- Current - " 1,714 2,320
1,940 8,621
* It represents the amount less than HK$1,000. < IE2 D R1,000%8 T °

As at 31 March 2024, the Group held a
portfolio of listed investments approximately
of HKS$1,714,000 (2023: HKS$2,320,000) for
frading and are classified as current. In
addition, the investments in the listed
equity shares of approximately HK$226,000
(2023: HK$6,301,000) are held for long-term
strategic purposes and are classified as
non-current.

At the end of the reporting period, the
fair values of the listed equity shares are
determined based on the quoted market
bid prices available on the relevant stock
exchanges.

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023-2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22.

23.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR
VALUE THROUGH OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-HNF=A=t+—-HILFE

22 1% A FEM A 212 ki
TEMEE

/|

¥

)

2024 2023
—E_-_ME —ZE==
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHExT FE T
Unlisted investments EmiRE 413 =

The unlisted investments are not held for
tfrading, instead, they are held for long-term
strategic purposes. The directors of the
Company have elected to designate
the unlisted investments as at FVTOCI as
they believe that recognising short-term

FLETREXWIBFBEXZAE - AR H
FFERIXBERZE ARARESFCEER
FETREEERBRATEEFAHMLSR
HWE RARERBREBEZTHEARE
AFEENEHRDEFAEEFEREN
EIRPENIERARMRBAEBEINE

fluctuations in the investment’'s fair value BENE A~ — 2 o
in profit or loss would not be consistent
with the Group’s sfrategy of holding fthe
investments for long-term purposes and
realising their performance potential in the
long run.
INVENTORIES 23. 78
2024 2023
—ZE_ME —EZ=HF
HK$°000 HKS'000
TERT FET
Premium wines (Note) BEHEE (&) 31,289 33,637
Others Hith 719 722
32,008 34,359

Note: During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group
marketed the premium wine in more distribution
channels including online platform and wine
dealers.

M RBE-—ZTZ-_NE=A=+—HLEEE &&
EEEZHHRERBEEEES BEELT
B RBELHER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

23.INVENTORIES (Continued)

24.

No allowance of inventories was made

during both years.

At the end of both reporting periods,
premium wines held by the Group were with
NRV higher than the carrying amount.

23. 78 (&)

RmEFERRE  WEFERFERE -

RBEHREHER AEERFEZEEE

BAR2RFESRIKREE -

TRADE RECEIVABLES 24. W E B BRX
2024 2023
—E-E —E-=5F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FET
Trade receivables FEWE 5 R 4,408 11,224
Less: allowance for credit losses W EEERRE (943) (2,550)
3,465 8.674

The following is the aged analysis of frade
receivables net of allowance for credit
losses presented based on the date of

UTARRERPEI 2HNBREEBER

Bz W E S IRz BRER D AT o

billing.
2024 2023
—E_mE —E=fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FHET
0 - 60 days 0 - 60H 1,439 6,980
61 - 90 days 61 - 908 442 381
91 - 180 days 91 - 180H 1,264 1,281
Over 180 days HiE180H 320 32
3,465 8,674

Culturecom Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24. TRADE RECEIVABLES

25.

(Confinued)

As at 31 March 2024, included in the
Group's frade receivables are approximately
HK$38,000 (2023: HKSNil) due from CMEL,
an associate of the Group.

As at 31 March 2024, included in the
Group’s tfrade receivables balance are
debtors with aggregate gross amount
of approximately HK$1,837,000 (2023:
HK$2,821,000) which are past due and also
past due over 90 days as at the reporting
date, of which approximately HK$942,000
(2023: HK$2,275,000) are considered
credit impaired. Included in the past due
balances for 90 days or more, allowance for
credit losses of approximately HK$942,000
(2023: HKS$2,275,000) has been provided as
of 31 March 2024.

Details of impairment assessment are set
out in Note 38b.

CONTRACT ASSETS

fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE_ZT_NMF=A=1T—-HLFE

24. BWE B R (58)

RZZ-ZNF=ZA=+—0  XEEWNE
WEZERREBERBAEE -—HBE QT
CMEL#38,000/8 T (ZZE==F 1 Z#BT) °

“TEWNFEZA=T—-HB AEEEW
%ﬂﬁﬁ mERBEIEREELN,837,0008
(ZZZ=% 12,821,000 7T) 2 EBWE
SHEF HERBEBHECES  AAHE
BOOH - MHF KN942,0008 T (ZF ==
£ :2,2750008 ) HEREERE -8
HA90 H =% bA £ /9 45 &R 7 £9942,00058 T (=
TT=%1:22750008 %) 2EEBER
—ECHNFE=ZA=1+—-HEFRE-

Hl ‘unss:;

BB R R BN M E38b ©

25.6W&EE

2024 2023
—E-OE —E-=

HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHET FET

Contract assets related to social Bt REBHIGHEEEBRN
media marketing BHEE 118 -
The contract assets primarily relate to EHEETEHEAEFEAEHBENTE R
the Group’s right to consideration for RERKEWIEREENEBE EZ%

work completed and not billed under the
relevant confracts. The contract assets are
fransferred to trade receivables when the
such rights become unconditional other
than passage of time.

The Group classifies these contract assets
as current because the Group to be
recovered within one year.

Details of impairment assessment are set
out in Note 38b.

RER LA EMRARF (MIBERBER) &
NEEAEBREZRKES RN -

FEERBZEENEESIBEARDEE -
AAKERF AR - FARE -

BB R R E N M E38b ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

26. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS 26 HtEWRIE - REKR AN

AND PREPAYMENTS b |
2024 2023
—E-E =E=
HK$’000 HKS$'000
THERT FE T
Other receivables H {th & Y518 200 2,762
Less: allowance of credit losses o EEEERE (120) (44)
80 2,718
Deposits and prepayments (Note) REeRENSRE (FE) 35,737 39,130
Less: allowance for credit losses B EEBEERE (O)) (8)
35,733 39,122
Total other receivables, deposits and HfttfEURFIE - IR & R B
prepayments IH#E 5 35,813 41,840
Less: amounts that will be settled or 8 : SR —FEREEHBH A=
utilised within one year I (35.325) (41,374)
Amounts that will be utilised for more KR —F %8 A 2 FIE
than one year 488 466
Note: As at 31 March 2024, the amount mainly ek R=ZZE-_WE=B=1+—H ZEEEFTEBE
comprised of deposits paid for intangible EEA RS REBEEBNB LS = X TNE
assets of approximately HK$33,269,000 (2023: FEEZR$#33,2600008 T (ZE=-=F:
HK$34,835,000) to independent third parties under 34,835,000/ t) °
natural language processing business.
As at 31 March 2024, included in the deposits R-ZE-_WF=ZA=1+—H ReRENMRE
and prepayments are approximately HK$220,000 FEFEX220,0008 T (ZE=-=% : 110,000
(2023: HK$110,000) paid to CMEL, an associate of BIT) X FAEE — R E X" CMEL °
the Group.
Details of impairment assessment are set W AE TG 2 B R A M EE38b ©

out in Note 38b.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE_ZT_NMF=A=1T—-HLFE

27.LOAN RECEIVABLES 27. FEUR & 2K
2024 2023
—E-UEF —E-=F
HK$000 HKS'000
THERT FET
Loan receivables from independent By FE=F Z2ERKRER
third parties 8,068 -
Less: allowance of credit losses B EEREERE (112) -
7,956 -
During the year ended 31 March 2024, BE-E-_NF=ZA=Z=+—HLFE XK
the Group has entered into certain loan EEEBYE=FTLETERGE
agreements with independent third parties.
The loan receivables were unsecured, FBRERAEER REREN-—FRE
interest-free and repayable within one B EBNEFRANINBEIENALEER
year. Fair value of the loan receivables on 1E350%E3. 71 % 2B N EEBER R EE
initial recognition is determined based on E - BERATHEAYEBEIREETZ A
effective interest rate ranging from 3.50% FEEBZEZFELNA384,000% T -
and 3.71% per annum. The difference
between the principal amount of the loan
and its fair value determined on initial
recognition amounting to approximately
HK$384,000.
Details of impairment assessment are set BB Tk S IR E A RE38b o

out in Note 38b.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

28. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 28. BITHEFRESE

Cash at bank and financial institutions
carrying interest at market rate ranges from
of 0.001% to 0.875% (2023: from 0.001% to
0.1%) per annum.

Details of impairment assessment are sef
out in Note 38b.

29.TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER 29.

PAYABLES AND ACCRUED
CHARGES

The following is an aged analysis of trade
payables presented based on the invoice
dates at the end of the reporting period.

ROREHMEBNRSEFTREDHFRX
M F0.001%ZE 0.875% (=ZB==F : N ¥
0.001%Z0.1%) 5T & °

HAE R E 2z A R E R M E38b ©

BNEZ KRR HMAGEMNKE
REEH

UTARBENEREBZAH2I 2B
NEZRRZRE DA

2024 2023

—E-E —E-=fF

HK$’000 HK$'000

THERT FHET

0 - 60 days 0-60H 717 1,031
61 - 90 days 61 - 90H 216 308
Over 90 days HiB90H 13 80
946 1,419

The average credit period on purchases
of goods ranges from 15 to 90 days. The
Group has financial risk management
policies in place to ensure that all payables
are seftled within the credit timeframe.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29.

30.

TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER
PAYABLES AND ACCRUED
CHARGES (Continued)

As at 31 March 2024, other payables
and accrued charges included deposit
received approximately HKS$285,000
(2023: HK$313,000), accrued operating
expenses approximately HK$5,014,000
(2023: HKS7,354,000), accrued salaries
approximately HK$1,060,000 (2023:
HK$2,255,000) and accrued staff
termination cost HKS$1,560,000 (2023:
HKSNil).

LOANS FROM A SHAREHOLDER
AND DIRECTORS

fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-_Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

29. ENEZKRNX - Htb BRI
KESTEA (E)

R-ZB-_NE=ZA=+—H HibEMNR
BRETEAEED WIRS 4285000%
JT(ZEZ=4% :313,0008 t) * EF&
Bl X 45,014,000 T (ZE - =5 :
7,354,000 t) & FEGT $r £ #91,060,0007%
T (=T =% : 2,255,000 t) & BT
EE T R 41,560,000 T (=2 ==
THEIT) °

0. RE-—ERRRESZERM

2024
—EoQNE
HK$°000
FHET

2023
—E—=

HK$"000
THET

Loans from a shareholder
Loans from directors

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the
Company entered into loan agreements
with a shareholder pursuant to which, a
shareholder granted loans of approximately
HKS$4,364,000 to the Company which is
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.

During the year ended 31 March 2024,
the Group entered into loan agreements
with directors pursuant to which, directors
granted loans of HK$3,436,000 to the
Group which is unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

RE-—BRRZEX
REESZERK

4,364 =
3.436 =

7.800 =

BEZ-_Z_NF=A=1+—HILEFEE &K
AFE-ZRRITLERHGE Bk —
ZBREREAD TR L4,364,0008 THE
HoZERABREA RERERERE
{%o

BE-_Z_NF=A=+—HLEFEE &K
SEREFITVERGR Bt - EE@
REBIRH3,436,0008B TWER » ZER
AERF RERAREREE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

31.LEASE LIABILITIES 3. HEAE
2024 2023
—E_ME —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FERT
Lease liabilities payable: HEEBRTHEARES
Within one year —F R 526 2,190
Within a period of more than one NEZN—FEEBLRZ
year but not more than two years AR E 2R = 357
526 2,547
Less: Amount due for settlement B AR EERETR
with 12 months shown under A12E B R B BB 45 {4 =~
current liabilities | (526) (2.190)
Amount due for settlement after 12 RIEREBEBEHRERNANI2EA
months shown under non-current & o84 (> 4 58
liabilities - 357

32.

The weighted average incremental
borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities is
5.00% (2023: 5.00%) per annum.

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS
(LIABILITIES)

For the purpose of presentation in the
consolidated statement of financial
position, certain deferred tax assets and

2. EXEKREEE (RE)

liabilities have been offset. The following is
the analysis of the deferred tax balances for

financial reporting purposes:

T —=

= —

ARGEAUBRRERP 25
HEEREBGBECHEFE - UTAMBRS
MABRIEER AREE DA

ARESEEBEZMETHEEEERERS

BF5.00% (= F :15.00%) °

HETEER

2024 2023

—E-E e S

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FET FHET

Deferred tax assets EERIBEE 85 31
Deferred tax liabilities ELEFHEEES (45) =
40 31
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS
(LIABILITIES) (Continued)

Deferred taxation is calculated in full on
temporary differences under the liability
method using the applicable ftax rates
prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the
Group operates. Movements of deferred tax
assets (liabilities) of the Group during both
years are as follows:

fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE_ZT_NMF=A=1T—-HLFE

N.EEBREE(RE) (B)

LL%FEIET.‘/Liﬁﬁﬁ%?z%ﬁm#iﬁ%iﬂﬁzl-‘%

BEEREREZERZBITEARRTE -
ﬁ%ZuLmIEﬁ%(E{E)E’%W@EE
NZEEMT :

Right- Accelerated Allowance for
of-use Lease tax expected
assets liabilities ~ depreciation credit loss Total
nE BEHEEFR
ERESE HESE HENE B ag
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
TEn TEn TEn TAR THx
At 1 April 2022 R-E-—£EmA-A - . (12) - (12)
Credit fo profit or loss for the year FE Bzt A - - 12 3] 43
At 31 March 2023 WZEZ=FE=fA=1+-H = - - 31 31
(Charge) credit to profit or loss ~ EE## (%)
for the year A (45) 85 = €] 9
At 31 March 2024 BR=E-ME=A=1-H (45) 85 - - 40
* It represents the amount less than HK$1,000. S 5L %L M1,0008 T °

At 31 March 2024, the Group estimated
unused tax losses of approximately
HKS$568,170,000 (2023: HK$545,461,000)
available for offset against future profits.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of such losses due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams.
Included in unrecognised tax loses are
losses of approximately HK$63,856,000
(2023: HK$71,140,000) that can be carried
forward for five years from the year in
which the respective loss arose. Other
unrecognised tax losses may be carried
forward indefinitely.

R-ZB-_WNEF=ZRA=+—-H &X&ETA
AREHERREFRNNETARBABES
B4 5568,170,0008 T (ZE ==
545,461,000/ jT) - B R £ % B8 K
RaFMNRE AT ERZEEERER
EEREEE ABEIBBABBEEBEY
63,856,000 T (ZFE == : 71,140,000
BL)Z2EBE THELAHBEBEZFER
RERF HMRERABIEEETERBY
= e

F3g 2023-2024 XLBEEERRAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

32. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

33.

(LIABILITIES) (Continued)

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had
deductible temporary differences
of approximately HK$492,000 (2023:
HK$2,053,000) mainly arising from
impairment losses on property and
equipment, right-of-use assets, trade
receivables, loan receivables and other
receivables. Deferred tax assets has been
recognised in respect of impairment loss
on trade receivables and right-of-use
assets approximately HK$255,000 (2023:
HK$186,000). No deferred tax asset has
been recognised for deductible temporary
differences of approximately HK$237,000
(2023: HKS$1,867,000) as it is not probable
that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences
can be utilised.

N.EEBREE(RE) (B)

R-ZE-_NE=A=+—H ' AEEEA
R E R = 8849492,0008 T (ZE==5F:
2,053,000/ T) T EREMERRE
FREEE BERESER EBERERR
HttEWREMEE 2 REEE -CHE
5 FE U 3K 18 R {B &5 18 #9255,00058 T (=
T=F:186,0008 ) BRAELRIEBE
E-BHRTAUTESEERB ZRNHZE
AR ERFEREER RAEBERZZETN
W R = 4237,0008 T (B2 =6
1,867,000 ) BAIELEBIEEE

SHARE CAPITAL 33. A&
Number of Share
shares capital
K& E ;&N
‘000 HK$’000
T iz FET
Ordinary shares of HKS0.01 each EREECOIB T 2EEMR
Authorised: ERE
At 1 April 2022, at 31 March 2023 R-ZE-_—_FWMA—A -
and 31 March 2024 —E_=F=A=1+—HK
—“E-_WHE=A=+—H 200,000,000 2,000,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33.

34.

fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-_Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 33. /A (4E)
Number of Share
shares capital
RH &R S
‘000 HKS$ 000
T Bz FE T

Issued and fully paid: ERTREE:
At 1 April 2022, at 31 March 2023 R-ZE-__—_FWMA—A -

and 31 March 2024 R-—E-_=F=F=+—H

M—E_NFE=H=+—H 1,668,657 16,687

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed
on 12 August 2013, the Company adopted
a share option scheme (the "2013
Scheme”). The life of the 2013 Scheme
is effective for 10 years from the date of
adoption until 11 August 2023.

2013 Scheme

Major terms for the 2013 Scheme are
summarised as follows:

(i) The purpose is to provide incentives to:

award the participants who have
made conftributions to the Group
and/or any entity in which the
Group holds any equity interest
("Invested Entity”); and

recruit and retain high-calibre
employees and attract human
resources that are valuable to the
Group.

34. B HEETE

BER-ZE—Z=Z=FNBFT+_HBERAZE
BRBR APAEMERESE (=%
—ZFFHE]) ZE-—=FFEZENEB
A+ BRMHBEHE BE-ZT_-=
NB+—HI o

—E-=ZF53
—E-CEHECEIERRMRMT

() BHSEATHALETERD:
ERHEAEER RAEEEE

HEABRAEm 228 ((FRE
RAEDNEHERZZHEE R

EERBREBEREERYAEER
BEZAT -

F3g 2023-2024 XLBEEERRAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

34.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

(Contfinued)
2013 Scheme (Confinued)

@i

(i)

(iv)

The participants include any employee,
director, supplier, agent, consultant,
adviser strategist, confractor,
subconfractor, expert or customer of
the Group and/or Invested Entfity.

The maximum number of shares of the
Company in respect of which share
options might be granted under the
2013 Scheme must not exceed 10%
of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of approval
of the 2013 Scheme, however this limit
might be refreshed by shareholders
in a general meeting. However, total
maximum number of shares of the
Company which might be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding
share options granted and yet to be
exercised under the 2013 Scheme and
any other share option scheme must
not exceed 30% of the shares of the
Company in issue from time to time.

The maximum number of shares of
the Company in respect of which
share options might be granted to a
participant, when aggregated with
shares issued and issuable (including
exercised and outstanding share
options and the options cancelled)
under any share option granted to
the same participant under the 2013
Scheme or any other share option
scheme within any 12 months period,
must not exceed 1% of the shares of
the Company in issue from fime to
fime.

(i)

)
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SREBEAEMR RFREAT
CEMES -EF HEE RE.
BHA FBER AHE - AHE
W ERHES o

RE-ZFZ-—=FETRERHEZBR
BOURBZ2ARAROHEBE  RZF
SHEBALNAN-ZF-—=F3EHE
BB #HITRAIO% - Rl » ZR
BHAHRRARRAS LEHN - RE
—E-=FFEAREMEMEREST
EIFREERRTEZABERITER
RERTERTEETZAQXARND
RY BEZILAEEBALATKEH
1TIR 2 :230% °

AEZEERKZBEREATIEZAN
NARGOEHE - REM+ @A HE
RRE—Z—=FHERETMAEME
REFEOZE2RERH ZEME
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(Confinued)

2013 Scheme (Confinued)

)

(i)

There was no requirement for a grantee
tfo hold the share option for a certain
period before exercising the share
option save as determined by the
board of directors and provided in the
offer of grant of share option.

The exercise period should be any
period fixed by the board of directors
upon grant of the share option but
in any event the share option period
should not go beyond 10 years from
the date of offer for grant.

(vii) The acceptance of a share option, if

accepted, must be made within 28
days from the date of grant with a
non-refundable payment of HKS1 from
the grantee to the Company.

(viii)The exercise price of a share option

(x)

must be the highest of:

the closing price of a share of the
Company on the date of grant
which must be a business day;

the average closing price of a
share of the Company for the
5 business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and

the nominal value of a share of
the Company.

All the share options are vested on the
grant date.

fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-_Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

34.BRERTE (B)

—E-ZFE(E)

(V) RESTEERRRUBREZSRN
BRES  RRANBARITERBRER
EEEHEASEEBRE -

Vi) TREHARESERELBREESE
MM R ETERTFE
RBREEH AMEH+F

(vily EIE A BB BB E 28 A i A
B (EH)  LREBHAL T
ENAMIBTRE  SERERT
BIE o

(Vi BEREZITEEXBAUTZERR
SEE
REEBH(EAEER) 2EXD

AIRDWHE

EEEHBHASEERE 2K
RARBFHERTHE S K

ARF—BRERHEE -

(x)y FEBRERNREAMHPCER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

BE_T_NF=A=1T—-HLFE

34.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES 4. B ESTE(E)

(Continued)
2013 Scheme (Continued) —E-=F58(E)
The Board announced that on 27 April 2022, EESEHh RS- FMA=++tH:

ZF’AﬁEF"J?F%ﬁL’_E%%iEﬁEfEi&ZK
— LR (RBIERANDREHEH
14,000 OO0t B #E  URIBEB-F—=%
sEIR B & 2 & 14,000,000/ & A 7 &
BROKRGD  HERBREETERR
REBRAMERITRMABEL0.84% -

the Company has granted tfo Mr. Wong,
Non-executive Director and Chairman, and
a consultant of the Group (collectively, the
"Grantees”), an aggregate of 14,000,000
share options to subscribe for up to a
total of 14,000,000 ordinary shares of
the Company ("Shares”) under the 2013
scheme, representing approximately 0.84%
of the total number of shares in issue as at
the date of grant upon exercise of the share
options.

The 2013 Scheme expired on 11 August —E——FEHEABR=ZE-—=ENA+—

2023. Upon its expiry, no further share option
can be granted under the 2013 Scheme,
but the provision of the 2013 Scheme
remains in full force and effect in respect
of the outstanding share option granted

AEm -R-B-—=F38EmnE 17
BREBRE -ERE®RAAEREZFAE
RTEBRESEBEBEURAHELITE
M-E-—=FF82RXERBEHMTE
MEEEY -

before its expiry.

Details of specific categories of options
granted under the 2013 Scheme are as

follows:

RE-ZF—=
BFBOT :

RERE 2B EERBR

Fair value at Fair value at
grant date for  grant date for
Date of grant Vesting period Exercise period Exercise price consultant director
RELHABET RELBHET
RHAH RS TS TEE BEANATEE ESNATEE
27 April 2022 (Note) 27 April 2022 to HK$0.72 HK$0.26 HK$0.27
26 April 2025
—EC-CFE (BzE) —E-CF 0.72% 1t 0.26% 1t 02781
MA=+tH H“I'tEI?Z
“E-RE
MA=+7x~A
Note: These share options were vested at the date of Mz - ZEERECHEBEEBEHEES -

grant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

(Continued)

2013 Scheme (Confinued)

The following fable discloses movements of
the Company’s share options held by the
Grantees during the year:

fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-HNF=A=t+—-HILFE

34.BRERTE (B)

—E-ZFEE)

TERBAEEREAFNSSDTBRE
22w

Outstanding Outstanding
at Granted Exercised Lapsed at
1 April during during during 31 March
2023 the year the year the year 2024
R-BZ=F R-B-QRE
MA-R =R=1-H
Option type BRESR EXiNd EREH EnfEE EREN o AT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TEn TER TER TER
Director gz
2013 Scheme —E-=FiE 8,000,000 - - - 8,000,000
Consultant B
2013 Scheme “E-Z%5tE 6,000,000 - - - 6,000,000
14,000,000 - - - 14,000,000
Exercisable at the end of the year ~ RERAF17E 14,000,000
Weighted average exercise price TR ENETHE HKS0.72 8 N/ATEAR  NATER  NATER  HKS072E7

The closing price of the Company’s share
immediately before the dates on which the
options were exercised is HK$0.72 per share.

ARABRORBEEBRERTERMA 2
W HERO.72E T °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

34.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

(Contfinued)
2013 Scheme (Confinued)

The fair value of the share options
granted by the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2023 was approximately
HKS$3,753,000, HKS0.2734 each in
aggregate of approximately HK$S2,187,000
for Mr. Wong, and HK$0.2611 each in
aggregate of approximately HKS1,566,000
for consultant of the Group. which was
recognised as share-based payment for the
year ended 31 March 2023.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, no
share options were granted, exercised,
cancelled and lapsed under the 2013
Scheme.

The fair values of equity-seftled share
options granted by the Company during the
year was estimated as at the date of grant
using Binomial model, taking into account
the terms and conditions upon which the
options were granted. The following table
lists the inputs to the model used:

ARAARBE-_ZE-_==A=+—H
LtEERECBEBREZLATFEELNA
3,753,000 Tt - B#%0.2734B & H K
2,187,000 T (MEEEMS) UREH
0.2611#% T & 491,566,000 T (3 4 &
EvEEAmsS) EREBEE-T-_=F=F#
S+-HLFERRBUROGHBERLR -

RBE-_ZT_NF=A=+—HLFE"
“E-=FFEETIEBREERL -
1T~ SRR -

RARAARAFEARHUBESEEZBR
Be2RAFEEDIRELHAHMEA -ENXE
HAEEH » WET R IR BB IRE 2 R R AR
TRESIFFAEN 28 AR

27 April 2022
—E-=

Date of valuation k{8 B H# A=++tH
Closing share price (HK$ per share) IR THE(BRET) 0.72
Exercise price (HKS$ per share) TEE(ERET) 0.72
Option life (years) BRESH(F) 3
Risk-free rate (%) 42 [ B R 2 (%) 2.395
Dividend yield (%) BB E(%) 0.0
Expected volatility (%) TaHR 1R (%) 55.56
Historical volatility (%) [ 52 18 (%) 55.56
Forfeiture rate (%) R UER (%) N/A ~EH

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023-2024



34.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

(Confinued)
2013 Scheme (Confinued)

The expected volatility reflects the
assumption that the historical volatility is
indicative of future trends, which may also
not necessarily be the actual outcome. The
value of the share options is subject to a
number of assumptions and with regard
to the limitation of the Binomial Model.
Therefore, the value may be subjective
and would change any of the assumptions
change.

The aggregate fair values of the above
granted options were approximately
HK$3,753,000 were recognised as
share-based payments expenses granted
tfo a director and consultant respectively
for the year ended 31 March 2023 with a
corresponding increase in equity.

Binomial model has been used fo estimate
the fair value of the share options by
the qualified valuer. The variables and
assumptions used in computing the fair
value of the share options are based on
the directors’ best estimate. The value of
an option varies with different variables of
certain subjective assumptions.

34.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-_Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

BRkESTE(E)

—E-=ZF58(E)

T 50 350 V8 I R R S0 R0 O AT 9 R R AR AR 8
B TRLUBEBER - BREME
SHEMBR ZARER 2 R FRR o
Bk EETEBEBEE 5 ETRR
HR2E BESSHBED -

FTHREREBRENATEBELABENAS
3,753,000t RBZ-_ZEZ_-_=5=A8
Et+-HLEFESRRRART —RES
FEENUARGABRENSA mMEZME
FESE N o

BERMGEMRAB-BXNEX G BRE
ZAVFEE -AEBREAFEEMAZ
BERBRDENRESZHEMRT - BR
ENEERERE TEBRRNTEZ2EMmE
1t °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE_T_NF=A=1T—-HLFE

34.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES 34.

(Contfinued)
2023 Scheme

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed
by the shareholders on 29 August 2023,
the Company adopted another new share
option scheme (the "2023 Scheme”). The
life of the 2023 Scheme is effective for 10
years from the date of adoption until 3
September 2033.

Major terms for the 2023 Scheme are
summarised as follows:

(i) The purpose is to provide incentives to
aftract and retain the best available
and high-calibre personnel of the
Group, to provide additional incentives
to the Eligible Participants (as defined
below) and fto promote the overall
success of the business of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE_ZT_NMF=A=1T—-HLFE

34.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES 4. BRAETHE (B)
(Continued)

2023 Scheme (Confinued)

2= =58 (4)

(i) The participants (the “Eligible

Participants”) of the 2023 Share Option
Scheme include (i) director(s) and
employee(s) (whether full time or part
fime employees) of any member of
the Group (including persons who
are granted options under the 2023
Scheme as inducement fo enfer
into employment confracts with any
member of the Group ("Employee
Participant(s)”): (ii) director(s) and
employee(s) (whether full time or
part time employee) of the holding
companies, fellow subsidiaries or
associated companies of the Company
("Related Entity Participant(s)”); and
(iii) person(s) who provide services
to any member of the Group on a
continuing or recurring basis in ifs
ordinary and usual course of business
which are in the interests of the long
tferm growth of the Group, which
include any contractor, supplier, agent,
consultant, adviser and/or business
partner to any area of business or
business development of the Group,
but excluding any placing agents or
financial advisers providing advisory
services for fundraising, mergers or
acquisitions, and other professional
services provider such as auditors or
valuers who provide assurance, or are
required to perform their services with
impartiality and objectivity ("Service
Provider(s)”).

(i ZE=FEREFEZ28EE (S
ERZHEHE ) BE () AEEEAK
EQNRZESREESE (BERmE2BAR
BES) (BEREBE-_Z-_=F32%
EEREUFEEEAEEEMARE
RAFTUERENZAL (EEBHE
D) (i) XARZERAF @R
MEBARRBMELNRAZESRES (B
mEBARBES) (HEER2 R
D R (i) QAKEEFTEER A
EEHAEREFEBRBEPSERL
FRMUBRB AL ZERBHER
SERPERZAE  BREEMHAH
B ERE - RE BB BRAAR/
REBBE BIEBEAEE &6
F B RHBARE 2 REREH
BERE URBEABRBERFUR
EREFEBEEBTERB2HEMESR
PR 7% 2 3t 2 20 4% BEP K Ak AT (AR 7%
REED -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

BE_T_NF=A=1T—-HLFE

34.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(Contfinued)

2023 Scheme (Confinued)

(iii)

(iv)

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023-2024

The maximum number of shares of
the Company in respect of which
share options might be granted under
the 2023 Scheme must not exceed
10% of the issued share capital of
the Company as at the date of
approval of the 2023 Scheme (the
"Scheme Mandate Limit”). However,
total maximum number of shares of
the Company which might be issued
upon exercise of all oufstanding
share options granted and yet to be
exercised under the 2023 Scheme and
any other share option scheme must
not exceed 10% of the shares of the
Company in issue as at the date of
adoption of the 2023 Scheme.

The total maximum number of shares of
the Company in respect of which share
options might be granted to Service
Providers under the 2023 Scheme
shall not exceed 50,059,704 shares,
representing approximately 3% of the
issued share capital of the Company
as at the date of adoption (the "Service
Provider Sublimit”). The Company may
seek approval of the shareholders in
general meeting to refresh Scheme
Mandate Limit and/or the Service
Provider Sublimit under 2023 Scheme
after 3 years from the adoption date.

4. BRERE (B)

—E== &8 (8)

(i) RE-S-=FHBTEEE > BR
RAZW2EDARHHE  BET
EBRBAAAN-B-=EHMA
Eﬁzaﬁﬁ&$m%0ﬁ%&%m
H]) AT BE-—S-=FHER
210 £ A 8 B S B AR I (B 0 R 45
ﬁZﬁﬁ*ﬁﬁ%&%%ﬁﬁﬁT%

iﬂfi"— Z —_i*ﬁ‘;J%f‘W E! HHZIKAT
EETRM2Z10% °

(v)y RE-Z-=F8TEKRTRER
HEZBRESR 2ARARGEH -
7F #1850,059, 704 B 19 » B 15 A<

RENERME R 2B BITRAI%Z KR
BEE (RBREMAE FRED - A2
AREMN-_ZE-_=FHEAR=FRK
RIBRRAEELSRERAEEHE
RERER/ ARBREMAE FRE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(Confinued)

2023 Scheme (Continued)

)

vi)

For any twelve (12)-month period up
to and including the date of grant
of options, the aggregate number
of shares issued and to be issued in
respect of all options granted to each
Eligible Parficipant (excluding any
options lapsed in accordance with the
tferms of the relevant scheme) shall not
in aggregate exceed 1% of the total
number of shares in issue as at the
date of grant.

The exercise period should be any
period fixed by the board of directors
upon grant of the share option but
in any event the share option period
should not go beyond 10 years from
the date of adoption.

(vii) The acceptance of a share option,

if accepted, must be made within
21 days from the offer date with the
payment of HKS$1 from the grantee to
the Company.

(viii) The subscription price for shares to be

subscribed under the 2023 Scheme
may be determined by the board of
directors at its absolute discretion,
provided that it shall not be less than
the highest of: (a) the closing price
of the shares as shown in the daily
quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange
on the date of grant, which must be a
business day; (b) the average of the
closing prices of the shares as shown in
the daily quotations sheets of the Stock
Exchange for the five (5) consecutive
business days immediately preceding
the date of grant; and (¢) the nominal
value of the share on the date of grant.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

34.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(Contfinued)

2023 Scheme (Confinued)

(ix) All the share options must be held

by the grantee for at least 12 months
before the share options can be
exercised, provided that the board
of directors may at its discretion
grant a shorter vesting period to
an Employee Participant in the
following circumstances: (a) grants of
"‘make-whole” Option(s) to new joiners
to replace the share options they
forfeited when leaving the previous
employers; (b) grants to an Employee
Participant whose employment is
terminated due to death or occurrence
of any out-of-control event; (c) grants
that are made in baftches during a
year for administrative and compliance
reasons, which include options that
should have been granted earlier if not
for such administrative or compliance
reasons had to wait for the subsequent
batch. In such case, the vesting period
may be shorter to reflect the time
from which the option would have
been granted; (d) grants of options
with a mixed or accelerated vesting
schedule such as where the options
may vest evenly over a period of
twelve (12) months; or (e) grants with
performance-based vesting conditions
in lieu of time-based vesting criteria as
determined in the conditions of grant.

As at 31 March 2024, no share options were
granted, exercised, cancelled and lapsed
under the 2023 Scheme.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35.

36.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group participates in the MPF Scheme
for all qualifying employees in Hong
Kong. The assets of the scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in funds
under the control of trustees.

The Group’s and the employees’ confributions
to the MPF Scheme are each set at 5% of
the employees’ salaries up to a maximum
of HK$1,500 effective from 1 June 2014
per employee per month. The Group’s
conftributions fo the MPF Scheme are fully and
immediately vested to the employees once
they are paid.

Certain employees of the Group are
members of a state-managed retirement
benefit scheme operated by the PRC
government. The Group is required to
confribute certain percentage of payroll
costs to the retirement benefit scheme to
fund the benefit. The only obligation of
the Group with respect to the retirement
benefits scheme is to make the specified
contributions.

Total cost charged to profit or loss of
approximately HK$741,000 (2023: HK$1,212,000)
represents the contributions payable to these
schemes by the Group during the year.

DISPOSAL/DEREGISTRATION OF
SUBSIDIARIES

a) Disposal of a subsidiary

On 13 April 2023, the Group entered
info a sale and purchase agreement
with an independent third party to
dispose of its entire equity interest in
Hyperchannel Info for a total cash
consideration of RMB50,000 (equivalent
to HK$57,075).

35.

36.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

36.DISPOSAL/DEREGISTRATION OF
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

a) Disposal of a subsidiary
(Continued)

The Group’s share of net liabilities
of Hyperchannel Info at the date of
disposal and the effect of disposal
were as follows:

36. HE "FHHMBLAT (B)
a) HE—HKELR (&)

AEERHERPRLEEREZR
EFERMESHZLEHINT :

HKS$ 000
FET
Analysis of assets and liabilities over KEEGHE2EEREBED T
which control was lost:
Other receivables, prepayments and HitEWRIE « FAEARIER
deposits e 34
Other payables and accrued charges HithEARRIER BT E R (504)
Bank balances and cash RITEERES 104
Net liabilities disposed of EHEZEEFHE (366)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary: HE—RBNB AR ZWa :
Consideration RE 57
Net liabilities disposed of EHEZEEFHE 366
Derecognition of goodwill (Note) RILTEREE (M) =
Non-controlling interests FFfE R R (38)
Reclassification of cumulative translation HERGRGTELRBEN
reserve upon disposal to profit or loss DEEEH 438
Gain on disposal &z W& 823
Net cash outflow arising on disposal HEMEEZREREFE
Cash consideration received R ER € KE 57
Less: Bank balances and cash disposed of B : EHEZRITEERES (104)
(47)

Note: The goodwill had been fully impaired in
prior years.

MizE : ABERNBEFEDBRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36.DISPOSAL/DEREGISTRATION OF

37.

SUBSIDIARIES (Confinued)
b) Deregistration of a subsidiary

On 20 March 2024, the Group
deregistered Egmen in which the Group
held 55% of the equity interests and
recognised a gain on deregistration of
approximately HK$10,942,000.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure
that entities in the Group will be able
fo confinue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders
through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists
of net debt, which mainly includes loans
from a shareholder and loans from directors
disclosed in Note 30, net cash and cash
equivalents and equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising issued
share capital, share premium and reserves.

The directors review the capital structure on
a semi-annual basis. As part of this review,
the directors consider the cost of capital
and the risks associated with each class of
capital. Based on recommendations of the
directors, the Group will balance its overall
capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues and share buy-
backs as well as the issue of new debt or
the redemption of existing debf.

36.

37.
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e MBHRNE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
a. Categories of financial

38.¢m T H
a 2BITEZEH

instruments
2024 2023
—ZE_UE —TEZ=HF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Financial assets EWMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost ZREEK At EZ S RMERE 50,629 74,068
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEESTABER
ZEMEE 1,940 8,621
Financial assets at FVTOCI BRAFEEFAEMEEK
mZRMEE 413 -
Financial liabilities o= =K
Financial liabilities at amortised BB AFTTEZ
cost SREE 17,592 14,268

Financial risk management
objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments
include frade receivables, other
receivables and deposits, loan
receivables, financial assets at FVIPL,
financial assets at FVTOCI, bank
balances and cash and cash at
financial institutions, trade payables,
other payables and accrued charges,
loans from a shareholder, loans
from directors and lease liabilities.
Details of these financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes.
The risks associated with these
financial instruments include market
risk (currency risk, interest rate risk
and other price risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below.
The directors manage and monitor
these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.

b. B¥EREEBEBEREX

E-BAVEESAHMAZEKSE 2
TREE RTUEEFERRERSRE
BRE BYEZERNR  HMUOELK
HREHER - RE-ERRZEXK
REEEZERREEEEBE -ZE S
MTEZHBREWETEE - BZ
EeMITAMEZARERET SRR
(B ERE NEREERHEEESR
) c FERRRERBESER - B
AR L F R B 2 BRRE R T X °
EEEEREELERRE  UBREK

KA REEE B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Confinued)

b.

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk

There has been no significant change
to the Group’s exposure to market risks
or the manner in which it manages and
measures the risks.

Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company
have foreign currency bank balances,
cash and cash at financial institutions
and financial assets at FVTPL which
expose the Group to foreign currency
risk. They are mainly denominated
in HKS, United States dollars ("USD"),
Australian dollars ("AUD") and
Japanese Yen ("JPY"). The Group is
mainly exposed to foreign exchange
rate risk arising from fransactions that
are denominated in USD, AUD, JPY and
HKS relative to RMB.

The Group currently does not have
a foreign exchange hedging policy.
However, the directors monitor foreign
exchange exposure and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.
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b. MERAKREEEEREE (B)
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e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

BE-ZE-NF=A=+—HLFE

38.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Contfinued)

b.

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Currency risk (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s
HKS, AUD, USD and JPY denominated
monetary assets (including frade
receivables, other receivables and
deposits, financial assets at FVTPL,
bank balances, cash and cash at
financial institutions) and monetary
liabilities (including trade payables,
other payables and accrued charges,
loans from a shareholder, loans from
directors and lease liabilities) at the
reporting date are as follows:

38. €M IR (&)

b.

BBEREEEEREEK(B)

% /E B ()
B (&)

AEERBERHUBT B X
TRk BEFEZEREE (BEENK
BEZRN HMERRERRE &
AFBEFABERZEHEE R
THEZ AEREEMEBRES) RE
HEE(BERENESRN HME
NHREREFTER - RE-—BRRZ
EX REESZEAREEAE)
ZEREEMNT :

Assets
BE

2024 2023
—E-E —E-=5F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
THERT FET
HK$ BT 12,973 14,561
usb ESe 235 2
AUD AT - 6,389
JPY H 711 =

* It represents the amount less than HK$1,000. * 245D 1,000 T °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Confinued)

b.

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-_Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

38.$@ T A (5)

b. M¥EREERZERBEK (&)

Market risk (Continued) w5 EEE (&)
Currency risk (Continued) BEwmpE (&)
Liabilities
afE
2024 2023
—E-mE —EBET=5F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FERT
HKS BT 17,213 10,705
Sensitivity analysis BERED T

The following table details the Group's
sensitivity fo a 5% increase and decrease
in the entity’s respective functional
currency against the relevant foreign
currencies. 5% represents the directors’
assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary
items and adjusts their franslation at
the end of the reporting period for a
5% change in foreign currency rates.
A positive number below indicates an
increase in loss for the year where RMB
strengthen against the relevant foreign
currencies. For a 5% weakening of RMB
against the relevant currencies, there
would be an equal and opposite impact
on the post-tax loss for the year, and
the positive balances below would be
negative.

TRHAJIAGSERNEERS A 2 W8E
EW A BRINE A ER RES%Z B
EoSUIEESHIMEERTRESES
B2l o MBRED M BE U BT
EzERFREERIERR @ IR HKEH
RUNEERBESUFHER FE -
THEBRTARBZEBINEAE
B zFEFBREM -HARYR
ERMNERES%  BSEHFEFRE
BEERBROEE T EBS
BEREH-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 3. eI A (&)

(Contfinued)

b. Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The analysis is prepared on the same
basis for both years.

b. M¥EMREERZERBEK (&)

5B ()
KEHmE (&)
BREDN (B)
ZoMEEmEFEERNEERFHR -

Impact on loss
for the year
HEAFEFBEZEE

2024 2023

—E-E —E-=5F

HK$’000 HK$"000

THER FTiET

HK$ BT (159) 145

USD EE 9 =%

AUD BT =5 267

JPY H 27 =
* It represents the amount less than HK$1,000. * &4 28 D FA 1,000 7T o

In the opinion of the directors, the
sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative
of the inherent foreign exchange risk as
the year end exposure does not reflect
the exposure during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Confinued)

b.

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed fo fair value
interest rate risk in relation to fixed-rate
refundable rental deposits (Note 26),
loan receivables (Note 27) and lease
liabilities (Note 31). The Group is also
exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to variable-rate bank balances
and cash at financial institutions (Note
28). The directors have considered the
Group’s exposure to cash flow interest
rate risk in relation to variable-rate
bank balances and cash at financial
institutions (Notfe 28) to be limited
because the current market interest
rate on general deposits is relatively
low and stable.

Interest income from financial assets
that are measured at amortised cost is
as follows:
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38.$@ T A (5)

b. M¥EREERZERBEK (&)

g E R ()
FIF @B

AEERESARDEERE (W
26) - BEWER (MF27) REEEE
(M=E3) i A FEEFRER - &
EETHRIERTREMEBNEF
RBRE (H28) HERERENRE
b  EFSAR/AEEFEHE Z2EEF
ERTEFREHEERE (ME28)
ZHREREFNZRABRAR  FEHE
BB -—RERZHEINREHRE
RIBE -

TREENEWALRBERATE
W

2024 2023
—E_-_MF —E-=
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FE T FET
Financial assets at amortised cost REHK AT E =2
TREE 361 215
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 38. €I A (&)
(Continued)
b. Financial risk management b. BXEREEEEREXK (&)

objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Interest rate risk (Continued)

Interest expense from financial liabilities
at amortised cost is as follows:

% /E B ()
T E mfz (F)

BHBERAGTEZERABEZFERH
XWT

2024 2023
—E_MF ==
HK$'000 HK$’'000
FET FET
Financial liabilities at amortised REHERATEZ
cost cREE 69 125

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk
arising from listed investments measured
at FVTPL and unlisted investments
measured at FVTOCI. The directors
manage this exposure by maintaining
a portfolio of investments with different
risk and return profiles and will consider
hedging the risk exposure should the
need arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Confinued)

b.

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Ofher price risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have
been determined based on the
exposure to equity price risk at the
reportfing date. Sensitivity analyses for
unlisted investments with fair value
measurement categorised within Level
3 were disclosed in Nofe 38c.

If the equity prices had been 15%
higher/lower (2023: 15%), post-tax
loss would decrease/increase by
approximately HK$296,000 (2023:
HK$1,293,000). This is mainly due to the
changes in fair value of the financial
assets at FVTPL and FVTOCI.

Credit risk and impairment
assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the
Group’'s counterparties default on
their confractual obligations resulting
in financial losses to the Group.
The Group’s credit risk exposures
are primarily attributable to trade
receivables, other receivables and
deposits, loan receivables, contfract
assets, and bank balances. The Group
does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements to cover its credit
risks associated with its financial assefts.
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38.¢WMITA(%H)

b. MERAKREEEEREE (B)
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e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Contfinued)

b.

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment
assessment (Continued)

The Group performed impairment
assessment for financial assets under
ECL model. Information about the
Group’s credit risk management,
maximum credit risk exposures and
the related impairment assessment, if
applicable, are summarised as below:

Trade receivables and confract assefts
arising from contracts with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the
Group has a credit control policy in
place under which credit evaluations
of customers are performed on all
customers requiring credit. Other
monitoring procedures are in place to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debfts. In this regard,
the directors consider that the Group’s
credit risk is significantly reduced.

38. ¢ T R (£)

b.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

b.

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment
assessment (Confinued)

Trade receivables and contract assets
arising from contracts with customers
(Continued)

As at 31 March 2024, the Group
had concentration of credit risk as
55% (2023: 30%) of the total trade
receivables was due from one customer
from publishing and IPs licensing
segment (2023: digital marketing
segment). In order to minimise the
credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated staff responsible
for determination of credit limits,
credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure follow-up action
is taken fo recover overdue debts and
performed annual review on customers’
and borrowers’ credit quality.

In addition, the Group performs
impairment assessment under ECL
model on trade balances individually.
Impairment of approximately HK$1,000
(2023: HK$278,000) and a reversal
of approximately HK$992,000 (2023:
HK$913,000) is recognised during
the year. Details of the quantitative
disclosures are set out below in this
note.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

BE-ZE-NF=A=+—HLFE

38.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Contfinued)

b.

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023-2024

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment
assessment (Continued)

Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables and deposits,
the Group performs assessment under
ECL model balances individually.
The directors believe that there is
no significant increase in credit
risk of these amounts since initial
recognition and the Group provided
impairment based on 12m ECL.
The Group assessed the ECL for
other receivables and deposits and
recognised approximately HKS$124,000
(2023: HK$51,000) and a reversal
of approximately HK$52,000 (2023:
HK$59,000) for the year ended 31
March 2024.

Bank balances and cash at financial
institutions

Credit risk on bank balances and
cash at financial institutions is limited
because the counterparties are
reputable banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating
agencies. The Group assessed 12m
ECL for bank balances by reference
to information relating to probability
of default and loss given default of
the respective credit rating grades
published by external credit ratfing
agencies. Based on the average loss
rates, the 12m ECL on bank balances
and cash at financial institutions is
considered to be insignificant.

38. €M IR (&)

MEEMREEEERBER (&)

1= B o B K s (B 7T 18 (42)

Bt RS BREE

HttEWRERESHIE  NEE N
EHEEEEEXRE R & eRET
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REBRERE AEBEFHHMER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

b.

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment
assessment (Confinued)

Loan receivables

In order to minimise the credit risk, the
Group has a credit control policy in
place under which credit evaluations
of debtors are performed on all debtors
requiring credit. Monitoring procedures
are in place to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue
debtors. In addition, the Group
performs impairment assessment under
ECL model on balances individually.
The directors of the Company estimate
the loss rates of loan receivables based
on internal credit rating of the debtors
as well as forward-looking information.

As at 31 March 2024, impairment
of approximately HK$111,000 (2023:
HKS$Nil) is recognised during the year.

fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-HNF=A=t+—-HILFE

38.$@ T A (5)

b. M¥EMREEBZERBEK(E)

1= B /3 B2 K 6l 1B 5P 1 ()

EREZ

RAEEERBREEZERE AEEEH
EREEEHBE  REZBRHME
TEFENBERAETEEMNE B
REEERFARARINIRETE N
WEEEER - i AEERETE
BEEBBERNER M ZEEERET
MEF G AL ESREEHZAN
R AR S & 5 AR LA K2 AT BE 1 B B fh R B
BERWEER -

RZEBE-_NME=A=+—H '  FAE
FHELIT,0008 T (ZE==F:
FHBIT)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

38.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Contfinued)

b. Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment
assessment (Continued)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading
assessment comprises the following
categories:

Internal credit

3.2 IA(

=)

Nne=

b. MBEBEEEEREE(E)

1= B /2 B2 K 6l B 5P 1 ()

AEBzABEERBRIREBELT

Al

Other financial and

rating Description Trade receivables contract assets
AEIEEEE #a FEKE SRR HtemMRENEE
Low risk The counferparty has a low risk of Lifetime ECL (not 12m ECL
default. credit-impaired)
ERE REZEFEOABIE - FHRAEERR EARAEEER
(BEEHE)
Medium risk The counterparty has a medium risk of  Lifetime ECL (not 12m ECL
default. credit-impaired)
i E REEFENERATER - FHRAEERR REARAEEER
(BEEHE)
Doubtful There have been significant increases  Lifetime ECL (not Lifetime ECL (not

in credit risk since initial recognition
through information developed
internally or external resources.

IR BEBARHEERINMIERN SR
PR EERBE RESEM

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset
is credit-impaired.

BE BREEREELREENE

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the

debtor is in severe financial difficulty
and the Group has no realistic
prospect of recovery.

it 55 FREETNEBADSREYRAARE
WE R E TR
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credit-impaired)
FHRSRERR
(BEEHE)
Lifetime ECL
(credit-impaired)
FHRBEERR
(BEERE)

Amount is written off

TR M

credit-impaired)
ERRAGERR
(BEERE)
Lifetime ECL
(credit-impaired)
FHRMEEER
(REERE)

Amount is written off

THC M



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

b.

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment
assessment (Confinued)

The tables below detail the credit risk
exposures of the Group’s financial

fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-HNF=A=t+—-HILFE

38.$@ T A (5)

b. M¥EREERZERBEK (&)

1= B /7 B R Bl B 77 1% (48)

TRHAMIHAEEEHEERNE 2
FEERE  HAETRHEESEF

assets, which are subject to ECL & :
assessment:
Gross
carrying amount
REAE
External Internal
Note credit rating credit rating  12-month or lifetime ECL 2024 2023
Wi ABEEFR ABREFR N2EAAEHRIFEER “ECRE —BCCE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER AR
Financial assets at
amortised costs
REERRELSHERE
Trade receivables (Note i) 24 N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL (not 3,466 8,949
credit-impaired)
B8 7 fan (i) ER ERR FHRAEEHR (BREHE)
N/A Loss Lifetime ECL (creditimpaired) 942 2,275
AER B FHRAEEER (RREAE)
Other receivables and 26 N/A Low risk 12m ECL (individually assessed) 1,104 3,949
deposits (Note i)
R ERTRR RS (W) AER Emk 128 ARHEEEE (BRI
Loan receivables (Note iii) 21 N/A Low risk 12m ECL (individually assessed) 8,068 -
FE & (B i) AER Emk 12BARHEEEE (R
Contract assefs (Note iv) 25 N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL (not 118 =
credit-impaired)
CRECGED) AER ERR FHRAGEHE (BREAE)
Bank balances and cash at 28 Ao3Boo2  N/A 12m ECL 38,000 61,165

financial institutions
(Note v)

FERRECLRIEERRS Ao3Baa2  FERE
(&)

12BARHEERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

38.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Contfinued)

b. Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment
assessment (Continued)

Notes:

D)

if)

i)

iv)

V)

For trade receivables, the Group has
applied the simplified approach in HKFRS
9 tfo measure the loss allowance at lifetime
ECL. The Group determines the ECL on
these items by an individual basis. As part
of the Group'’s credit risk management, the
Group applies internal credit rating for its
customers.

As at 31 March 2024, impairment allowance
of approximately HK$1,000 and HK$942,000
(2023: HK$275,000 and HK$2,275,000) were
made on not credit-impaired debtors and
credit-impaired debtors, respectively.

The Group assessed the loss allowance
for other receivables and deposits on 12m
ECL basis. In defermining the ECL, the
Group has faken intfo account the historical
past due experience and forward-looking
macroeconomic information as appropriate.
There had been no significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition. As at 31
March 2024, the balances of approximately
HK$981,000 (2023: HKS$3,897,000) are not
past due and the internal credit rating is
considered as low risk.

The Group assessed the loss allowance
for loan receivables on 12m ECL basis. In
determining the ECL, the Group has taken
info account the internal credit rating
and forward-looking macroeconomic
information as appropriate.

As at 31 March 2024, impairment allowance
of approximately HK$112,000 (2023: HKS Nil)
were made.

The Group did not provide any lifetime
ECL on confract assets as the amount is
insignificant.

The Group did not provide any 12m ECL
on bank balances and cash at financial
institutions as the amount is insignificant.

38. €M IR (&)

b. M¥EMREERZERBEK (&)

=B m AR R E TS ()

P E -

)

i)

)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

b.

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment

fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

BE-ZE-_NEF=A=+—-HLEE

38.$@ T A (5)

BKEREEEREREEK(B)

= Em AR R B E T ()

assessment (Confinued)

The following table shows the
movement in lifetime ECL that has been

recognised for trade rec
the simplified approach.

eivables under

TRETRBEECATERERE S IR
eI FHRMEEFE 228 -

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(noft credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
EHRE FHRAS
FEBR FEBR
(BEEHE) (BEERE) @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER
At 31 March 2022 R=B=-=F=A=1-H 121 3,639 3,760
Impairment losses reversed ~ CEERER B (119) (794) (913)
Written-off i 85 - (519) (519)
New financial assets HRECEMER
originated 276 2 278
Exchange realignment B =% 3) (53) (56)
At 31 March 2023 R-ZE-_=%=8=1+-H 275 2,275 2,550
Impairment losses reversed ~ CHEERER R (272) (720) (992)
Written-off i 85 - (605) (605)
New financial assets HREZERERE
originated 1 - 1
Exchange realignment EX@E 3) (8) (11)
At 31 March 2024 R-B-M#=A=+-H 1 942 943

F3g 2023-2024 XLBEEERRAF

273



274

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE_T_NF=A=1T—-HLFE

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Contfinued)

b.

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment
assessment (Continued)

The Group writes off trade receivables
when there is information indicating
that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, e.g., when
the debtor has been placed under
liguidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings or in the
case of frade receivables, when the
amounts are over three years past due.
In respect of the credit-impaired debtor
with gross carrying amount of HKSNil
(2023: HK$2,000) and impairment
loss of HKSNil (2023: HK$2,000) was
recognised for the year ended 31
March 2024, the Group considered
the debftor is in significant financial
difficulty and has taken legal action
against the debtor to recover the
amount due. During the year 31
March 2024, the Group write-off the
credit-impaired debtors provided in
prior year with the carrying amount
of approximately HK$605,000 (2023:
HKS$519,000) due to there is no realistic
prospect to recover the amount.

During the year 31 March 2024,
the Group reversed the impairment
losses amount of approximately
HK$720,000 (2023: HK$720,000) on one
credit-impaired debtor provided in prior
year due to legal action taken and part
of the amount was recovered during
the year.

38. €M IR (&)

b.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

b.

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment
assessment (Confinued)

fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-HNF=A=t+—-HILFE

38.$@ T A (5)

b. BMKEKREEAEREE (&)

= Em AR R B E T ()

The following table shows the TRERCERIEAEHEEEE
reconciliation of loss allowances that WEERERELMERRERZEN
has been recognised for 12m ECL on ¥ER
other receivables and deposit:
12m ECL
1218 A A 88
FEBE
HK$'000
THET
At 1 April 2022 R-ZZE-__FmMA—H 126
Impairment losses reversed ERERERE 59
Written-off ok 67)
New financial assets originated FRECEMEE 51
Exchange realignment [ERAE 1
At 31 March 2023 R-ZE-_=%=F=+—H 52
Impairment losses reversed 2R ERERE (52)
New financial assets originated FRECZEMEE 124
Exchange realignment ERAE -*
At 31 March 2024 R-E-_NME=A=+—H 124

It represents the amount less than HK$1,000.

* E£ 82 11,0008 7T ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

38.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Contfinued)

b.

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment
assessment (Continued)

The following table shows the
reconciliation of loss allowances that
has been recognised for 12m ECL on
loan receivables:

38. ¢ T R (£)

b. M¥EMREERZERBEK (&)

=B m AR R E TS ()

TRETERII2EAEHEESE
MERBRERERERHNYIR

12m ECL
1218 A A
FEBE
HK$'000
FHET

At 1 April 2022 and 31 March 2023 RZEBE-Z_FMWA—-HAK
—E-=F=HA=+—H =
New financial assets originated FEANEMEE 111
Exchange realignment PE R 1
At 31 March 2024 R-ZB-OWNFE=A=+—H 112
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Confinued)

b.

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk,
the Group monitors and maintains a
level of cash and cash equivalents by
the directors to finance the Group's
operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows.

The directors regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements to
ensure it maintains sufficient reserves
of cash and bank balances and
adequate funding from its shareholders
to meet with its liquidity requirements.

The following table details the Group's
remaining contractual maturity for its
financial liabilities based on the agreed
repayment term. The table has been
drawn up based on the undiscounted
cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay.
The table includes both interest and
principal cash flows.

fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE_ZT_NMF=A=1T—-HLFE

38.¢WMITA(%H)

b. MERAKREEEEREE (B)

MmEBE L ERE

ATEERDESRER AEBEER
REFKESARARUENEAEBEE
FREKFZRERBEEEY UK
REREREFRH 2FE

EETHERRRRADIRDESS
R DUBREESEH RS RRT
BERBEUARKEHERRZREES
LimeERBEEER -

TRHALAAEETHEEREHEERE
R ZBRTENIHAE  -ZRDIRE
AEBENRZEREHNREREE
ZRBABRESRERHE - A REBEF
,%\&$§IE§0|LE =
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

38.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Contfinued)

b. Financial risk management

objectives and policies
(Continued)

38. ¢ T R (£)

b. M¥EMREERZERBEK (&)

Liquidity risk (Continued) HEHELEE (&)
Liquidity tables MEEE K
Repayable In the
Weighted  on demand second fo Total
average or within fifth year undiscounted Carrying
interest rate one year inclusive cash flows amount
REXS £-ZIER BB
MEFHFE R-FREE (BRERWME) HRERELE REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THEL THEL THEL THERL
2024 —E-_ME
Trade payables EHES RN - 946 - 946 946
Other payables and HtEAHER
accrued charges EiER - 8,320 - 8,320 8,320
Loans from a shareholder RE— &R R 2 EH - 4,364 - 4,364 4,364
Loans from directors REEZZER - 3,436 - 3,436 3,436
Lease liabilities HEgE 5% 548 - 548 526
Total ok 17,614 - 17,614 17,592
2023 —E-c=E
Trade payables B E SR - 1,419 - 1,419 1,419
Other payables and HtEAHER
accrued charges EER - 10,302 - 10,302 10,302
Lease liabilities HEgk 5% 2,256 376 2,632 2,547
Total ok 13,977 376 14,353 14,268
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-HNF=A=t+—-HILFE

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 38. €I A (&)
(Continued)
c. Fair values c. A¥ERE
i)  Fair value of the Group’s financial ) EBEEMEELLFEMETEZ

assets that are measured at fair rEFEHEEZ L FEE
value on a recurring basis
The level in the fair value hierarchy CHEEEREMEEAZLALE
within which the financial asset BEBRANZEL  NDEREAFE
is categorised in its entirety is BEFTEEFEAEZZREE
based on the lowest level of input g A BB o
that is significant to the fair value
measurement.
The following table illustrates the fair TRAPAEEESRMIE 2 AP
value measurement hierarchy of the BETEER :

Group’s financial instruments:

Significant Relationship of
Fair value unobservable inputs unobservable inputs
Financial assefs Fair value hierarchy Valuation technique(s) to fair value to fair value
AYEEN TIREE\RATER
tREE AVEE ATBERR fHERE EZFTRERN  WEE
2024 2023
ZBIRE CRIZE
HK$'000  HKS'000
ThT T
Listed equity securities 1,940 8,621 Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an active market N/A N/A
classified as financial
assefs af FVTPL
ARRARLTEEHABRR £ & EEMEHECEAE FER TER
ZEREEZ LTREES
Unlisted investments 413 - Level 3 Income approach - in this approach, the 1. Discount 1. The higher the
classified as financial discounted cash flow method was used fo rate: 9% discount rate, the
assets at FVTOCI capture the present value of the expected lower the fair value
future economic benefits fo be derived,
based on an appropriate discount rate 2. Growth rate 2. The higher the
assumed in the growth rate the
expected cash higher the fair
flows: 5% value
FERRATRENAL £3% BEE-ElmER ERAENEAE KRE 1 BRZ:0% 1. ¥RZHE ATE
2ENEZERHEEL RASRSERARENAREEAZNAE [EHE
FLmRE

2 RHRERETN 2 BREHs AVE
BRERE 5% s
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

38.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 38.£@MIT A ()
(Continued)
c. Fair values (Continued) c. AREEGE)
ii) Reconciliation of Level 3 fair i) FEIRAFEETEHEHK

value measurements

Financial assets

At FVTOCI
LAFEERA
Hitb2EIKRE 2
ERMEE
HK$'000
FTExT
At 1 April 2022 and 31 March 2023 R=ZZFE==—FMA—HK
—E_=F=H=+—H -
Acquisition of financial asset WiE € R E E 419
Total gain in other comprehensive  H fth 2 [ Uk 25 7 Y42 UK 2
income 2
Exchange realignment =R (8)
At 31 March 2024 R-B-ZMNF=A=+—H 413
During the years ended 31 March BE-_Z_NFER-BE-=F=
2024 and 2023, there were no B=+—BILEE  WHEE1H
transfers between level 1 and 2, or BEE2R CENER  REIRD
tfransfer into or out of level 3. A REY o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

c. Fair values (Confinued)

ii)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair
value measurements

The fair value of other financial
assets and financial liabilities that
are not measured at fair value on
a recurring basis are determined
in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models based
on discounted cash flow analysis.

The directors consider that the
carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities
recorded at amortised cost in the
consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair value.

Included in other comprehensive
income is an amount of
approximately HK$2,000 gain
related to unlisted investment held
at the end of the reporting period
and is reported as changes of
revaluation reserve.

fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

BE-ZE-_NEF=A=+—-HLEE

38.$@ T A (5)

AFEE(E)
i) EIMAFEEHBHHE

WHREEMLELEU QA FEES
EvHMBEREERERMAEELZ
AFEERRBELAREEEREAR
RYERRSREBD T MEE o

EERANGEUBHRRAN RS
HRAANRZEHEERTHME
B2RAEEREATFEERES -

HitiR & W s 8% — %4 %2,000
BLHWE  ZWRERNERE S
AEENFLETRERE » X1F
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS . FREALXRS
a. Compensation of key a. TEEBAE ZE N
management personnel
The key management of the Group AEBCEIEEBAESBEMEES
comprises all directors, details of their HMEeFBRMETIS(EE-ES
emoluments are disclosed in Note MEeEBmAATFMEZEESHEIE@AASE
15(a). The emoluments of the directors N -ANEERBEBEEBAEED - 1TXH
are decided by the remuneration BMEENEITHRAMEE
committee of the Company having
regard to individual's performance,
the Group’'s performance and
profitability, remuneration benchmark
in the industry and prevailing market
condition.
b. Related party transactions b. BEBEEALXRS
Except as disclosed elsewhere in the BRGEMBERREMIESFIEEE
consolidated financial statements, N oRER NEBEUTERBEE A
the Group enfered into the following TR S :
tfransactions with a related party during
the year:
Related party Nature of tfransaction 2024 2023
FHEEAL REME —E-OFE ZEZ=
HK$°000 HKS$'000
TERT THET
CMEL Royalty income 48 250
Fi A UL A
CMEL Intferest expense on lease liability
(Note i) 22 36
HEEBE2FEMX (MED
CMEL Lease payment (Note i) 660 685
S R (B EED
CMEL Repair and maintenance (Nofe ii) 176 —
HEE T 458 (BT ED)
Note i: Culturecom Limited, one of the Mt NXEEERAT (REEZHEBEAT

subsidiaries of the Group, leased an
office premise from CMEL, an associate
of the Group, with the lease term of two
years.

Notfe ii: Culturecom Limited and Citicomics M =%ii

Limited, subsidiaries of the Company,
paid approximately HK$88,000
respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBEHE RN

40. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY

a.

General information of
subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal
subsidiaries as at 31 March 2024 are as

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

40. KRB 2T EME A F

a MEBRXAz—KREHR

ARNBR-BE-NF=A=+—-H=E
ENBARZHMAENNT

follows:
Proportion of nominal
Place/country of Issued and fully value of issued share capital
incorporation or paid share capital/ indirectly held
Name of subsidiaries registration/operation  registered capifal by the Group Principal activities
iftRugEn/ BRRAREE/ BASEEERRL
hELTER EEuY/ /B3 ifax BEARAEERE  TERE
2024 2023
Sl St
% %
Cticomics Lim Td(Noteu) Hong Kong Ordinary HK$?2 85 85 Publishing ond IPs ficensing
BRUERAR (Wit B EEREL HRRARERRR
Culturecom Centre Limited (Nofe ii Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 100 100 Provision of management services fo group
companies
YREERUERAT (W) Bt HER2ER RUCERHFRENT
Culturecom Enferprises Limifed (Nofe i)~ Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 100 100 Provision of management services fo group
companies
T EEREARAF (W) Bt EEREL RUCERHFRENT
Culturecom Limited (Nofe i Hong Kong Ordinary 100 100 Investment holding and publishing and IPs
HK$283,774,637 licensings
TBRERAR (W) 3 LR85, 7174837 7 REERIRHARARERRE
CulTureoom Investments Limited (Nofe f) ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$?2 100 100 Investment holding and securiies trading
THEEREBRAR (W) B HER2ER REERRESER
CuITurek\dmhop (HK) Limited (Noe ii Hong Kong Ordinary HK$?2 100 100 Troding of wine
YEEERERR(BEARAR (W) B HER2ER EEY
Winway HX. Investments Limited (Note ) Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 100 100 Investment holding and securfies frading
KEERRERRAA (W) Bt EER2ER REERRESER

F3g 2023-2024 XLBEEERRAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

40. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (Confinued)

a. General information of
subsidiaries (Continued)

40. A RBI 2T EMBL R (&)

a MEBRXRzZ—RER(E)

Proportion of nominal
Place/country of Issued and fully value of issued share capital
incorporation or paid share capital/ indirectly held
Name of subsidiaries registration/operation  registered capifal by the Group Principal activities
ERATGER/ BRARARRE/ RAREEEREL
| Pk EE4%/B% ifER BETRATELS  TEER
2024 2023
“E-ME  CECcE
% %
Ucan.com Group Limited (Note fi Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 100 100 Investment holding
(i) Bt EBRI0000%7 REER
THE ONE Comics Publishing Limited (Nofe ) Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1,618,900 5] 51 Publishing and IPs licensing
-BELMERAR (W) s EHR1,616900%7 Rk AREERE
Eomen (Note (i), (v), (vi)) PRC Registered RMB833,000 N/A 5 Digital markefing business
Sa () () (i) I ifERARE TER SBLMAREER
833,007
FEEERMEERL (Beiing Skyvior") PRC Registered 5 5 Digital morkefing busingss
(Nofe i RMB10,000,000
(T4 2%% ) (Wati) I ifERARE SBLMAREES
10,000,0007
Hyperchannel Info (Note (i), (vi)) PRC Registered N/A 55 Digital marketing business
RMB10,000,000
EEEE (L (i), (v) G AMERARH TER SBLMAREER
10,000,0007
X8 (5%8) RELE (BREH (Note i) PRC Registered 100 100 Digital marketing business
(Wfsk(ii)) RMB50,000,000
E AMERARH SBLMAREER
50,000,007
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-HNF=A=t+—-HILFE

40. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 40. X QB 2T EMBE AR ()
COMPANY (Confinued)

a. General information of a MEARZ—RER(E)
subsidiaries (Continued)

Proportion of nominal
Place/country of Issued and fully value of issued share capital
incorporation or paid share capital/ indirectly held
Name of subsidiaries registration/operation  registered capifal by the Group Principal acfivities
GENERTYE BRRAREE/ RASERERRL
hEATER gE4Y/EX iféx BEARAEERH  IERE
2024 2023
“E_ME -E-CE
% %
B (58) BRBRAF (Note (), (i) PRC Registered 100 100 Digital markefing business
GEORO) RMB100,000,000
e iMERARE SRR
100,000,0007
FREMIBEEMERRAT (“Beiing Stor") PRC Registered 80 80 Digital markefing business
(Nofe (ii), (v)) RMB4,993,758
(HRETEIZ ) (ReaE(i) - (v) I AMERARE SBLmARERE
499,787
EMRENBERRAFNote (i), () PRC Registered 100 100 Digital morkefing business
(E3E (i), (i) RMB7,000,000
e ifERARS HELDRRRER
7,000,0007
RECERERNE (58 BRAT PRC Registered 9 100 Notural longuage processing busingss
(Nofe (i), (iv), (vil)) RMB100,000,000
(ki (v), i) Gl EMERARY BAEEREER
100,000,0007

F3g 2023-2024 XLBEEERRAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

40. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 40. X RRZETEMB AT (B)

COMPANY (Confinued)

a. General information of
subsidiaries (Continued)

Notes:

(@) This subsidiary is wholly foreign owned
enterprises established in the PRC.

(i)  These subsidiaries are limited liability
companies incorporated in Hong Kong/
established in the PRC.

(iiiy  This subsidiary is a limited partnership
established in the PRC.

(iv) This subsidiary has been established in the
PRC on 30 September 2022.

(v) On 15 June 2023, the Board resolved to
commence liquidation procedure of two
subsidiaries.

(vi) On 13 April 2023, entire equity interest of
this subsidiary has been disposed to an
independent third party. Further details refer
to Note 36a.

(vii) This subsidiary has been deregistered on
20 March 2024. Further details refer to Note
36b.

(viii) On 4 April 2023, 7% equity interests of
this subsidiary have been disposed to an
independent third party.

(ix) On 12 June 2024, the Board commenced
liquidation procedure of this subsidiary.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt

securitfies outstanding during the year
or at the end of the year.

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023-2024
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(@iv)
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Vi)

(vii)

(viii)
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3
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R B °
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R-ZB-Z=FDTNANA  ZMWELR7%
RECH - EBIE=FHE -

RZB-_MERA+ZH AAFTESE
FBRETZMBATRNEERF -

FEMBARMERFARFLER
THEZEMETES -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

40. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Confinued)

a.

General information of
subsidiaries (Continued)

The directors are of the opinion that
a complete list of the particulars of
all subsidiaries would be of excessive
length and therefore the above list
contains only the subsidiaries which
principally affect the results or assets or
liabilities of the Group.

At the end of the reporting period,
the Company has other subsidiaries
that are not material to the Group. A
majority of these subsidiaries operate
in Hong Kong and British Virgin Islands
("BVI"). The principal activities of these
subsidiaries are summarised as follows:

Principal activities

Principal places of business

fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-_Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

40. R AR ZETEMB AT (B)

a MEBRXRZ-—RER(E)

EERRFIEHMNBAR ZFMAE
HEERBEERTR At EREH
NETBHEAKB2XARNEESE
BzHBLRF -

NBERR  ARARBAFHEAREE
MEBEARZHEMKERR - LLFKH
BRAAXRZHBREBRABELES
(RBELHSDEE - LEWBER
B2 EREBHMMNT :

Number of subsidiaries

FEXK FTEEXME MEXRRA
2024 2023
—E-E —E-=5F
Investment holding BVI, Hong Kong 17 17
REEZER REELEHE BB
Inactive companies BVI, Hong Kong, PRC 7 7

gEEx

RERELZHS B PE

F3g 2023-2024 XLBEEERRAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

40. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 40. X RRZETEMB AT (B)

COMPANY (Confinued)

b. Details of non-wholly owned
subsidiaries that have
material non-controlling
interests

The table below shows details of
non-wholly owned subsidiaries
of the Group that have material
non-conftrolling interests:

Place of

b. BREAFZERERZFZEM
BLRFHE

incorporation Proportion of ownership

TRIIRAEBEFRZEWB D AIHEE
BEARFERESR ZFHF

and principal interests and voting Profit (loss) allocated Accumulated
place of  rights held by non-controlling fo non-controlling non-controlling
Name of subsidiaries business interests interests interests
MR IEER FERREREL AREFERRE,
WEAAER IFERME  RARRERRREZAZ all 1) Rt FERRR
2024 2003 2024 2003 2024 2023
S$oRE CRIzE ZBC@E CRoZf 0 ZRI@E CBIZR
HK§'000 HKS'000 HK§'000 HK$'000
Thn TAn Té1 Térn
Eqmen Yl PRC 45% 3 12 15,260
R
Hyperchannel Info EER4 PRC 45% 3928 (124) (1.974)
R
Individually immaterial EEERRERL
subsidiaries with BEFEANEA
non-confroling inferests (5,108) 1,564
(5,108) 8,850
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBEHE RN

40. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-HNF=A=t+—-HILFE

COMPANY (Confinued)

b.

Details of non-wholly owned
subsidiaries that have BAAFHE(E)
material non-controlling

interests (Continued)

40. A RBI 2T EMBL R ()

b. BREAFZRERZFZEM

Egmen Z&FT
2024 2023
—E-{mE —E=F
HK$'000 HKS'000
TET THET
Current assets mEBEE - 34,042
Current liabilities REBEE - 129

Equity attributable to owners of RABEE AELER

the Company - 18,653
Non-controlling interests of Egmen Z %P9 2 JE1E R g - 15,260

F3g 2023-2024 XLBEEERRAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
maMBEERME
BEZS=MF=AZI ALEE |

40.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 40. X QB2 X EMBE A A ()
COMPANY (Confinued)

b. Details of non-wholly owned b. BEEAFERERZZIFZEM
subsidiaries that have BARFE(E)

material non-controlling
interests (Continued)

Egmen (Continued) BEFI (&)
2024 2023
—E_-_ME —_E_=
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FTERT FET
Revenue ON 131 309
Expenses 2 (50) (282)
Profit for the year FERF 81 27
Profit attributable to owners of the ZX T#EH A (&R
Company 45 15
Profit attributable to the ZEMZHERER
non-controlling interests of FE AL & R
Egmen 36 12
Profit for the year FERH 81 27
Other comprehensive expense RAREE AEGEHA
attributable to owners of the 2HEHBAX
Company (307) (1.329)
Other comprehensive expense SHEMZFEEREREMN
atftributable to non-controlling Htt =M
inferests of Egmen (251) (1.089)
Other comprehensive expense for FEEME2MEEAX
the year (558) (2,418)

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023-2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-HNF=A=t+—-HILFE

40. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 40. X QB 2T EMBE AR ()
COMPANY (Confinued)

b. Details of non-wholly owned b. BEEARFERERZZFZEM
subsidiaries that have BARFE(E)

material non-controlling
interests (Continued)

Egmen (Continued) BEF (&)
2024 2023
—E-E —E=5F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FER FET
Total comprehensive expense AAREEAEMLEZER
attributable to owners of the B %R
Company (262) (1.314)
Total comprehensive expense SEMZEEREREMN
attributable to non-controlling PHAXEE
inferests of Egmen (215) (1.077)
Total comprehensive expense for FEZEB X £ %8
the year 477) (2.391)
Net cash outflow to operating REEBREEZRE
activities T AR 42) (2.174)
Net cash (outflow to) inflow from BEXBELZHRE
financing activities GRE) RAFHE (28.226) 11.739
Net cash (outflow) inflow RBe (Rd) RAFRE (28,268) 9,565
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

40.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 40. X QB2 X EMBE A A ()
COMPANY (Confinued)

b. Details of non-wholly owned b. BEEARFERERZZIFZEM
subsidiaries that have BARFE(E)

material non-controlling
interests (Continued)

Hyperchannel Info (B E %
2024 2023
—E-NE —EBE=F
HK$’000 HK$000
FTERT FET
Current assets MENEE - 473
Current liabilities S IN=R - 18,193
Equity attributable to owners of RABEE AELER
the Company - (9.746)
Non-controlling interests of EEREG 2 FERER
Hyperchannel Info - (7.974)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBEHE RN

40. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (Confinued)

b.

Details of non-wholly owned

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

BE-ZE-NF=A=+—HLFE
40. A AR 2T EMB AR (&)

b. BREAFZRERZFZEM

subsidiaries that have BARFE(E)
material non-controlling
interests (Continued)
Hyperchannel Info (Continued) EERHE(E)
2024 2023
—E_-_ME —E2=-=
HK$'000 HK$000
FTERT FHET
Revenue ON 8,728 486
Expenses B X = (2,095)
Profit (loss) for the year FE A (FHE) 8,728 (1.609)
Profit (loss) attributable to owners ZANAQ T #EHE A E{LER

of the Company (B518) 4,800 (885)
Profit (loss) attributable to the EER&FERER

non-controlling interests of A& F (E518)

Hyperchannel Info 3,928 (724)
Profit (loss) for the year FEF (EE) 8,728 (1.609)
Other comprehensive income KAREE ABEGEHAM

attributable to owners of the e g

Company 7 647
Other comprehensive income EERAS 2 FERER

attributable to non-controlling & 4 L i 2 [ UK &

interest of Hyperchannel Info 6 530
Other comprehensive income for F£EHM2EUEH

the year 13 1,177

Fik 2023-2024 XLBEEEBERLQ A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

40. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (Confinued)

b.

Details of non-wholly owned

40. A RBI 2T EMBL R (&)

b. BREAFZRERZFZEM

subsidiaries that have BARFE(E)
material non-controlling
interests (Continued)
Hyperchannel Info (Continued) EEHZE(E)
2024 2023
—E_ME —ET=HF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT FHET

Total comprehensive income AAREEAEMLEZER

(expense) attributable to owners Uz (Bisz) 458

of the Company 4,807 (238)
Total comprehensive income EEAGEERER

(expense) attributable to A2 HE W ()

non-controlling interests of R

Hyperchannel Info 3,934 (194)
Total comprehensive income FEZEWRE (BAXR)

(expense) for the year HARE] 8,741 (432)
Net cash (outflow to) inflow from KE%(KELZEE

operating activities (R RAFHE (122) 179
Net cash inflow from (outflow to) RBEXKELZRE

financing activities A CR) F58 93 (12,563)
Net cash outflow RERHFE (29) (12,384)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBEHE RN

41.RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the
Group’s liabilities arising from financing
activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing
activities are those for which cash flows
were, or future cash flows will be, classified
in the Group’s consolidated statement of
cash flows as cash flows from financing

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE_ZT_NMF=A=1T—-HLFE

A REXBELERBZHR

TRHALAEEREXBELEB 22T -
BREAERIRSEH BEXBELES
BAREREFIRRREREENAEE
CHRERERERFIEAMEXBRE

REZAE -

activities.
Lease Loans from a Loans from
liabilities shareholder directors Total
RE—F REEE
HEBE BRRZEX ZER M
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER THER THER THERT
At 1 April 2022 R-ZEBEZZHFMA—H 601 - - 601
Financing cash flows MERGRE (2.487) - - (2.487)
Non-cash changes FREEH
Finance costs B ER 125 - - 125
New leases entered HEHEE 4,308 = = 4,308
At 31 March 2023 RZE-=%=A8
Er=E 2,547 - - 2,547
Financing cash flows MERERE (2,342) 4,364 3,436 5,458
Non-cash changes FREEH
Finance costs B & 69 - - 69
New lease entered/lease HEHE
modified KETHE 252 - - 252
At 31 March 2024 R= Iﬂf
E = 526 4,364 3,436 8,326
F3R 2023-2024 XLEEEEERATF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE_T_NF=A=1T—-HLFE

42.EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING

PERIOD

On 28 May 2021, the Company and 4
vendors in the PRC ("Vendors”) entered
info an agreement for potential sales and
purchase of 100% equity interest ("Sale
Capital”) of a company established in
the PRC which is principally engaged
in development and sales of arfificial
intelligence hardware and software.
The Vendors have agreed to sell the
Sale Capital for a total consideration of
approximately HK$63,000,000, which shall
be settled by procuring the Company
tfo issue and allot 191,000,000 shares.
As additional time is required to fulfil
the conditions in the agreement, the
fransaction is not yet completed as at
the date of these consolidated financial
statements. Details of the above fransaction
is set out in the Company’s announcements
dated 2 June 2021, 26 August 2021, 29
October 2021, 29 December 2021, 28
February 2022, 29 April 2022, 27 June 2022,
29 September 2022, 25 November 2022, 30
January 2023, 28 April 2023, 31 July 2023,
28 September 2023, 30 November 2023, 31
January 2024, 28 March 2024 and 31 May
2024 respectively.

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this report,
there are no material subsequent events
took place after 31 March 2024 and up fo
the date of this report.

42 HFEWERSEH

R-ZEZ—FHAZ+NH KAFEF
BHEEL ((EF ) RUEEE —BRF
R 2 AT 2 100%MRAE (TS5 EMRA]) 5T
UthE RAREFEREREREREEAT
BB RBEt BEFEREUNEARED
63,000,000 T HEHERAK  BREA
FEBEMEAR DT 21T R BELE191,000,0008%
Bz ARNEMN BREZEINGEER
WEZGYE BMRAZEFREYKBREREE
ERBEAER BELER G ZFHER
RAQXB BB -_—FxB=H "

—EZ-ENAZ+ARAB ZEBEZ—F+
B=Zt+hB -ZE2=—%+=-A=+hHB"
—E__F-A=-t+NBR-ZE=-=-FMNO
BZt+hB -ZZEZ-Z#XA=-+tH"

—E__FhhARZ-Zt+AhhA-ZETE=-Z

+—B=+ER -ZEZ=F—HA=+A8 "

—E-=FENA=Zt+NR -ZEZ=Ft
A=+—B -ZZE=Z=F#hB=+NH"
—E_=F+—B=tH -ZE-_@OE-—
B=4+—-H8 -ZZE-@mN&E=B=Z+N\HBERK
—E_NMEFREA=t—HZAE

BRAREHEMBDABEEEN  RZF
—HFE=A=t-REAKREEAHRESAHY
WHBLEBRPRER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

43.INFORMATION ABOUT

FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY

a.

Statement of financial position

fReMBEHE RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

BE-ZE-NF=A=+—HLFE

43. FRAA R B M BMRR 2 E

and reserves of the Company

a. AATRMBRRRRFHE

2024 2023
—EB-@mE  —ZT-=fF
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHExT TFET
Non-current asset RBEE
Interests in subsidiaries NG £ 35,870 43,067
Current assets RBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries ARG Bz 8.451 61,993
Other receivables and HittEWRE R B FRIE
prepayments 327 543
Bank balances RITEE 875 2,691
9,653 65,227
Current liabilities REAE
Other payables and accrued H b FE A FRIE & FE T
charges ZH 1,335 1,284
Loans from a shareholder RE—BREZER 4,364 -
Loan from a director RE—RBEBEEZEZER 3,000 -
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEAS B B 2 B FR I8 2,774 =
11,473 1,284
Net current (liabilities) assets B (BE)EEFE (1.820) 63,943
Net assets BEEFE 34,050 107,010
Capital and reserves BEXRFEE
Share capital (Note 33) 7R (B E33) 16,687 16,687
Share premium and reserves IR0 B R 1
(Note 43b) (P 5E430b) 17,363 90,323
Total equity BRER 34,050 107,010

F3R 2023-2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

43.INFORMATION ABOUT A3. ERAA R BRMBRR 2 EHR ()
FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

b. Movement in the Company's b. AATREELS
reserves
Capital
Share  Contribufion  redemption  Accumulafed  Share opfion
premium surplus reserve losses reserves Total
ke B4ER RIBORE ZitEE  BRERR ko

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tén TEn TEn TEn TR TEn

At T April 2022 R-B-Ck&
MA-H 2,064,406 262,143 446 (2.231,318) - 95,677
Loss for the year EEFR = = = (9.107) = (9.107)
Reconciliation of equity seftled  MER&£E MR
share-based payments VESPA] - - - - 3,753 3,753
At 31 March 2023 R-B-Z%
ZAZT-B 2084406 26143 Mo (2240425) 3753 90,323
Loss for the year EERR - - - (72,960) - (72,960)
At 31 March 2024 R-E-mE
=B=1-H 2,064,406 262,143 446 (2,313,385) 3,753 17,363
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MEEE

The consolidated results and assets and
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial
years, as exfracted from the audited financial
statements are as follows:

AEERBEREMNRFEZGEXEREE
REEDRHEEKEELVBERR  HIWOT :

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1T-HLEE

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
—E-EF CZZE--® C-ZE--FE CZE-=F ZZE-NE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TET TER TEr TET
Results ES
Revenue O 153,288 206,605 62,365 30,600 20,158
Loss before tax BBAER (60,634)  (71,042)  (39574)  (38,503)  (20,808)
Income tax expenses FresimXx (ER)
(credit) 155 1,121 369 (152) (121
Loss for the year from REBELEEKZ
continuing operations FEBR (60,479) (69,921) (39,205) (38,655) (20,929)
Loss for the year from RERILREERK
discontinued operations EEEB (3.258) (374) - - -
Loss for the year NNGE ZEPN T
attributable fo owners of FEEE.
the Company:
- From continuing - REFELEER
operations (55121)  (56,889)  (28.943)  (37.223)  (20,782)
- From discontinued - RERELEEL
operations (3.114) (302) = = -
(58,235) (57191 (28.943)  (37.223)  (20,782)
Loss for the year FEREREN
attributable to EEBE:
non-controlling interests:
- From continuing -REGELEEY
operations (5.358) (13,032) (10,262) (1.432) (147)
- From discontinued - RERLREER
operations (144) (72) - - -
(5502)  (13104)  (10,262) (1,432) (147

F3g 2023-2024 XLBEEERRAF
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

MEBRE

As at 31 March

R=ZA=+-AH
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
—E-8F CZEB--F% CZE--E CZE-=F CZE_NE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
TER TEx TER TER TAER
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Property and equipment MER R 993 473 163 89 81
Right-of-use assefs FREEE 1,825 2,260 172 617 273
Deposits B 108 1,333 - 466 488
Inferests in an associate R-EBE DR 2R 1,218 1,195 935 765 222
Goodwill kS 12,126 1,396 - - -
Intangible assets BREE 7,454 5,366 2,057 6,013 5,525
Financial assets at fair value R A EEE AEZ
through profit or loss R EREE 715 1,802 8,032 6,301 226
Financial assets at fair BRAFEERA
value through other Htt2EKEZ
comprehensive income SREE = = = = 413
Deferred tax asset EEHEEE - - - 31 40
Net current assets REEEFE 213,834 160,377 179,547 133,475 101,411
238,273 174,202 190,906 147,757 108,679
Non-current liabilifies ERBAE (2,554) (1,628) 12) (357) -
235,719 172,574 190,894 147,400 108,679
Share capital B 13,907 13,907 16,687 16,687 16,687
Share premium and REE R #E
reserves 206,962 151,383 166,153 121,863 97.100
Equity aftributable to LNEIE 2PN
owners of the Company B 220,869 165,290 182,840 138,550 113,787
Non-controlling interests FERES 14,850 7,284 8,054 8,850 (5,108)
235,719 172,574 190,894 147,400 108,679
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